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HeTFEEHAE  FERE : MEEARK Decorative screens, elegant, artistic and beautifully crafted “repfésen
DEBAMBMER  TEHEBRETBWA T  careful planning, skillful preparation and meticulous “execution. Often,:‘"
R © $ AMEA THEAEEMET :  they are also used to unveil finished products of unmatched distinction:
WIEE B BIET  BLBMOERIFIEL  These screens are analogous to the work we do here in our Company, i
FEt - ITER—#ATENEEK S ° from project inception to execution, our quality products are the result of
strategic planning, innovative design and outstanding implementation.

SE BMEBELMEBNENSG - 845  This year, we draw on these classical works-of-art to share the Company’s )
ZARRRMATR :[JEE&tHﬁdFﬁEEPIWf@ vision with you, as we unveil the different aspects of the “Planning and

BihEZ-- Eﬂﬁﬁt.jﬂ’]%ﬁgéﬁlﬁ B Bk Preparation” that lead to the “Revelation and Resonance” of our work and
HRFEEX the development of our new projects in mainland China.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
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(BRA1R5E - 101) R EREEARA T
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Hang Lung Properties Limited
(stock code: 101) is the property arm of
Hang Lung Group Limited (stock code: 10).

We are a top tier property developer in Hong Kong and
mainland China with a recognized commitment to quality.

We are a truly diversified property development company as
reflected in our varied portfolio of commercial, retail, office,
residential, serviced apartments, industrial/office and car
park properties. Our primary focus is to acquire the best
sites in the cities where we operate and employ only the top
architectural firms to achieve the highest design quality and
develop the best properties.

In both Hong Kong and mainland China, our corporate policy is
to constantly review and, where necessary, upgrade our tenant
mix while regularly refurbishing our existing developments so
as to achieve a maximum return on our investments. We also
emphasize value-added services and incentives, which add to
the appeal and marketability of our properties.

Our long-term vision is to expand in mainland China while
continuing to invest in our home market of Hong Kong, with
the aim of becoming a property developer of the highest
quality in both markets.
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FLOURISHING WITH HONG KONG
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(EL B FBEMEEERZ — > Building on numerous years of experience in property
FAY LA Z 4F [ b 7 35 R 4K @’?/fﬂfj development as well as an unwavering commitment to
B 1Y EX o B AL ] quality, we continue to flourish with Hong Kong as one

TER B4 o of the city's leading property developers.
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SEAMLESS INTEGRATION
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Our seamless integration into property development
in mainland China began in the early 1990s with
our move into two large scale and highly successful
developments - - Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway - -
in Shanghai. Building on this success, we are
expanding our footprint with a number of similar
developments in major cities in mainland China.
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REAPING THE REWARDS
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JREB KA AT AT E  Looking forward, we will continue to reap the rewards
IRAEM AR AW > BRE from our uncompromising commitment to acquire the
JEAT AL & AT » B#IE4EEL  best sites and develop the best properties in the cities

WE T LA = ML R - gt > where we operate. Success however is only sustainable

TR o] A8 R ARG IRIR  if we are socially responsible. To this end, we apply

15 - G 7 T G EB MR 2 sustainable building practices as well as green and

FEREEH B B R - environmentally-friendly operations. We also do
our utmost to make a valuable contribution to the

communities that we serve.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results
LB BB E in HK$ million 2009 2008
EERE Turnover
YERE Property leasing
B Hong Kong 2,474 2,290
AR A Mainland China 1,688 1,455
L EX kS Property sales 1 6,335
EERATT Total turnover 4,173 10,080
BR SR PEA G Al R Net profit attributable to shareholders 4,130 13,159
BRE Dividends 2,736 2,736
sREH Per share data
7 Earnings $1.00 $3.18
il Dividends
h Hf Interim $0.15 $0.15
NEA Final $0.51 $0.51
4=t Total $0.66 $0.66
BEFE Net assets $17.2 $16.6
RERE R Shareholders’ equity 68,038 66,377
TRE L= Pay-out ratio 66% 21%
£ R Gearing ratio "’ N/A N/A

Underlying Results

LB B & TRt in HK$ million 2009 2008
BRERPE (R EL A R 2 Underlying net profit attributable to

- shareholders N2 2,388 5,123
SREFR M Earnings per share N3 $0.58 $1.24
R b 1S Pay-out ratio "o 14% 53%

B 5E Notes:

1. BEXRAFEEEREMFERZ LR - FEHBEER 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank loans,
TER  FERRKBEMRLESE - MBRIBE RIRT floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks. Equity
TR o IRIER BRI R i s R DB i 2 o comprises shareholders’ equity and minority interests.

2. BINBEANEELSELENER SHERNEER 2. To facilitate better understanding of the Group's operational results, the underlying net
B RAENET ST ERF 405G EMEIZ T profit attributable to shareholders are presented by excluding the effect of adopting Hong
2 ZEARTIREMEATFEZ EE LB ET Kong Accounting Standard 40, Investment Property which requires changes in fair value
IEREERP AR of investment properties and their related deferred tax be accounted for in the income

statement.

3. BEEENIBEREEGEARGTEE - 3. The relevant calculations are based on the underlying net profit attributable to shareholders.

12 BEBESRAR TN\ TAFEER



HEWARFEERES LB Sustainable Rental Income and Profit Growth

HEEXE HERF BRERE
Rental Turnover Rental Profit Total Dividends per Share
HERNA=ZTHLEFE HESA=ZTHLESFE HESA=ZTHLEFE
For the years ended 30 June For the years ended 30 June For the years ended 30 June
BEEET BEEET Al
HK$ million HK$ million HK cents
é7 WAFRER $4,162 é7 wAFRER é7 66 conte
as00f| | BRZTH million | 4000 | BAZTE $3,441 70 i
Compound ° Compound million
4,000 annual growth 3,500 annual growth of 60 A
of 16% 40% 17%
3,500 3,000 4 i y W4
4
3,000 — 2500
2,500 40
2,000
2,000 30% 30
1,500 1:500
1000 25% | 1,000 20
500 10
= || 20% e LWl Wal Wal Wl
0 0 0
05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09

) &8 E Hong Kong leasing
fi) /8 E Shanghai leasing
- DEEEHHEEEREANL
% of Shanghai leasing of total leasing turnover

EHiEE #E¥EER Financial Strengths — Standing Up to Challenging Times

(£ sz MiaE1 - 3z fi &
RERER aER"E RAILRI L g
Cash and Borrowings Gearing Ratio "’ Interest Cover"**®
WRNA=+8 WARA=+A HEAA=TALEE
At 30 June At 30 June For the years ended 30 June
BEBET ERagid &
HK$ million % times
12,000 10 140
$8,931
million
10,000 g 120
560 $6,161 100
million 6 80
6,000
' 47
4 €0 times
4,000 20
2
2,000 20
0%
: : e ’ a)
05 06 07 08 05 06 07 08 09 05 06 07 08 09
& Be RIBITFER
Cash and bank deposits
wEE
Borrowings
Fff3E Notes:
1. BEEFEIAEREINFEIAY LR < FEEHRRITE 1. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents bank
o FBRBREB AR - MRRE RIRTEH - loans, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with
AR BN B SE AR R A e e D BUR R E A © banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and minority interests.
2. BREASEBIERF ARAMX 2 AFELBIAB 2. Interest cover represents operating profit before changes in fair value of investment
AR & ZE R FBR AR S E AN AT FEF B © properties and interest income divided by net interest expenses before interest

capitalization.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 13
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Results and Dividend

Turnover decreased 59% to HK$4,173 million for the year ended 30
June 2009 while net profit attributable to shareholders fell by 69%
to HK$4,130 million. Earnings per share was HK$1.00, down 69%
from a year ago.

\When excluding revaluation gain and related deferred taxes and
minority interests, the underlying net profit retreated by 53% from
HK$5,123 million to HK$2,388 million. Underlying earnings per share
fell by the same percentage to HK58 cents.

The Board recommends a final dividend of HK51 cents per share
which is the same as last year. If approved by shareholders, total
dividends for the full year will be the same as last year at HK66
cents per share.

Business Review

\We have just experienced an amazing twelve months. The global
economy and hence the Chinese one were teetering at the
beginning of the fiscal year and fell precipitously in the closing
months of 2008. Only in the second quarter of 2009 were there
signs of stabilization. Most people believe that it will take many
quarters if not years to fully recover. This is doubtless the worst
downturn since the Great Depression of 1929.

The residential market on the Mainland started to drop in early 2008.
Due to overleveraging and excess commitments to expensive land,
many local developers were by fall at the brink of insolvency.
Technically speaking, | believe that many were bankrupt. Bank credit
totally dried up and the market was dead. The government relaxed
many regulations relating to our industry, and in December 2008
began to pump huge amounts of money into the economy. By one
count, on average RMB1.2 trillion per month were injected in the
ensuing six months. As expected, some of that money found its way
into the real estate market in the form of loans to developers and
mortgages to buyers. By March, both prices and transaction volume
went up and Mainland developers were once again alive and well.

At the beginning of this year when Beijing targeted ten industries for
revival, real estate was not on the list. It was unnecessary, for
enough had already been quietly done. Excluding the industry also
avoided the negative societal impression that the government was

EEBEERAT —TTNTAFFR



Ronnie C. Chan Chairman
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helping developers. But as | had then said, what the government
should have bailed out was the real estate market and not real
estate developers who had unwisely brought their companies to
technical bankruptcy. Otherwise we face a moral hazard - -
developers have a one-sided bet in their favor. Namely, if the
business wins, they benefit; if the company goes bust, there are no
consequences to them. This is not unlike the asymmetric reward
system of many international investment funds which contributes
to the recent global economic ills. It encourages reckless expansion
when the market is favorable.

Sure enough, as soon as the residential market recovered in the
second quarter, developers once again rushed in to buy land. In city
after city, price shattering transactions took place in the past few
months. So only half a year from the brink of insolvency, the same
people are now once again bidding up prices. All along, the
underlying economy is not strong.

Moral issues aside, the past year has also shown us something
which we should have recognized. In the past | have written that the
government will try to put a cap on home prices which is one reason
for our not engaging in that sector. For the same reason, namely to
maintain social stability, Beijing will also provide a floor. That is good
news for both home-owners and developers. But for reasons that |
have enunciated in previous years such as competitive landscape and
tax rate differential, your Company still prefers commercial properties
for rental. To us, the risk-reward ratio is better.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 15
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The Hong Kong residential market went through a similar V-shaped
progression. As we moved from the third quarter of 2008 to the
fourth, both price and volume turned from weak to dead. Mortgage
lending by banks became tight, and prices fell by 22% in the last six
months of the year. But beginning this March, bank attitudes changed
and prices rose some 20% by the end of last month. That the supply
of new units in the coming few years will be tight is, | believe, more
an explanation after the fact than the cause. At least on one count,
the recovery here is even more amazing than that on the Mainland - -
there second quarter economic figures turned positive while Hong
Kong still recorded negative growth.

Set against this background, we again struck out and bought
excellent commercial land on the Mainland. This is in accordance
with my prediction a year ago. Towards the end of 2008, attitudes of
municipal leaders began to change; the seller's market was turned
in favor of buyers, if they could be found. We were one of the very
few, if not the only! In May this year, two plots - - one each in Dalian
and Wukxi - - for which we had been negotiating for some time, were
purchased within one week of each other. Many of the terms on
which we had long insisted and which the city had always resisted
were granted. The prices were also acceptable.

The land in Dalian measures 6.3 hectares and we will construct a
shopping center of over 220,000 square meters. It will be the
biggest that we have ever done, and is at a location which is highly
visible. Land cost was about RMB1,236 million.

Measuring 1.7 hectares, the plot in VWuxi can be considered as an
add-on to our existing piece which is just across the street. Costing
approximately RMB415 million, we can erect 113,000 square
meters on it. The total buildable area for the two lots together will be
over 376,000 square meters. The uniqueness of the latest purchase
is that we have considerable flexibility in terms of when and what to
construct - - from shops, offices and hotels to serviced apartments.
With less pressure to commence work, we will have time to
complete our first phase which is now under construction.

To remind shareholders, we bought five sites in 2005 and 2006 but
nothing in the two plus years of 2007 and 2008 until this May. For
the first half of this stretch of almost two and a half years, land
prices in many major Chinese cities went through the roof. While

EEBEERAT —TTNTAFFR
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lots of developers from both Hong Kong and the Mainland rushed
in to buy, we stayed out of the game. Then when the market
began to cool last summer, we ramped up negotiations that
consummated the two acquisitions two months ago. As | have
previously reported, many municipal governments rely heavily on
the sales of land for their annual budget. Months if not a year of no
transaction must be painful. VWWe came in at that juncture and
picked up choice pieces. Since property prices in a good number
of second tier cities have yet to move up, | am hopeful that we will
close one or two more good deals in the months ahead.

Our purchase of the land in Tianjin in January 2005 officially
launched Phase 2 of our Mainland investments which are primarily
outside of Shanghai. The idea is to invest HK$40 billion and build
18 commercial projects in seven or eight cities. As always, each
project is defined as requiring HK$2-2.5 billion. Our immediate
target was to buy land for all of them by the end of 2009. Since we
are very close to achieving that, and since the five year land-
acquisition period will soon conclude, this is an opportune time to
present to shareholders a progress report.

With all but the two latest lots now under construction, we have a
better idea of the design and hence the exact size of each project
as well as construction costs. The practice on the Mainland is that
the basement is not counted in the buildable area when calculating
land cost. Consequently, certain figures circulating around such as
total buildable space and unit construction costs may have been
confusing.

Another consideration is currency movements. Since the
beginning of 2005 when we bought our first plot of land outside
Shanghai, renminbi has appreciated against the Hong Kong dollar
by approximately 21%. So whereas renminbi denominated rentals
from Shanghai boost our profit in Hong Kong dollar terms, the
purchasing power of our home currency has also deteriorated on
the Mainland. So our goal to invest HK$40 billion now only
translates to approximately RMB35 billion.

Taking all these into consideration, to completely build out our
seven sites will cost a total of approximately RMB33.6 billion or
HK$38.3 billion at today's exchange rate. That is very close to the
targeted amount of HK$40 billion. In terms of the number of

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 17
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projects as previously defined (i.e. on average each one costing
HK$2.25 billion), we have bought land for 17 of the 18 planned. It
is possible that one or two more plots will be added in the coming
twelve months. But irrespective, management has basically met
the target.

Using today's proforma numbers, it is interesting to contrast the
two Shanghai complexes with the seven new sites elsewhere,
namely, one each in Tianjin, Jinan and Dalian, and two each in
Shenyang and Wuxi. Land as a percentage of total project cost is
far lower in the recent acquisitions. Average land cost per unit
buildable area is likewise much cheaper. These facts may surprise
many and speak of management’s ability to buy wisely, usually in
the absence of competition. WWe enter markets before others; we
stay out when the sentiment is hot; and we quietly swoop in when
everyone is gone. We are also confident that the quality of plots
purchased is second to none. By that | mean their location, size,
shape as well as - - and very importantly - - building regulations
specific to each, are all near optimal. In fact, more than one
competitor after systematically examining our portfolio have
recognized its unparalleled worth. Such a feat can only be
accomplished through a combination of discipline and agility.

Construction cost however will be more expensive than in the past
in Shanghai. World commodity prices have risen over the past 10-
15 years. The same is true for labor cost in China. Nevertheless, on
balance | expect all-in unit cost for the new developments to be
only marginally higher than our two existing facilities. This should
be quite acceptable since the latter started construction almost
fifteen years ago. In the interim, rental has gone up manyfold. Al
these should bode well for our future.

Back to the fiscal year under review: given unfavorable market
conditions for much of the period, we did not sell many completed
apartments in Hong Kong. That is the only reason for the drop in
revenue and profit. All other sectors of our business have
performed acceptably, although severe global economic difficulties
have slowed rental growth somewhat.

Hong Kong rents held up fairly well. In Shanghai, those from

shopping centers and offices recorded double digits growth of
18% and 13% respectively. Sales rent for the two malls fell but
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was well compensated by positive rent renewals to produce the
near 20% increase mentioned above. The two office towers at
Plaza 66 came under some pressure in the second half of the
fiscal year.

Strategic Initiatives

Let me begin with a sobering fact. A 19% increase in lettable
space notwithstanding, total rent received in Hong Kong by the
Group is only now, after twelve long years, approaching the peak
level of 1997 That spoke of the severity of the Asian Financial Crisis
which began in July 1997 and lasted some five years. Fortunately,
we had started to invest in Shanghai before the crisis hit, and
beginning in 2000 saw a steady and frankly rather dramatic rise in
rents therefrom.

Public documents showed that the stagnation experienced in our
home market was common to other local property owners.
Imagine if we had not entered the mainland market and scored a
success, our share price would have languished. That was
precisely the case with some of our competitors. Certain firms
with market capitalization almost exactly the same as ours back in
1997 are now a fraction that of ours. Some of them were absent
on the Mainland; others did not play that market well.

History is always instructive for the future. If one were to look back
at the Hong Kong real estate industry of the past forty some years,
it would have quickly become clear that until the mid 1990's, anyone
who stuck exclusively with the local market and did a decent job
would have made money - - most likely a lot of money. And the
company which did the best became king. Conversely, anyone who
ventured overseas or into other businesses would more likely than
not have performed less well. Exceptions were few and far
between.

But as the Hong Kong property market, and indeed our entire
economy, gradually matured, and as mainland China began to roar
ahead, the industry landscape changed. The market in our
Motherland is far bigger and grows at a much faster pace. Anyone
who neglects it or does not get it right will be left behind. We are
fortunate to have successfully established ourselves there since
the early 1990's. Now almost everyone is frenziedly struggling to
get in and to learn. We definitely have an edge over most if not all.
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(Here it will be useful to dispel a market misconception. Many
investors thought that Hang Lung entered the Mainland market
early and so bought land inexpensively. The fact was that many
went in before us. It is just that they have perhaps not performed
as well. In fact, the land we purchased in Shanghai in 1992 and
1993 was very costly. The market soon fell and it took almost a
decade for prices to recover to the level we paid. On a unit cost
basis, the land under Plaza 66 is still higher than any that we have
bought since that time. Our subsequent success was in spite of
the land cost we paid and not because of it. VWe made money the
hard way - - by conscientiously and systematically applying
knowledge and skill to create value through superior project design
and property management. Experiences gained this way are
applicable to future developments.)

To do the correct thing on the Mainland is more easily said than
done, for that huge market is very different from that of Hong
Kong. There is no guarantee whatsoever that one who is
successful here will be successful there. In fact one can rightfully
query if most Hong Kong developers are making a reasonable
return on the Mainland given the risks undertaken and the amount
of capital employed. Yet try they must, for the king of tomorrow is
the one who gets that market right.

Continuing to win in Hong Kong will not be easy because there are
a dozen or so well capitalized companies all experienced in the
local market. But even if one makes a success here, its magnitude
cannot be compared to the winners on the Mainland. Just
consider the following: for the past few years, there were probably
half a dozen Mainland companies, each of which annually
produced more residential units than the entire new stock in Hong
Kong for the same period. So far there is a distinct differential in
unit price but its movement is clearly in favor of the Mainland.
Annual sales of such Chinese companies both in terms of
transaction volume and dollar amount are staggering. Already few
Hong Kong developers can match their profits. In time, only the
largest of our players can be in their league.

In the last interim report to shareholders, | reviewed briefly my
chairmanship of the past eighteen years. Here | would like to
develop that thought further. It should shed light on our present as
well as the future. The last eighteen years together with the next
few can more of less be divided into three phases of seven

years each.
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When | took over the chairmanship in January 1991, Hang Lung
unlike many major competitors did not have any cheap land bank
such as in the form of Letter B or Land Exchange Entitlements. So in
the first seven years, we had to do two things right, and fortunately
we did. First, buy land judiciously as we could not afford to make
mistakes. There was no cheap inventory to average up prices.
Secondly, we had to somehow prepare ourselves for the big break if
and when it came. This | call the “Preparatory Phase.”

Luckily the golden opportunity arrived in July 1997 in the
unexpected guise of the Asian Financial Crisis. Again different
from our competitors, we were not saddled by expensive land
and so conserved cash. Equally significant were our capital
market exercises in the previous year which gave us some
HK$5 billion in the banks at the beginning of the crisis. Those
were the days when cash was king, and king we were! \We
waited for another twenty-one months and then struck out - -
we bought the best land at the cheapest price in the absence of
any credible competitor. Those projects yielded - - and are
continuing to yield - - tremendous profits and cash flow.

In the latter part of this period, our foray into the mainland market
began to bear fruit. With the two developments in Shanghai, we
laid the foundation for a national rollout of commercial complexes.
The money made in Hong Kong will ensure their funding with
limited debt. This period | consider the “Catch Up Phase” which
lasted also seven years and ended with the plan to go nationwide
in 2004.

During much of this time, international investors paid little attention
to us. All the adroit actions that prepared us best for the Asian
Financial Crisis apparently went unnoticed. Successes in Shanghai
that were beginning to manifest themselves were not yet
convincing enough. The differential in market capitalization between
us and our bigger competitors was the widest towards the end of
1999 and at the beginning of 2000. But by 2004 or the last year of
this phase, institutional investors began to recognize our many
achievements. The gap began to narrow and gone were the days of
obscurity.

We are now in the third period of another seven years which can
be termed the “Take Off Phase.” | expect it to end around 2011 as
the first two new commercial complexes begin to be leased up.
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During this time we will have finished buying the land, cleared the
sites, and started construction for all eighteen “projects” in seven
locations. Anticipated initial successes should soon manifest
themselves. Apparently the international investment community
has endorsed our strategy - - in the past two to three years, our
market capitalization has overtaken several previously larger
competitors. Later | will discuss what is required to solidify

this lead.

For now, one may rightly wonder: what will be next? | believe that
the 2010's may well be a golden era for us. Beginning next year, we
will have at least one project reaching the market annually. Because
of size, some of them will be phased. This means that for the
coming decade and more, steady growth in income is all but
assured. This highly desirable and almost unique stream of rising
rental revenue is the culmination of some twenty years of hard
work. It will not be easy to find a parallel in any industry. As long as
China’s economy is not seriously derailed which possibility obviously
exists, Hang Lung should do very well indeed. All along, we will
continue to seek further land acquisitions to enrich our portfolio.

But for now, optimism must be backed by solid actions. For almost
two decades, our operation at all levels was marked by thorough
considerations and deliberate execution. Adhering to such will
strengthen our leadership position in the industry for years to
come. Let me explain.

[t has been management's long-held belief and practice to make
every invested dollar work the hardest for us. The objective is to
have one of the highest sustainable returns to shareholders. Here |
emphasize the word “sustainable” as much as | do “highest”
Strategy - - perhaps a rare word for real estate developers in this
part of the world - - must serve this goal. | firmly believe that ours
is one which can deliver.

On the operational level, we also do not lose sight of this aim.
Every contemplated project is measured against all alternatives so
as to achieve this. Decisions at all levels must be guided by it.
When we do all things right, then the sum total should be one of
the highest sustainable returns to shareholders. | will first use
three measures relating to the Mainland rental market to illustrate.
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First, in terms of annual return on invested capital, our two Shanghai
properties are receiving approximately 27% on an unleveraged basis
since the Company is basically debt free. Given reasonable gearing,
the number should be in the 40% range. Since this is accomplished
through long term rental income alone, such returns are not only
“high” but also “sustainable” | do not believe that so far any of our
Hong Kong (or for that matter, Mainland) competitors has a sustained
return that comes close to this. Anyone getting half as much would
be considered highly satisfactory by the market. Moreover, our annual
growth in investment return since the opening of the Shanghai
facilities has consistently been double digits. VWWe work our capital
harder than anyone.

Secondly, from available public information, one can easily
determine that our average rent per square meter is by far the
highest in the industry. If our numbers are correct, then the best
firm other than ourselves gets less than half of ours. \We receive at
least two to three times higher unit rent than all other competitors.
In other words, we work each square meter of space we own at
least two to three times harder than any competitor. This is not
merely superiority in property management; it begins with discipline
in location selection and excellence in site planning and building
design. It is tough work but very rewarding!

Thirdly, among all Hong Kong public companies, our rental margin is
by far the best - - we achieve between 15% and 45% higher than
anyone who cares to publish such figures. We accomplished this by
having the second largest portfolio square meter wise and by far the
biggest rental turnover and hence profit. This means that we also
work each dollar of rent received the hardest.

With the goal to maximizing sustainable return to shareholders, and
by making every invested dollar, every square meter owned, and
every rental dollar work the hardest for us, we are well on our way
to becoming China’s premier developer, owner and manager of
world class commercial properties. Perhaps we are already there.

Excellence is by no means limited to our Mainland team; our Hong
Kong colleagues are likewise outstanding. Our Hong Kong rental
margin and average unit rent approach the highest in the industry.
This is achieved against considerable odds. For historic reasons, our
rental portfolio is the most diverse and complex among local
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companies. Much of the properties are located in older and disparate
locations. The average age of our facilities is also higher than most,
for we have been in the business longer than most.

Our property development team in Hong Kong is equally
distinguished. It is doubtful if any company could match our profit
margin in the past fifteen years. We consistently buy land rightly and
sell completed products rightly - - more so than perhaps anyone.

Finally, our turnover and profit per employee consistently rank at the
top of all Hong Kong real estate counters. The distance between us
and the next player is usually very wide. For example, last year our
turnover per employee was three times that of the second placed.
Our staff are hardworking but that has limits. Perhaps they just work
smarter than others.

Prospects

Now that we have basically completed land acquisitions for this
phase of investments on the Mainland, attention will increasingly
turn to building out the seven sites. Except the two newly acquired
in Dalian and Wuxi, the other five are all under construction. \We have
over the past five years built teams of project managers who are
mostly architects. Our Shanghai colleagues have led the effort to
train up leasing and finance staff in each of the new cities. Our
management structure has metamorphosed considerably.

The first property to reach the market will be Palace 66 on Zhongjie
Lu in Shenyang in 2010. (The mall is very close to the old Qing
Dynasty Palace, hence the name.) It will be followed the next year
by the design award winning shopping center Parc 66 in Jinan. (It
abuts the huge municipal square or “park” in the middle of
downtown.) 2012 will see the completion of the shopping facility at
Forum 66 on Qingnian Da Jie in Shenyang. (Our site borders the
central city piazza or “Forum”, if you will.) 2013 may prove particularly
busy with three developments opening - - the first office tower at
Forum 66, the shopping center at Centre 66 in Wuxi (our first lot is in
the dead “center” of that city right next to the corner where the two
major thoroughfares meet), as well as Riverside 66, another design
award winning mall, in Tianjin (not far from the river Hai He which
courses through downtown). The first office building of Centre 66
should be ready by 2014. The following year, the huge mall Olympia
66 in Dalian (next to the municipal Olympic Park) will likely open.
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Depending on market conditions, the remaining portions of Forum
66 and of Centre 66 should become available in 2016 and beyond.

This schedule makes clear that even without further new projects
(which assumption is obviously unrealistic), each year we will on
average add close to two hundred thousand square meters of new
world class commercial space to our rental portfolio for the next
decade and beyond. Barring unforeseen circumstances, the additional
annual recurrent income therefrom can only be described as powerful.

Leasing of Palace 66 is well on its way. Roughly 40% of the space
are already accounted for. We expect at least 80% full when it opens
in the second quarter of next year. Initial yield should be around 5-
6% which is in line with expectation.

In a sense, leasing started years ago. Before we searched for land in
a particular city, we were already in discussion with many of our
tenants in Shanghai. Some brands which we deem long term
partners in various cities have long expressed interest in principle in
our new shopping centers. In fact we repeatedly consult with them
during the developmental process. This way we have the best
chance of building what retailers want and of maximizing rental
income to us thereafter.

Earlier this month, a report was released on luxury goods markets
on the Mainland. It was authored by Ruder Finn Asia, one of the
world's leading public relations firms, and Albatross Global Solutions,
a reputable market research company. Surveys were conducted in
April and May of this year in twenty cities plus Hong Kong. Results
were very encouraging to us for both the short and the long terms.
In the former, mainland consumers are far more optimistic, i.e. more
willing to continue consuming, than those in Hong Kong. Our home
city is intricately integrated with the rest of the world and so is more
affected by global economic woes. In the latter, Shanghai is said to
be “the luxury center on the Mainland.”

Far more interesting to us however is the conclusion regarding
second tier cities versus first tier ones. The latter are defined as
Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou; the cities in which we are building
all fit into the former.
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The report concludes “that the difference in luxury goods’
purchasing pattern between China’s first and second tier cities was
marginal.” It says that second tier cities “have witnessed a rapid
development trend in luxury goods since 2007" and “are anticipated
to be key to their (fashion brands’) long term and sustained
success” Our own research in the past have borne out the same,
but it is gratifying to learn of reputable third party confirmation. Our
decision to build in those cities is both correct and timely.

When an economy is taking off from a very low base, relatively fast
growth can last for decades. | believe that it is the case with China.
The first to benefit are top tier cities such as Guangzhou, Shenzhen,
Shanghai and Beijing. These, especially the last two, will always be
the best commercial megalopolises in the country.

However, for economic reasons (such as manufacturers seeking
cheaper land and salary) or political ones (like the government'’s need
to narrow wealth differentials between regions for the sake of social
harmony and national cohesion), sooner rather than later other
municipalities, especially provincial capitals, will begin to catch up.
Many such metropolises, each having a population of 6 million or
more, are at present perhaps eight to ten years behind Beijing and
Shanghai in terms of development. These will provide the impetus
for continued economic increase, including consumer spending, for
decades to come. Even if first tier cities become saturated in terms
of consumption, these will take the baton for further national growth
and development. All of our new locations will no doubt benefit
from this trend.

Moreover, China is undergoing the greatest urbanization that
mankind has ever seen. Each year, close to 20 million farmers move
into the cities looking for jobs and a better living. Annually there are
about 6 million university graduates, many coming originally from
the countryside and are no longer willing to return home, the
government'’s urging and incentivizing notwithstanding. These
powerful forces will ensure the continued growth of major cities
everywhere in the country.

On top of that, the national policy of food security dictates the
maintenance of 1.8 billion Chinese acres (or approximately 120
million hectares, each Chinese acre equaling approximately 666
square meters) of farmland. This ensures that cities will have to
grow vertically like Hong Kong and Tokyo. High population density
becomes inevitable and is highly beneficial to our centrally located
commercial complexes.
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Experiences of the past twenty some years indicate that after a
migrant settles in a city for ten to fifteen years, he or she will likely
enter the ranks of the middle class. Such “outsiders” are usually
more motivated to work hard and succeed, and so are upwardly
mobile. They will become the new blood to shop in our malls and
to work in our offices. All these are reasons why | believe that our
many new developments in the so-called second tier cities will
have excellent prospects.

Besides focusing on building out existing developments, we will
continue to search for new sites. Our gearing will still be
comfortable after taking into consideration construction expenses
and selling down completed apartments in Hong Kong. Given
strong residential market in recent months, there is a good chance
that we will relaunch our sales campaign before the year is over.

We expect Hong Kong rental this fiscal year to be similar to that of
the last, namely growing at single digit. Shanghai may for the first
time experience the same. Since we opened the two facilities
almost ten years ago, annual increase in rental income, until this
year, has been upward of 20% with the exception of 2005 which
was 19%. Even excluding the addition of new space, growth has
been solidly in the double digits. The market has been favorable all
along. Now for the first time, China, especially Shanghai, is
undergoing slower growth. However, | believe that the
phenomenon may be a temporary one. The market should recover
in a year or two.

The critical determinant of the level of income is our ability to sell
Hong Kong flats. If successful, profit should be considerably better
than last year. If not, then we will again rely on rental income
alone. In that eventuality, we should still record profit growth but it
will be modest.

Ronnie C. Chan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Rental Revenue
HZENA=THLSEE For the years ended 30 June

Overview

Despite the financial turbulence and tight money market experienced
at the end of 2008 and the early part of 2009, our property leasing
activities in Hong Kong and Shanghai were relatively unaffected.

As such, the leasing turnover for 2008/09 grew 11% to HK$4,162.2
million. Total turnover however decreased 59% to HK$4,172.6 million
during the year as we adhered to our strategy to release our remaining
properties at the best possible time to maximize development
margins. Property sales turnover during the year was therefore
negligible. Net profit attributable to shareholders for the year ended
30 June 2009 amounted to HK$4,130.3 million, with profits from
property leasing rising by 13% to HK$3,441.3 million. Of this figure,
our Shanghai properties contributed HK$1,424.2 million, representing
growth of 19% against the previous year.

5B/ LBHESRAL M
Hong Kong/Shanghai Rental Income Split
HZE/NA=THLEE For the years ended 30 June
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Commercial and
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Rental income from Shanghai now accounts for approximately 41%
of the Group'’s total rental turnover. The percentage of rental income
from mainland China will grow in the next few years as projects being
developed in China come on stream.

Back in 2003, building on the success of our two commercial
complexes in Shanghai, we put our strategy for expansion in mainland
China in place, seeking to replicate our achievements throughout the
country. Accordingly, with a total planned investment budget of around
HK$40 billion, we began building a portfolio of top quality investment
properties in prime locations in major cities in mainland China. Today,
a number of prime sites have been acquired at central locations in
Tianjin, Shenyang, Wuxi, Jinan and Dalian for the construction of
world-class commercial complexes.

REMHEZHME D
Investment Properties by
Geographical Location

RZZZNFRNA=1H At 30 June 2009
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Work is proceeding on schedule for all these projects. The first of
these, Palace 66, located at the heart of Shenyang City near the
Imperial Palace, is expected to be completed some time in the next
financial year. Others in the pipeline are Parc 66 in Jinan, Forum 66 in
Shenyang, Riverside 66 inTianjin, Centre 66 in Wuxi and Olympia 66
in Dalian.

In May this year, we acquired a prime piece of land of 63,400 square
meters at Wusi Lu in Dalian City, one of the most popular cities in
Liaoning Province. With total investment for the project budgeted

at approximately HK$5 billion, our aim is to develop a world-class
shopping center, Olympia 66, of around 222,000 square meters.

Within the same month, Centre 66 in VWuxi received a further boost,
when an adjoining site of 16,767 square meters was acquired

to the south of the existing lot, not only providing an additional
113,000 square meters of gross floor area but also cementing the
development's status as the city's largest and most well-known
shopping landmark. Phase one of Centre 66 has already commenced
construction last year, with its ground-breaking ceremony taking place
in November 2008.

Building on the success of Plaza 66 in Shanghai, which has become
a household name for the world’s leading consumer brands and high
end luxury products across mainland China, we have named all our
new project developments in the mainland under this prestigious
“66" brand.

EEBEERAT —TTNTAFFR



=3
BEEKLERORIENEXN BB BN
BRI RENTISRA  SEER#
BEREEHPEAMBRS - HE
EHMAEZ LHEEKR - BIRLIA
BREREE 2 — 800 - BRIARK - HAFIH
BEEDETIERT 2 OMRIE - HE
BAXLBEMRIEE—PEER -

BENE  BRARF-—EBR IR
RERBEER METYE  UESK
ROMEHRBEFE - R - GED
SRREANAEE  ERREBREAET
BIEMAkESNEEAEZEE  TH
EHHEFPHEA MHABRHERK - LEH
RYERLETEHNE  BEPHERE
URHRBE Bt RAIEEEEZE
BYEHEXHARBEBIER - PE
NEBZASEREE - LB 2R
BHEBEE SEEEM I MERE
EBEAEEZERARE - AR - L
REG 2 EWERESHENR _T—F
FHRZE BERERETEAMYEEE
B2 WAL EHFERR -

REAR SEEBRFENEEE
o SER_TTNFARNARZRE R
RITEFFREEBE N+ NE=T BN+
T BIEBERIRBE Rt BT
B=1T8r ULHEAEBEE-—BLtT &
TZABRARTAREE  THEEHM
AZERB NP EARARS DK
BEWe -

Outlook

Building on our tried and tested strategies that have been so
successful in establishing our strong market positions both in Hong
Kong and Shanghai, we will continue to forge ahead with our plans for
expansion in mainland China. The successful land acquisitions in VWuxi
and Dalian are part of this established strategy. Moving forward, we
will continue to selectively buy large and quality sites, located at the
heart of major Chinese cities for further development.

In Hong Kong, we maintain our policy to optimize our property
development margins, making every effort to ensure that our remaining
residential properties will be released for sale at the most opportune
time. With our coommitment to constantly upgrade the quality of our
retail and commercial portfolio; review our tenant mix and adjust
leasing strategies; carry out regular refurbishment and improvement
activities; and work in partnership with our tenants and customers;
we believe that our Hong Kong leasing activities will maintain their
steady pace, despite the current cautious sentiment in the territory. In
mainland China, the picture is even rosier - - in Shanghai, building on
the city’s evergrowing momentum, leasing activities should continue
to perform well. At the same time, the planned opening of Shenyang's
Palace 66 in 2010 will mean the proportion of rental income from
leasing activities in mainland China will continue to grow.

Looking forward, the Group continues to maintain a strong balance
sheet with cash and bank deposits amounting to HK$8,931.4 million
against total borrowings of HK$6,161.3 million at the end of June
2009. Together with HK$17200.0 million in committed but undrawn
banking facilities, we are well positioned to capture attractive
investment opportunities as and when they arise, whether in Hong
Kong or in mainland China.
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The strong leasing demand experienced in the commercial and office
sectors in 2007/08 carried over into the first quarter of the current
financial year. Although Hong Kong experienced a slowdown in rental
demand towards the end of 2008, our overall leasing results remained
resilient. Our total rental turnover for 2008/09 increased to HK$2,474.3
million, showing modest growth of 8% over the previous year. Total
profit also grew 9% to HK$2,017.1 million.

Commercial and Retail

This positive outcome can be attributed, first and foremost, to the
location of our leasing portfolio - - most of our properties are located in
prime locations in the heart of Hong Kong. In addition to properties in
the key business areas of Central, Admiralty and Tsimshatsui, the
major part of our retail portfolio is based in Causeway Bay and
Mongkok, Hong Kong's biggest, busiest and most popular shopping

Geographical Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

RZZZNEFRA=1H At 30 June 2009

BEERE" (FFHK)
Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m)

2009 2008
EBE Hong Kong Island
HIRNEEE Central and Admiralty 51.1 51.1
SR N T Causeway Bay and Wanchai 111.8 111.8
BRI R 8 B0 Kornhill and Quarry Bay 164.4 164.4
IIEYSE I The Peak and Mid-Levels 46.9 46.9
pA=1E2] Hong Kong South 12.1 12.1
NEE Kowloon
E=:] Mongkok 1479 1479
LYIR R AEE Tsimshatsui and West Kowloon 89.3 89.3
HSEA R Ngau Tau Kok and Kwun Tong 92.6 92.6
D& KRR Cheung Sha Wan and Kwai Chung 51.6 51.6
st Total 767.7 7677

* BREFEESZEEEE

Including gross floor area of car parks
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districts. In Causeway Bay, we are the largest landlord of street level
shops, while in Mongkok, we are one of the largest landlords of retail
properties in the heart of the bustling area, bordered by Nathan Road
on one side and by Sai Yeung Choi Street on the other. The two areas
buzz with people, virtually 24 hours a day, seven days a week.

We also make every effort to add value to our properties with
professional and effective management together with comprehensive
and ongoing improvement and refurbishment programs. The
completion of extensive renovation work, both at Amoy Plaza in
Kowloon East and Fashion Walk in Causeway Bay in the past year, for
example, has helped to enhance the tenant mix while also lifting
rentals. With our committed services, effective leasing strategies and
diverse tenant mix, we maintained an average occupancy of 98%
during the year, with total rental income rising to HK$1,284.7 million, a
growth of 7% over the previous year.

Our flagship property in Causeway Bay, Fashion Walk, recorded a
significant improvement in rental received of 12% growth, primarily
due to the improvement in the tenant mix and shop reconfiguration
which came to a successful conclusion during the year. As a matter of
fact, the property achieved a cumulative rental increment of 40% over
the past three years with the successful repositioning of the property
and enhanced shop reconfiguration. The improved environment and
upgraded facilities have attracted a number of new brand names and
currently many of the fashion world's most well-known brands
operate flagship stores within the development. With such a diverse
array of trendy and upmarket brands, not only does the area’s
reputation as a fashion hub continue to grow amongst discerning
shoppers, it is highly popular amongst both locals and tourists alike.

The Peak, with its magnificent views of Hong Kong and Victoria
Harbour, is a “must see” stop-off point for visitors to Hong Kong.
Coupled with its green and open spaces and pleasant leisure
environment, The Peak Galleria, has benefited with strong visitor flows
over the years. During the year, it recorded rental income of HK$53.1
million, translating into relatively modest growth of 3% against
2007/08.
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Our properties in Mongkok continued to perform positively. The area
have some of the highest population densities and pedestrian flows in
the world. Capitalizing on the large number of people living, working
and visiting the area, we have introduced a number of lifestyle
concepts. A prime example was Gala Place, which has established
itself as the trendy chic shopping hub for ladies fashion in Mongkok.

On a similar note, our shopping complexes at Kornhill Plaza in Quarry
Bay and Amoy Plaza in Kowloon East performed well, with rentals
experiencing little or no impact from the depressed global economy.
In fact, rentals in Amoy Plaza saw a significant improvement with the
completion of extensive renovations in 2007/08. Rental picked up
rapidly with the improved facilities and environment, as well as the
increase in the mall’s total leasable areas. The rental income for Amoy
Plaza thus increased 13% to HK$206.9 million, while rentals for
Kornhill Plaza grew 5% to HK$250.7 million.

Segmental Analysis of Hong Kong Investment Properties

BmmEE (FFHK) HEWA (BB ET) HEX (BHth)
Gross Floor Area Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m) (HK$ million) (%)

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

5 LA Commercial and Retail 2425 2425 1,284.7 1,196.0 98 99
BFERI¥ =¥ Office and Industrial/Office  262.9 262.9 819.6 730.8 93 95
EERER Residential and Apartments 79.3 79.3 273.9 269.6 73 77
(FE% Car Parks 183.0 183.0 96.1 93.7 N/A N/A
st Total 767.7 767.7 2,474.3 2,290.1 92 94
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The Peak Galleria, The Peak
Amoy Plaza, Ngau Tau Kok

2. THREEPL, KLY - BLA  Park-In Commercial Centre/Gala Place, Mongkok
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1. B SRS Hang Lung Centre, Causeway Bay
2. @ L—H - BEA  One Grand Tower, Mongkok
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Office and Industrial/Office

With greater exposure to the international market, Grade-A office
properties in Hong Kong felt the effects of the global financial crisis
more keenly. Rentals in this sector therefore experienced a downward
adjustment from the beginning of the year. We have been fortunate in
that the impact to our office properties has been limited, due not only
to their prime location in the heart of Hong Kong'’s major commercial
hubs but also to their convenient position along mass transit railway
lines (the MTR), other public transport systems and major road
networks.

Our quality management as well as the diversity of our tenants
enabled us to maintain our total occupancy rates at 93%, resulting in
an increase of our overall office and industrial/office rentals to
HK$819.6 million in 2008/09.

We continue to enhance our office values with widespread strategies
based on the building’s location and market positioning. Our prime
properties in Central - - Standard Chartered Bank Building, Baskerville
House, 1 Duddell Street and Printing House, for example, reap the
benefits of their location. Situated right in the heart of Hong Kong’s
business district, they enjoy a ready market among major corporations
and leading international organizations.

Similarly the rest of our office portfolio - - Hang Lung Centre in
Causeway Bay, Kornhill Plaza — Office Tower in Quarry Bay, Grand
Centre in Tsimshatsui, as well as One and Two Grand Tower,
Hollywood Plaza and the Park-In Commercial Centre in Mongkok,
remain in high demand due to their quality management and prime
urban locations. \We also keep our fingers on the pulse of the industry,
making sure that our properties meet the needs of the market. The
specialist zones within our buildings, with the grouping of similar
businesses together, remain popular in view of the greater
convenience they afford to our business partners and customers.
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Last but not least, we make every effort to be a “friendly landlord”
committed to building partnerships with our tenants. As a result, we
are able to retain many of our choice tenants as long-term customers.

Residential and Apartments

Our residential portfolio, which offers a mix of luxurious residential
homes and serviced apartments, started the 2008/09 financial year
very strongly. In view of its exposure to the international market, this
sector experienced a greater impact from the effects of the financial
tsunami than our other rental properties.

Popular amongst consular, professional and corporate tenants are our
two signature properties - - The Summit and Burnside Villa. The former
is located in Hong Kong's exclusive mid-levels area, offering panoramic
views of its surroundings, while the latter consists of 45 family-style
villas at Hong Kong's most well-known beach, Repulse Bay. Though
occupancy levels remained strong, rental rates experienced a mild
decrease in the beginning of 2009 as many international organizations
reduced their staff housing allowances. Despite this setback, rental
incomes increased overall with The Summit generating an income of
HK$81.2 million during the year based on an occupancy rate of 84%
and Burnside Villa bringing in HK$55.3 million with an 88% occupancy.

Hong Kong saw a significant drop in visitors in the first half of 2009
due both to the global economic downturn and the outbreak of
Influenza A (H1N1). As such, occupancies as well as room rates
dropped at our serviced apartments, Kornhill Apartments, in the
second half of the financial year, despite their convenient location and
comfortable setting. However, our total residential and serviced
apartment portfolio brought in rentals of HK$273.9 million for the year,
growing 2% over 2007/08.

EEBEERAT —TTNTAFFR



FR—VEERERHE

BEHTNERZEEWETE - LB
WERER D& R - —EENFH
BEAZBERBENRS - BEZRITRF
VENRREE  MEXHRBMERK
FHBERTT -

EWXT
EEEEE—RZxTRBERKD
REBUNNEB EZE- WEEIEA
BRE-ZERS N \TEZRERE HXA
—T—BZTEEl - FEHERE
RE - AREHARTEIEL - BN
—ERNFTHFSEBERNZRBLZ
B REBAL -

R E
HEBEMNRAEANLEZEEERBREZAEN
EESONt=ZBz2EEXRE &Z#
—TNBZTNLEELML  ZEEFRE
KMEPREERE - RER_TTLF+
AETERZE EMEHRELESR
NAEEA  ER—TENFT¥EFZ
HERBRE  RARETETREZ
F_WBEE - A RMOEE L
BOEM S B BRIEEREREAR
TEADPHELTIS

Hitp¥) 3% KI5 H

“ZEEN\FLAY HMELEBERX
=(AEM - ZBBREER - TEEM -
m»—IHEERLAEGRREENE
iz - HAIFRFHR > REERFEIEZ
FEMAELBE -

RERK  KREURBEHEREEER
PZREER BHAR-_FT——F%
e ZBBRALERRHEETR - HERME
BRETNBRTFITAK  BREZE
BEEREOS/NTFITAK -

HONG KONG — PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND SALES

In the past 18 months or so, sales in the residential property market
can best be described as a roller coaster ride. In the first few months
of 2009, the situation improved significantly. As banking attitudes
eased earlier this year, sales transaction volumes and price levels have
recovered markedly.

The HarbourSide

A leading luxury residential development in Hong Kong, The
HarbourSide towers majestically above Kowloon Station. Consisting
of 1,122 luxury units in three 80-storey blocks and boasting some of
the most magnificent views of the harbor, this prime development
has proven to be extremely popular. As such, we will seek
opportunities to market The HarbourSide's garden view units in the
second half of 2009.

The Long Beach

This residential development in West Kowloon consists of 1,829 units
in eight 43-storey towers. With its spectacular views and top class
recreational facilities, over 600 units were sold in just two weeks
when the first phase of the project was released for sale in October
2007 In view of the difficult sales environment experienced in the
second half of 2008, we decided not to release the second phase of
sales in the development as originally planned. Nevertheless, we are
carefully following market sentiment and will seize the best
opportunity to release the remaining units in phases into the market.

Other Properties and Projects

With three units sold at our AquaMarine development in early July
2008, we now have 20 remaining units. Two duplexes are also
available at Carmel-on-the-Hill. These properties will be released for
sale, depending on market conditions and as suitable

opportunities arise.

Looking forward, we currently have a luxury project under development
on a 7850 square-meter site at Blue Pool Road, in the pleasant
residential district of Happy Valley. With a total gross floor area of
approximately 8,000 square meters, completion is expected in 2011.
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The Long Beach, West Kowloon
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Capitalizing on the rapid growth in mainland China in recent decades,
Hang Lung Properties moved into this market 16 years ago,
developing two prime properties in Puxi, Shanghai's commercial and
cultural center. These properties have gone from strength to strength
and despite the effects of the global financial crisis during the year,
they realized double digits income growth, increasing 16% to bring in
total rental incomes of HK$1,687.9 million.

Plaza 66, is a city landmark and award winning project. Located on
Nanjing Xi Lu, one of Shanghai's most well-known shopping streets, it
continues to attract the world’s most acclaimed brands in the retail
business. Contemporary architecture fuses with spacious and elegant
interiors to provide the perfect showcase for our tenants’ products.
Every name in high fashion - - from Chanel to Louis Vuitton to Versace,
is represented, as are the world's top jewelry and watch makers - -
Cartier, Tiffany, Harry Winston, Boucheron, Girard-Perregaux, Chaumet
and Chopard, to create a unique shopping experience for customers.
Fuelled by the additional success of the Watch Gallery, it comes as no
surprise that Plaza 66 remains fully occupied. Even with the increase
of lettable retail unit following reconfiguration in the basement, the
tenant waiting list, which includes some of the world’s most well-
known brands, keeps growing. We therefore continued to see an
upward trend in rentals during the year with commercial and retail
rentals for the development rising to HK$388.1 million, an increase of
18% over the previous year.

Epitomizing the architectural quality of this commmercial, retail and
office complex, its two office towers continue to be popular among
leading multinationals, being the address of choice among many
Fortune 500 companies. The two towers, which are among the tallest
office buildings in Puxi, brought in rental revenues of HK$663.0
million, and enjoyed an occupancy rate of 97% during the year.
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The Grand Gateway, conveniently located in the Xujiahui commercial
district above Shanghai’s largest and busiest metro station, consists
of a 120,000 square-meter shopping complex. Capitalizing on its
superb location, this large scale shopping complex, with over 450
retailers, restaurants and other leisure and lifestyle facilities, has
become the “must-go” destination for local trendsetters in the city.
Recent conversion work along the inner streets and basement floor
has increased the total leasing area, giving us the opportunity to
accommodate some of the additional demand from potential and
existing tenants. This increase in floor area, together with the
development’s continuing popularity, enabled revenues to reach a
new high of HK$605.8 million during the year, an increase of 19%
against 2007/08. The occupancy rate stood at 100% as at 30 June
2009.

Segmental Analysis of Shanghai Investment Properties

BEEEE*(FFAHK) HeWA (B8HaET) TAHEE (Aot)
Total Gross Floor Area* Rental Revenue Occupancy Rate
('000 sg. m) (HK$ million) (%)

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Gk Commercial and Retail 173.6 153.6 993.9 836.7 100 100
BTE Office 159.7 159.6 663.0 586.5 97 100
(=% Car Parks 104.4 104.4 31.0 31.8 N/A N/A
4=t Total 437.7 4176 1,687.9 1,455.0 99 100

* BEE MR ZEEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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Shanghai Rental Revenue

HZENA=THILLFE For the years ended 30 June

Looking forward, we continue to improve facilities and to upgrade our
brand image. During the year, we worked with the local government
to hold a lucky draw at The Grand Gateway, to not only endorse our
brand but also to promote the surrounding district. Pedestrian flows
are also expected to improve significantly once construction work at
the Xujiahui metro station, directly below The Grand Gateway, is
completed. The station is currently undergoing transformation into an
interchange station between two new metro lines.

LBEEBRAZEBDE

Shanghai Rental Revenue by Business Segment
HEZZTNAFXA=THIFE For the year ended 30 June 2009
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WK BB EHIEEES BEEEE At present, Palace 66 in Shenyang, Parc 66 in Jinan, Forum 66 in
B2 EBTFEERES K ZEERE Shenyang, Riverside 66 in Tianjin and Centre 66 in \Wuxi are under
S AR EGIEERESHYIESE T - Ff construction. We expect to see increasing contributions from
MR EAETEREIEHmEY—EEE mainland China as our current strategy, to build a portfolio of quality

WEYEME  BEEBERBMAIELE  investment properties in prime locations in major Chinese cities, reach
Bk ahEAMMESKARKE  fruition. Pre-leasing activities of Palace 66 are now underway and the

R EVEREISINIFEITIEM - preleasing of other projects is anticipated to commence very soon.
HhI8 B ey TBME B IR Al BIRAGRERF o

FEABRENERBERPYR 2R DN
Geographical Analysis of Mainland China Investment Properties
and Properties Under Development

RZZETAFRA=+H At 30 June 2009

HEEER (FEHK)
Total Gross Floor Area™ (‘000 sg. m)

& Shanghai

IRER Xuhui District 164.6
e Jing An District 2731
KE Tianjin 152.8
EiE Shenyang

A (R AT ) Shenhe District (Zhongjie Lu) 109.3
e (FFEAE) Shenhe District (Qingnian Da Jie) 842.4
57 Wuxi

SR@E(ARFE) Chong’an District (Renmin Zhong Lu) 263.8
SRE(ERE) Chong'an District (Jiankang Lu) 113.0
p ] Jinan 171.0
K& Dalian 221.9
185t Total 2,311.9

* BIEHE MR 2 B EEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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\We opened our first store in Shanghai at the Portman Ritz Carlton
Hotel in 1998/99. A couple of years later we moved to Plaza 66 for a
number of reasons - - it is located in a highly prominent position on
one of the best commercial avenues in Shanghai, while its world-class
architecture and luxurious shopping environment make it the ideal
home for our well-known Louis Vuitton brand.

We did so well after our move there in 2001 that we expanded our
store to a duplex in 2004. Currently, with over 1,314 square meters of
space showcasing the latest fashion trends and the most up-to-date
shopping concepts, our store in Shanghai is not only the largest Louis
Vuitton store in mainland China, it is also one of the largest luxury
stores in the country. Enjoying the highest sales turnover in the
mainland China, the Shanghai store has become our flagship.
Customers come not just from Shanghai, they also flock in from the
surrounding region, which has helped to drive sales revenues up by
well over 300% in the past five years alone.

This success is due to the win-win partnerships that we enjoy both
with our customers and Hang Lung Properties. Our customers in
Shanghai are very discerning - - they are aware of the latest fashion
trends and open to new products and ideas. They also possess strong
spending power, and as one of the oldest and most recognized luxury
brands in the world, we benefit from this willingness to spend.

At the same time our partnership with Hang Lung Properties has
helped us to thrive over the years. Not only do we benefit from the
sound property management and luxurious shopping environment at
Plaza 66, its ongoing upgrades create a unique shopping experience
which attracts strong and consistent customer flows. We look forward
to continuing this flourishing relationship in the years to come.
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ERERES
Palace 66

RS T 8 ] [ P AT IS
Zhongjie Lu, Shenhe District,
Shenyang

[

Commercial
109,300 F 53K /sq.m

SRR ESHERRSGEETHES - 1A R SiRH+
BAT=ZBFHhAZBSEE  YERXASEEEETE
AHER 2 FTEIRE - HEURPEE  BAIREHE -
SRR - MR SUUEERGRE - —ZA%F
K RERAEEMERR 2T L - BUERI 2B+ AE
ZEEH Iz RIBEReEIZ—-

SEREEESN _TT/\FESEXRGERERS 28
BRMIRFE R RBE — %0 RINRAER & ROFERE -
IR -—ZELFREONBEFHERERZRERSE
MEE[2007 SEMBEFREHAERE — RRIEB AR - HE
HRR T —2FEHK -

Palace 66, previously known as Shenyang Zhongjie
Hang Lung Plaza, consisting of 109,300 square
meters of leading retail space, will become the first
of our new property developments in mainland China
to come on stream. Located in Zhongjie Lu, Shenhe
District, it lies right at the heart of Shenyang's prime
commercial, financial and cultural hub, neighboring
the Shenyang Imperial Palace, which is a \World
Cultural Heritage site. Zhongjie Lu itself has been the
center of Old Shenyang City for the past 300 years
and is cited as one of the “10 Most Famous
Commercial Streets in China” and the “World
Famous Street"

Palace 66 received the U.S. Green Building Council's
“Gold Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) — Core and
Shell Development” in 2008 and the “MIPIM Asia
Awards — Futura Projects” issued by Le Marché
International des Professionnels de I'lmmobilier
(MIPIM) Asia in 2007 Construction is expected to
complete in 2010.
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Parc 66

EFETE | BRI
Quancheng Lu, Lixia District,
Jinan

[GE S

Commercial

171,000 F 753K /sq.m
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Parc 66, previously known as Jinan Hang Lung Plaza,
consisting of six storeys and 171,000 square meters
of quality shopping space, commenced construction
at the end of 2007. Centrally located in Jinan, the
political, economic and cultural capital of Shandong
Province, at Quancheng Lu, Jinan's “Golden Avenue'
the completed development is expected to create a
new landmark in the City.

Parc 66 received the U.S. Green Building Council’'s
“Gold Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) — Core and
Shell Development”, International Property Awards’
“Asia Pacific Commercial Property Awards 2009 —The
Architecture Award (Five Star)” and “MIPIM
Architectural Review Future Project Awards 2009 —
Retail & Leisure” issued by Le Marché International
des Professionnels de I'lmmobilier (MIPIM) both in
2009. Project completion is expected in 2011.
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Forum 66

BRSO B B F A

Qingnian Da Jie, Shenhe District,
Shenyang

A% PoE  BERREXER

Commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartments

842,400 F J5 K /sq.m
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Forum 66, formerly known as Shenyang City Hang
Lung Plaza, is the largest of our current developments
with a prime 842,400 square-meter complex. The
project is located in the midst of Shenyang’s landmarks
- - the Liaoning Grand Theater, the Museum of Liaoning
Province, the Municipal Government Building as well
as the City Plaza, named one of the “Best National
Cultural Plaza” by the Ministry of Culture in 2006.
Sited on Qingnian Da Jie, the “Golden Corridor” that
runs through the City center and along which the new
metro line is being built, the project will further benefit
from the opening of the two stations at Qingnian Da
Jie and City Plaza at its doorstep.

Comprising a world-class shopping mall, office
buildings, a hotel as well as serviced apartments,
similar to Palace 66, the project was also awarded the
“Gold Level — Pre-certification under Leadership in
Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) — Core and
Shell Development” issued by the U.S. Green Building
Council in 2008. Construction commenced in April
2007 with completion expected by phases from

2013 onwards.
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RETHFEMFH
Heping Lu, Heping District,
Tianjin

[GES

Commercial

152,800F 75 >K/sq.m
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Riverside 66, previously known as Tianjin
Hang Lung Plaza, is currently undergoing
construction on a prime 44,277 square-
meter site on Heping Lu, which, like
Zhongjie Lu in Shenyang City, has been
named one of the “10 Most Famous
Commercial Streets in China” and the
“World Famous Street” Located in
Tianjin's city center, it is creatively styled
as one of the longest shopping malls in
mainland China, consisting of 152,800
square meters of prime retail space. The
project aims at achieving its LEED
certification and has won the “"MIPIM
Architectural Review Future Project
Awards 2007 — Retail & Leisure” issued
by Le Marché International des
Professionnels de I'lmmobilier (MIPIM).
Construction commenced in May 2008
with project completion expected

in 2013.

18 &5 EEESE (—H)
Riverside 66 Centre 66 (Phase 1)

BEDTRZBARPRE
Renmin Zhong Lu, Chong’an District,
Wuxi

Commercial and office

263,800 ¥ 753K /sq.m

fIm 85 2 B 5 (—H) RTE R &5
BEES - HEBURNESH ZEET
DRZEARTE - S 2 mE—5
RZ_RGHEBRPLBERARPRE I
RME 2 RER R ERIEEES - 1B
BragEEEE_+t"BE=T/\B¥
7K BRE-EEFEEYHLORFR
MAEE - HEER _ZZ/N\F+—A
BTPTHBYBRAR T —HFED
HATERK -

Centre 66 (Phase 1), previously known
as Wuxi Hang Lung Plaza, is located on
Renmin Zhong Lu in Chong'an District,
in the heart of the central business
district. No.1 and No.2 metro lines,
now under construction, will run along
Zhongshan Lu and Renmin Zhong Lu
with a subway station at their junction,
which will have an underground
connection to Centre 66. This 263,800
square-meter development, comprises
a world-class shopping mall and Grade
A office towers. Construction
commenced with a ground breaking
ceremony in November 2008 and
expected completion by phases from
2014 onwards.
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Centre 66 (Phase 2)
EEH =T ERER

Jiankang Lu, Chong’an District,
Wuxi

B WA BERREXER

Commercial, office, hotel and serviced apartments

113,000 53K /sq.m

BfEES( )RR - LENERES(—H)E
- SEBAZEREER S TEANTEFIKRZA
B EERESZABERRREAZE=1TLETN
BF7IK o WABGSIRB SHRARBYHL - FEHQ
BE EEMREABAN 5 © BT ERER ZHK
REHHZOEERZFARRBHAHER o

T B R B A BERRIRIERET R R R -

Centre 66 (Phase 2) is located at Jiankang Lu, south of
Centre 66 (Phase 1). The acquisition of the adjoining
piece of land of 16,767 square meters will enlarge and
enhance the current development, Centre 66, with a
total gross floor area reaching 376,800 square meters,
forming a large scale mixed development comprising a
world-class shopping mall, Grade A office towers, a
hotel and serviced apartments. The enlarged
development will become the largest and most
prominent landmark in the City’s central business
district.

The development is aiming to achieve the LEED
certification.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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Olympia 66

R T 7 e [ Y%
Wusi Lu, Xigang District,
Dalian

[ZE S

Commercial

221,900 F 5 % /sq.m

URAEZ B ESEEETBENMZHINER 2 —
SESFAABARBUNAENAERELEES 2 —
MAMNE  BERE=THAFIKzEEHIR - HE
MABRMIC R S - SRR —EES L ERRERR Z&RE
BEAR  BH-T S TNLBEFTRZEY  KER
BRERE - BEHAREBRORARBEO+RET - HE %
FRIR R R AR E T IR AR BB YIRS o

TH B FHEI R A RER KRR RET L8882 IR - AR
ZT—RFEK -

Olympia 66, became one of our latest projects in
mainland China with the acquisition of a prime site of
63,400 square meters at Wusi Lu, one of the City's
most prominent commercial avenues in the Xigang
District of Dalian City in May this year. With a
planned investment of RMB4.5 billion, the project,
located adjacent to Olympic Square, will consist of a
stylish, sky-lit seven-storey complex of 221,900
square meters offering a full range of shopping,
dining and entertainment facilities. Upon completion,
it will become the largest shopping mall in the City.

The Project is aiming at achieving the LEED

certification and the completion is anticipated in
2015.
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¥ B Shenyang
L]

% ¥t Tianjine  ® X ¥ Dalian

¥ 7 Jinan o
4. BEES - REMFRE Riverside 66, Heping District in Tianjin fiE % Wuxi ®
5. BEES(—H)  EHRTE Centre 66 (Phase 1), Chong'an District in Wuxi
6. BRES(—HR_H)  EHEZE Centre 66 (Phases 1 & 2), Chong'an District in Wuxi
7. BEES - KEAER Olympia 66, Xigang District in Dalian
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IERBRERYRE

Major Properties Under Development
RZZEZNFENA=TH At 30 June 2009

RIZEEE TERTEAK
HARE TR (FFEFHK) =R
(FF7XK) Total Gross e TP ER Expected
Site Area FER®E Floor Area Stage of Completion
Hh 2h Location (sg. m) Main Usage (sg. m) Completion Date
&E HONG KONG
EEIEOE Blue Pool Road, 7,850 R 8,005 AR R 2011
AHER574757 1L 5747 Site Investigation
X TIANJIN
N [& Heping District 44,277 © 152,800 R T2 2013
A3 Heping Lu Foundation
&S SHENYANG
2 [ Shenhe District 34,845 C 109,300 BELE 2010
FRATES Zhongjie Lu Superstructure
B & Shenhe District 92,065 C/H/O/S 842,400 HETIE 2013
SEKE Qingnian Da Jie Foundation =—4
Phase 1
5 WUXI
=T Chong'an District 37324 C/O 263,800 HWETE 2014
AR Renmin Zhong Lu Foundation F—H
Phase 1
ST Chong'an District 16,767 C/H/O/S 376,800 =&l TER
R Jiankang Lu Planning N/A
B JINAN
FERN& Lixia District 52,569 C 171,000 FER = 2011
R Quancheng Lu Superstructure
KiE DALIAN
i3] Xigang District 63,400 C 221,900 sTElF 2015
FatfizS Wusi Lu Planning
C: ®% Commercial
H: J&/E Hotel
0O : BTE Office
R: =% Residential
S : PRERZBFT Serviced Apartments

N EMEERAEERERE -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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Properties Completed for Sale
R=ZZHA4FXA=1H At 30 June 2009

RIEEEE REH REH
(FFEFAK) FEEuHE Bi/EH
Total Gross No. of Unsold No. of Unsold
TER® Floor Area Residential Carparking
HE Location Main Usage (sg. m) Units Spaces
& HONG KONG
EERRT - The HarbourSide, R 86,012 709 484
T EEFE 157 1 Austin Road West,
FLEEAHEER110805% KIL 11080
IR The Long Beach, R 99,531 1,224 _
TSIEESSE 8 Hoi Fai Road,
NBERHIER 1115255 KIL 11152
EEE AquaMarine, R 1,876 20 _
B IE8E 8 Sham Shing Road,
FLRE R ER 633855 NKIL 6338
E& Carmel-on-the-Hill, R 286 2 23
MEN TN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
JUBEIHEER 111225% KIL 11122
R: (= Residential

N EMEERARERERS -

All the above properties are wholly owned by the Group.
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

TEREUE
Major Investment Properties
RZZEZAFNA=1H At30 June 2009

BEmEE (F5K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

BEFER
I¥ /5518 FERBAM B EH
ek Office and Residential No. of
b 22 i i A HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
&HiE HONG KONG
FRESE CENTRAL AND ADMIRALTY
ENfITT » Printing House, 2848 1,709 5,980 - -
HEFE65% - 6 Duddell Street,
A EZ 33957 IL 339
EEZFIE15% - 1 Duddell Street, 2848 = 9,007 = =
A ER 731055 IL 7310
LERRTT Baskerville House, 2880 1,473 3,379 - -
ERRE2255% 22 Ice House Street,
b ER 64457 IL 644
BEITIRITAE Standard Chartered 2854 48147 23,730 " - 16
EEE R 4-4A5E - Bank Building,
Y EHER 10355 4 - 4A Des Voeux Road Central,
AER & BEZ Sections A&B of ML 103
SEERR Queensway Plaza, 2012 6,923 - - -
S EBEI3 93 Queensway
SR K BT CAUSEWAY BAY AND WANCHAI
BRI Hang Lung Centre, 2864 8,613 22,161 - 126
BE#E2-205% - 2-20 Paterson Street,
AHEER 52457 K 7495% L 524 & IL 749
2R Fashion Walk, 2842, 2864 31,072 - 7935 _
BEHA C EST - Paterson Street, Houston Street, & 2868
SRR « INEAT - Great George Street,
RTUEA « 51748 - Cleveland Street, Kingston
B ER 23155 Street, Gloucester Road,
K 5258 ML 231, ML 52,
A ER 46957 247057 1L 469 & IL 470
BRE Park Towers, 2060 * 1,101 = = 250
WEE 1R 1 King's Road,
A EZ 856057 IL 8560
IR Shui On Centre, 2060 * - 16,313 - 42
15 228 1 - 15/F-28/F,
HE86-855% 6-8 Harbour Road,
A EX 863357 IL 8633
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Major Investment Properties (continued)
RZZTTAFRA=+H At30 June 2009

BEEE (F7K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

BYER
I /2578 TR\ BAE
Rk Office and Residential No. of
It 32 i o 4 2 Commercial Industrial/ and Carparking
b 2h Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
HHE#E) HONG KONG (Continued)
B R fE KORNHILL AND QUARRY BAY
FEES Kornhill Plaza, 2059 * 53,080 10,577 - 1,069
BRLLI3E 1-255% - 1-2 Kornhill Road,
A EX 856657 IL 8566
REE Kornhill Apartments, 2059 * - - 35,275 -
@258 2 Kornhill Road,
A EZ 8566557 IL 8566
LEFELAD Stanhope House, 2082 1,051 26,720 - 70
HEET7345% 734 King's Road,
A EZ 3507557 IL 3507
WER¥ILE THE PEAK AND MID-LEVELS
WTEES - The Peak Galleria, 2047 12,500 - - 493
ILTEZE 11858 - 118 Peak Road, RBL 3
T XBHb R 355
EEZ Nos. 2&3, Garden Terrace, 2078 & 2886 - = 558 25
2-35REE —JE - Block 2, 8A Old Peak Road,
E1LTHEBA IL 896 & IL 2850
A HLER 89655 K 28505
e The Summit, 2047 = - 15,225 54
AITEPEA1CHE - 41C Stubbs Road,
A EZ 887057 IL 8870
BREEE HONG KONG SOUTH
B=E - B/EE9% - Burnside Villa, 2072 - - 9,212 89
T RBHER 99455 9 South Bay Road, RBL 994
EA MONGKOK
FEAHLE—H - Argyle Centre, Phase |, 2060 64 - - _
T E6885E - 688 Nathan Road,
BEIHDER 126255 KIL 1262
R L—H One Grand Tower, 2060 19,276 22,637 - 40
RB627-641A5% ©  627-641A Nathan Road,
NBE R ER 1024655 KIL 10246
TR O 8 Two Grand Tower, 2060 1,629 8,614 - —

BEE6255F - 625 Nathan Road,
TUBEAIHEER 1023455 KIL 10234
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MAJOR GROUP PROPERTIES

FTEREWME &)

Major Investment Properties (continued)
RZFTAFENA=1H At30 June 2009

BEmEE (F7K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

ETER
T¥ /5578 FEREA B EH
5 Nt Office and Residential No. of
022 A HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
2 Location Lease Expiry and Retall Office Apartments Spaces
&HE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
iD= ) MONGKOK (Continued)
BEAE - Hang Tung Building, 2045 * _ _ _ 955
EERE1112-11205% ©  1112-1120 Canton Road
JLBE R ER 970855 KIL 9708
EAE LN Park-In Commercial Centre/ 2044 * 6,297 29,966 = 478
R - Gala Place,
BT 565 56 Dundas Street,
JLEEIHEER95905% KIL 9590
AEEEEDL Hollywood Plaza, 2047 9,136 17974 - =
BEE6105% - 610 Nathan Road,
BEIHBER 1102455 KIL 11024
Bl Carmel-on-the-Hill, 2050 2,131 = _ 1
MR AN - 9 Carmel Village Street,
BB ER 1112255 KIL 11122
RPDBERANEE TSIMSHATSUI AND WEST KOWLOON
R Grand Centre, 2038 3,688 7198 _ _
= AT B85 8 Humphreys Avenue,
NEEAMERTT255 K% KIL 7725 &
80265% KIL 8026
(Rl Hanford Fashion, 2037 2,443 3,892 = -
FZE221B-E5R 221B-E Nathan Road,
FEEAHER 106195k K KIL 10619 &
8132%% KIL 8132
EHEX AquaMarine, 2050 22,350 = - 516
RER R85 - 8 Sham Shing Road,
FBEAMER63385%  NKIL 6338
SRR The Long Beach, 2050 20,200 - = 390
TBIBIESR 8 Hoi Fai Road,
BERIHDER 1115255 KIL 11152
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Major Investment Properties (continued)
RZFTAFNA=1H At30 June 2009

BEmEE (F7K)

Gross Floor Area (sg. m)

BYER
I¥ /258 FEREH  BAEAE
[k Office and Residential No. of
022 A HA Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
2 Location Lease Expiry and Retall Office Apartments Spaces
&HE®) HONG KONG (Continued)
4+EAREE NGAUTAU KOK AND KWUNTONG
HWRES Amoy Plaza, 2047 44,951 - = 620
FEBAETT 77 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
FTLBERHBERS35R NKIL 53, NKIL 1482,
148257 ~ 266058 & NKIL 2660 &
39475R NKIL 3947
TERTZERL Amoycan Industrial Centre, 2047 - 6,547 - _
SR AET 7 Ngau Tau Kok Road,
FNBEAMER17445%  NKIL 1744
BAHES Laguna Plaza, 2047 15,619 = - 165
RREE - Cha Kwo Ling Road,
B AHEL60555%  NKIL 6055
ROERER CHEUNG SHAWAN AND KWAI CHUNG
BEBEESL Park Building, 2047 397 13,109 - -
S1L3E4765% - 476 Castle Peak Road,
FNBERHBER 176158  NKIL 1761
#ETEE Laichikok Bay Garden, 2047 3,109 - = 172
#HZILEIAT - 1A2 ~ Shops 1A1, 1A2,
5A - BAK6BE R4 ©  BA, 6A & 6B,
BIE X245 Lai King Hill Road,
1 EX 333657 Lot 3336 of SD 4
ATARLD - Star Centre, 2047 - 28,612 - 27
F11138443-4515% +  443-451 Castle Peak Road,
LEHH44558HERE  Section A of Lot 690
6905RAR in DD 445

* AEMt TR

With an option to renew for a further term of 75 years

T RERFAEE_B_T AT FHARTEZEASEA  EREEWEERHN T - —FREALH -

The Group is now entitled to rental on 22,101 square meters of office area. The rights to rental entittement in the remaining area will revert to the Group in 2012.
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Major Investment Properties (continued)
RZETAENA=1H At30 June 2009

BEEmEE* (FAK)
Total Gross Floor Area* (sq. m)
BYER
I% /B85 FEREF E=tive- 4=
EE ] Office and Residential No. of
122 & o B B Commercial Industrial/ and  Carparking
h 2 Location Lease Expiry and Retail Office Apartments Spaces
L& SHANGHAI
BIERES The Grand Gateway, 2043 120,000 - - 835
STABER 5% 1 Hong Qiao Lu,
HIER Xuhui District
BEES Plaza 66, 2044 53,600 159,700 - 804
R PEE5 126657 1266 Nan Jing Xi Lu,
HLE Jing An District

* BEMWE MR Z EEEE

Including gross floor area above and below ground
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—ERNFFEMBREDRE
BELERREEMEE  KREZWEHM
EXBNARABERIEE - AW - ER
MEHEMBRE BAEMELEE
PEZEEEM  BULMREERAH
BEAtT=R=THANtETREE
E—TTW+EIT At BEXET
BFEAIZATNAERBHN+—FET=
BARTET

REBEMEZHSBALGINE D 2N
EAE_tHEELtTEE=1T8T £
BYEREEB CWAREBME D 2T
ANEAETRNENTELEENATETL - F
NIRKEEIRBEXNE . BEEEBHES WA
MEmMEL 2 +—=28FEO+—E-F
ZE-TEBT-e

BEERARZEERRBRD - T5AR
MEHEE D RRANEHISEMRE

B
Turnover
HZE/NA=THLLFE For the years ended 30 June

Review of 2009 Financial Results

The Group's property leasing business achieved strong results under a
challenging economic environment. However, substantially fewer
residential units were sold during the slowdown of the property sales
market. With the revenue from property sales decreasing to HK$10.4
million from HK$6,334.8 million, total turnover declined by 59% to
HK$4,172.6 million.

Rental income from Hong Kong properties grew by 8% to HK$2,474.3
million and property leasing in Shanghai delivered a 16% growth to
HK$1,687.9 million. Total rental revenue rose by 11% to HK$4,162.2
million in a year when the global business climate was depressed.

Direct costs and operating expenses decreased substantially due to
negligible property sales and the benefits of cost control.

R ARENEZLAFEHEHNEXER
Operating Profit Before Change in Fair Value
of Investment Properties

HZE/NA=THLLFE For the years ended 30 June

BEEET B BB
HK$ million HK$ million
12,000 8,000
10,000 4 ]
6,000
8,000
7
6,000 4,000 $3,218
$4,173 Y million
million 7
4,000
2,000
@ EEMEHEE @ BEMEEE
2,000 Hong Kong leasing Hong Kong leasing
o DEmEHEE W DEmEEE
Shanghai leasing Shanghai leasing
| | W MEHE | - W MEHE
0 % % Property sales 0 % % % Property sales
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BERLERIEBOK  KEVEHEE
ZEZRNBEMAED 2 T =28% =1
NENT-—a=18rT FEWXEHE
ZERGBMERADZINEBE _TE
—TtE—tE8rx LEVMEREZE
EaMHABED 2 T NAEEETIE=
TOBE-+&xT- A WEHEEXRD
ZABRE > WOREEENEBE =
TAERT—BAATETREEE—A
NTETZHREREE - BFEME © K

MoRLBAS AT —ERE=T_(F
—FTNE=1T&8T"

A5 B RN 1T B I IR R 75
2R BIETREMEHE RE - &
EERMmRAMINZFYER 2 Eff WS
SEBRRARNAGTREZRTE  BF

REMEZANFEEM
Increase in Fair Value of
Investment Properties

HZE/NA=THLLFE For the years ended 30 June

BEEET
HK$ million

12,000
10,000

8,000

6,000 4

$3,523

4000 million

2,000

70

Notwithstanding the global financial crisis, operating profit from
property leasing increased by 13% to HK$3,441.3 million. Hong Kong
property leasing recorded a 9% increase in operating profit to
HK$2,017.1 million and Shanghai achieved a robust profit growth of
19% to HK$1,424.2 million. However, the respectable performance
of our property leasing operations was outweighed by the decline in
property sales profit from HK$3,551.9 million to HK$2.9 million. All in
all, operating profit before change in fair value of investment
properties decreased by 51% to HK$3,218.3 million.

With the growing size of the Group'’s investment properties,
particularly through its expansion strategy in mainland China, change
in valuation on those properties could have a major effect on its
financial results even though recording the revaluation gain or loss in

FMEWARZH
Interest Income and Expenses
HZE/NA=1HLEE For the years ended 30 June

BB
HK$ million

q

500
400

300 /4

200 $157
million

$69

ice million

@ FMBHEA

Interest income

o e

0 Interest expenses
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the income statement was merely a stipulated accounting treatment.
The Group's investment properties were revalued as at balance sheet
date by independent, professionally qualified valuers, Savills. The
valuations were conducted on an open market basis with reference to
the market conditions existing at the time.

Under a subdued and an uncertain economic environment, our Hong
Kong investment properties recorded a valuation loss of HK$920.9
million for the year. Capitalization rates used by the valuers for major
properties were in the range of 4% to 7%.

In Shanghai, Plaza 66 and The Grand Gateway remained fully let
including the enlarged retail area at Plaza 66 which opened in spring
2009. Total rental income from our Shanghai properties grew 16% to
HK$1,687.9 million. With the high occupancy and positive rental
reversions, the momentum for future rental growth remained strong.
Our Shanghai properties recorded revaluation gains of HK$4,444.0
million for the year with capitalization rates of around 9% to 10%,
which have been adjusted by the professional valuer in view of the
substantial cut in market interest rates and different business
dynamics following the outbreak of the global financial crisis. Overall a
net revaluation gain of HK$3,523.1 million was recorded in the
income statement.

Following the aggressive cut in interest rates by the U.S. Federal
Reserves and the local banks, both interest income and expenses
decreased significantly. As a result, net interest income fell to
HK$88.2 million from HK$130.7 million.

With a lower revaluation gain on investment properties and negligible
property sales, taxation charges decreased 46% to HK$1,512.9
million. Profit attributable to shareholders decreased 69% to
HK$4,130.3 million. In turn, earnings per share decreased 69% to
HK$1.00. The Board has proposed a final dividend of HK$0.51 per
share, which is the same as 2008.
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Excluding the effect of property revaluation and the related deferred
taxation and minority interests, underlying profit attributable to
shareholders decreased 53% to HK$2,388.3 million. Accordingly,
adjusted earnings per share were HK$0.58 compared to HK$1.24 in
the previous year.

Review of 2009 Financial Positions

In the face of the economic uncertainty and market volatility, within
the Group we continued to adopt a prudent approach in managing our
financial affairs. An important objective is to ensure that the Group
will continue to have sufficient liquidity to meet all financial obligations
as they fall due.

Against the backdrop of the global financial turmoil, the Group’s
balance sheet remained strong with net assets increasing 4% to
HK$71,329.7 million.

FERA BREEFE
Profit for the Year Net Assets per Share
HZENA=1HLLFE For the years ended 30 June H7NA=1H At 30 June
BEEET BT
HK$ million HK$
14,000 4 20
$172
18 )
12,000 4
16
10,000 14 4
7
12 f
8,000 4
Zq /|
$5,182 60 EMiT (TeiEnLs 10
e i - AERBIRERR A & D BR
6,000 million BiES)
Underlying profit 8
(excluding revaluation,
related deferred tax and 6
4,000 minority interests)
0 DEEHEILNRRERE R
DBRR S H 2 4
2000 Effects of revaluation,
! net of deferred tax and 9
minority interests
| | L W PHBRREER I O i
0 % % % Qinority interests 0
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RENE  BRIPREVERGENE
Investment Properties,

Investment properties increased 6% to HK$62,765.6 million largely
due to revaluation gains. With the acquisition of two prime sites in
Dalian and Wuxi in May 2009 and further progress payments made in
respect of other existing projects in mainland China, investment
properties under development increased from HK$5,656.8 million to
HK$7570.1 million.

Capital commitments outstanding as at 30 June 2009 but not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to HK$22,444.5
million, over 99% of which relate to property development projects in
mainland China.

Investment Properties Under Development MBERRERERE

and Properties for Sale
W7NA=1+H8 At 30 June

Financing Resources and Capital Commitment
R7NA=1H At 30 June

BEEET BEEET
HK$ million HK$ million
g $78,019 ’Eg
million
80,000 Y 30,000 $26,131
7 million
70,000 I 4
25,000
4
60,000
4 20,000 /
50,000 4 4
/|
40,000 15,000
/]
30,000
10,000
20,000 0 A & MR RTESE R
g Investment properties Undrawn committed
& BRERADE 5,000 faciities
10.000 Investment properties - ) RE RIBITER
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Properties for sale increased by HK$866.2 million to HK$7682.8
million. This was largely due to the reclassification of the Blue Pool
Road project in Happy Valley from investment properties under
development to properties under development for sale.

Given the worst credit crunch in recent history, the Group has
positioned itself with a prudent level of liquid funds and banking
facilities. As at 30 June 2009, the Group maintained cash and bank
deposits amounting to HK$8,931.4 million in order to meet the
stipulated equity injection requirements of various projects in
mainland China and their construction payment obligations in addition
to other working capital requirements. Netting off the cash and bank
balance as noted above against total borrowings, all unsecured,
amounted to HK$6,161.3 million; the Group had a net cash position of
HK$2,770.1 million at 30 June 2009. Committed but undrawn banking
facilities amounted to HK$17200.0 million compared to HK$10,022.0
million in the previous year.

With our strong cash generating capability from property leasing
operations, the healthy cash reserves and available banking facilities,
we can meet all our funding requirements well into the first half of
2011 and are in a good position to seize attractive investment
opportunities that fit our long term growth strategy.
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Land Bank Acquisition and Property Development

The Group's long term expansion plan underpins our strategy to build
up our land bank. Each development project or land acquisition
requires Board approval after thorough evaluation on various aspects
including the related risk and return. For projects situated in mainland
China, the relevant government policy, level of local government
support, the economic development and the adequacy of
infrastructure development in the surrounding area are major factors
for assessment during feasibility studies.

Each project is managed by a designated professional team with
relevant skills and experience. Projects are actively supervised by
senior management with progress regularly reviewed so that
decisions can be made promptly.

Treasury Risk

The Group's activities expose us to a variety of treasury risks. The
various risks as stated below are managed in accordance with the
Group's treasury policy approved by management.

(a) Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange

The Group is exposed to interest rate movements as most of our
borrowings are issued at floating rates. Interest rate risks are closely
monitored and, if appropriate, the Group may use interest rate swaps
to manage the risks. Maturities of monetary assets and liabilities are
carefully planned and managed to minimize mis-match and re-pricing
risks. Exchange rate risks arising from the Group's investments in
mainland China are hedged as much as possible with Renminbi
borrowings approved by the Chinese authority. Given that Hong Kong
dollars are pegged to United States dollars, exchange rate risks
relating to United States dollar deposits are not considered significant.
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(b) Cash Management, Funding and Liquidity

The Group's cash is pooled and centrally managed in order to achieve
economies of scale. All funding requirements are controlled and
arranged at the corporate level in order to optimize borrowing terms
and facilitate financial risks control. The objective is to ensure that
sufficient funds and banking facilities are always in place to meet
operation and investment requirements. Bank facility maturity dates
are properly distributed to minimize repayment or re-financing risks.

(c) Credit/Counter-party

The Group's exposure to credit risks arise from rent receivable,
instalments receivable relating to property sales and surplus cash
placed with banks. Credit risk on rent receivable is managed through
credit assessment on prospective tenants, payment of rental deposits
and close monitoring of outstanding rentals. Receivables arising from
property sales are protected from collateral on the relevant properties.
Surplus funds will only be placed with reputable banks that have
sound credit ratings with assigned exposure limits to mitigate
concentration risk.

(d) Use of Derivatives
Derivative instruments may only be used for financial risk hedging
purposes. Speculative derivative transactions are not allowed.

Business and Operational Risk

Market trends and business environments are closely monitored to
ensure that our properties have the distinctive features and the
desired tenant mix. Periodical maintenance, renovation and upgrading
of facilities are carried out to uphold the safety and quality of our
properties. Adequate insurance covers are in place to protect our
properties against accidental losses and other perils. Ve have
established internal control systems to safeguard our assets and
protect the Group from possible malpractices, if any. An independent
internal audit team will carry out frequent reviews and tests to ensure
that the internal control systems and policies are adequate, cost
effective and complied with. Proper back up procedures are
established to safeguard against potential loss of computer data. A
separate back-up site for our computer system is in place as part of
the business continuity plan.
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To fuel the tremendous diversification and growth that we expect to
see in the next few years, it is imperative that we have a pool of
professional talent that we can confidently draw on for our needs.
This team must not only have the professional knowledge and
technical ability to carry our strategies forward, they must also have
the cultural diversity, leadership, innovation and communication skills
to maintain our industry leadership not only in Hong Kong but as we
increasingly expand our footprint into the Mainland.

To this end we take a two-pronged approach - - firstly we aim to be
“the employer of choice’ providing a comprehensive package of
benefits that attracts and retains the best talent available. Once on
board, we seek to present them with the necessary challenges,
creating a framework that will ensure both a progressive and
rewarding career with us. Secondly, we seek to grow our people with
development and training, providing them with the skills to not only
do their jobs professionally and competently but also to develop and
unlock their full potential. This “win-win" approach benefits our staff
with full, rewarding lives and successful careers, while we profit from
a team of committed professionals who provides the human capital
necessary for the ongoing success of our business.
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At the end of June 2009, Hang Lung Properties employed 1,955 staff,
made up of 1,101 in Hong Kong and 854 in mainland China, with total
remuneration for the year amounting to HK$512 million. Based on our
strategy to be “the employer of choice’ our remuneration package is
in line with our “pay for performance” principles, with outstanding
employees also receiving salary increments and discretionary
bonuses. Share options under the Company’'s Share Option Scheme
adopted on 22 November 2002 are also granted to directors and
executives of the Company as incentives and rewards for their
contributions to the Group.

\We are pleased to report that despite the financial crisis and
subsequent economic downturn, no changes have been made to our
Human Resource policies. Manpower levels have increased due to
recruitment in view of our expanded operations in mainland China.
Furthermore, seeing the uncertain market environment as an
opportunity, we heightened our recruitment activities, seeking to
benefit from the larger pool of talent available in the current
depressed climate.

Training and Development

Looking into the future and ensuring that we continue to nurture our
future leaders, we strengthened our Management Trainee (MT)
program with a major new initiative, making our program one of the
most innovative in the market. First introduced in 2005, trainees carry
out job attachments at different divisions throughout the Group
together with a sixmonth attachment in Shanghai. In turn, trainees
from our Shanghai offices also undergo three-month rotational training
in Hong Kong, in addition to their MT training in Shanghai. Giving the
trainees a voice and a choice in what they do, trainees can now
customize their own programs by choosing “elective” departments
where they further heighten skills and knowledge in their own areas
of interest.

During the year we also took the opportunity to engage staff with our
own core values - - SAIL. Standing for Simplicity, Authority, Integrity
and Loyalty, these four values have been in place for years. Earlier this
year we launched a corporate-wide cultural reinforcement campaign,
encouraging staff to apply SAIL to their everyday work.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We continue to place an emphasis on continuous learning and
development to ensure that our employees are not only equipped
with the skills and competencies to perform their job, but also that
they will have the knowledge to face new challenges and future
changes with confidence. We therefore offer in-house training
together with subsidized external training programs. This includes
annual refresher training covering the latest security regulations
techniques and occupational safety information, as well as customized
training programs, particularly in customer service and communication
skills for all frontline staff in our Leasing and Management Division.

Keeping our finger on the industry pulse, external professionals
frequently are invited to give talks to our staff, not only updating them
on the latest market developments but also giving them an insight
into related fields such as insurance and tax planning. We also
collaborate with the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(ICAC) to run seminars on " Professional Ethics and Corruption
Prevention” for all staff in Hong Kong. Anti-corruption training together
with our Company code of conduct has also been developed for our
mainland staff. In addition to speakers from our Human Resources
Department, representatives from the People’s Procuratorate of
Shanghai are also invited to introduce and share real cases with

our staff.

Staff Well-being

With a view to foster harmonious relationships and building co-
operation among staff, we continue to co-ordinate diverse staff
activities through the Hang Lung Social Club. Taking pride of place was
the Annual Dinner which was held in February this year, and making it
a truly social occasion, spouses of our staff were also invited. To
enhance staff and their families’ environmental knowledge, a “Coral
ReefTour” was organized at Hoi Ha \Wan where participants enjoyed
sightings of local coral species on a glass-bottomed boat. A special
movie presentation and tea buffet in the summer also provided
enjoyment for staff and their families. In view of their tremendous
popularity, our Thai Boxing classes were held again and many staff
honed their cooking skills at Italian Cookery classes. On the sports
front, we participated in a number of corporate sporting events ranging
from the business associate’s Bowling Invitation League and the Hong
Kong Association of Property Management Companies’ Annual
Football Challenge to the Corporate Badminton Competition organized
by the Leisure and Cultural Services Department.
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1. Hang Lung Annual Dinner 2009
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2. Staff and their families joined the “Coral Reef Tour” organized by

Hang Lung Social Club to learn more about environmental protection.
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3. Observing shallow water coral through a glass-bottomed boat at
The Hoi Ha Wan Marine Park
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4. Recruitment Talk at the university for our
Management Train Program 2009
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5. Active staff participation in the Finance and
Administration Division retreat in April 2009
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Over the years, we have seen our steady growth into one of Hong
Kong's leading property developers as well as in mainland China.
These tremendous privileges however also carry their own
responsibilities — only as a responsible corporate citizen can we
ensure that our activities are sustainable economically, socially and
environmentally.

In addition to maintaining the highest standards of corporate
governance and our ongoing commitment to staff, fundamentals in
the ongoing sustainability of any successful business, we seek to
meet our Corporate Social Responsibility in three key areas —

Firstly - - to build environmentally-friendly and sustainable buildings
that will add value to the communities that we serve.

Secondly - - to promote a green environment both in our
surroundings and our operation practices.

Thirdly - - to acknowledge the tremendous support that we have
received from the communities we serve, we seek to make a valid
contribution to these communities, participating in or sponsoring
worthwhile causes and initiatives.

Building for Sustainability

As a leading property developer, we have embraced sustainability as
an essential part of our project development in mainland China. We
have long been a major player on the environmental front,
benchmarking our properties by the highest international standards,
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even before environmental concerns were widely considered on a
national level.

We are determined to build sustainable and culturally sensitive
developments that not only add value for the present but also the
future generations. Apart from supporting all pertinent national
policies and energy codes, we seek to excel above and beyond
established requirements by adopting advanced sustainable design,
systems and operations for all of our new developments in mainland
China. This made us one of a kind in the property development
industry in terms of the level and scale of environmental commitment
in mainland China. With such efforts, all of our new developments in
the Mainland will aim to achieve the internationally recognized LEED
(Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design) certification.

High Performance Building Facades

The first step to sustainability is the reduction in energy consumption,
or more precisely, the more efficient use of energy resources. To
reduce the demand for electricity to power lighting and air
conditioning systems, our new developments in mainland China will
boast high performance glazing fagcades and building envelopes, as
well as external shading devices. Such design features will maximize
the use of natural daylight and ensure the highest insulation enabling
energy-efficient cooling and heating of the building.

Renewable Energy

While the generation of electricity relies heavily on the ever scarce
fossil fuels, which is one of the major factors contributing to the
greenhouse effect today, we are keen to explore new possibilities to
utilize other forms of renewable energy. The unique geographical and
geological characteristics of our property sites allow us to harness
energy from the sun and the earth.

Solar energy generated by the system of photovoltaic cells on the
rooftop or facade of our properties will power internal lighting which
can reduce the electricity demand from the city main power supply.
Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang, Parc 66 in Jinan as well as
Centre 66 in Wuxi will employ this solar technology.

The ground source heat pump technology in the geothermal energy
system takes advantage of the stable ground temperature to power
our developments’ heating and cooling systems all year round. In
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Three of our mainland China projects, Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang and Parc 66 in Jinan, have already received the prestigious
LEED Pre-certification for Core and Shell Development (Gold Level) issued by the U.S. Green Building Council
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summer, it extracts and dissipates heat energy from the building to
the ground and vice versa in winter. This sustainable facility will be
incorporated in Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang, and Riverside
66 in Tianjin.

Recycling and Recovery Initiatives

By extending the lifecycle of other energy and resources through
strategic recycling and recovery measures, we aim at achieving
further reductions in our demand for, and therefore consumption of
such resources. Airside heat recovery systems, for example, will
recover energy from exhaust air systems to pre-cool or pre-heat the
fresh air before it enters the airconditioning system. Grey water
treatment systems will also centralize, treat and supply recycled
water for irrigation and other non-drinking purposes. Both facilities will
be installed in all our new developments in mainland China.

Exercising Sustainability throughout Operations

On an operational level, we will adopt a series of sustainable
practices. LED and energy-efficient lighting are installed to reduce the
consumption of electricity while landscaped gardens on rooftops will
also be adopted wherever possible to provide further insulation.
Demand-control ventilation systems are also used to enable the
provision of sufficient amount of fresh air indoor. Additionally, we save
water by adopting dual-flush water closets and low-flow faucet with
automatic sensors. We also use building materials with recycled
content and those that have been extracted, harvested or recovered,
as well as manufactured, within 500 miles of the property sites. By
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shortening the delivery distance, we can further reduce our
consumption of diesel and gasoline during construction processes.

International Recognition and Certification

\We believe sustainability equates to the continuing efforts made for
the betterment of the current and future generations. As such, we are
determined to keep striving for the highest international standards. All
of our new developments in mainland China aim at achieving the
LEED certification, an internationally recognized assessment and
benchmarking system. Issued by the U.S. Green Building Council, the
LEED certification covers five key areas in building sustainability:
Sustainable Sites, Water Efficiency, Energy and Atmosphere,
Materials and Resources as well as Indoor Environment Quality.

We are delighted to report that Palace 66 and Forum 66 in Shenyang
as well as Parc 66 in Jinan have already received their LEED Pre-
certification for Core and Shell Development (Gold Level) from the
U.S. Green Building Council in May 2008, November 2008 and
January 2009 respectively. Additionally, at the time of preparing this
annual report, we have received the notification that Centre 66 in
Wuxi has been awarded the same prestigious recognition while the
corresponding application for Riverside 66 in Tianjin is currently being
processed.
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Looking forward, our objective is to continue to play a definitive role in
the property development industry by growing our specialist
knowledge and cementing our leadership role to foster the
sustainable development in the communities we serve.

Managing for Sustainability

In addition to our sustainable design initiatives, we aim to be a role
model in environmentally-friendly property management, adopting
sustainable practices in all our activities and spreading this
environmental message to our staff, business associates and the
community. This company-wide commitment is supported by staff
from all levels including an executive committee, environmental
project team, 17 environmental ambassadors and eight LEED
accredited professionals.

Saving Energy and Conserving Resources

During the year, we were once again able to reduce the use of
electricity in our investment property portfolio. These savings have
been achieved with a review of our lighting and airconditioning
systems, leading to the more efficient and careful use of lighting
systems as well as the replacement of aircooled airconditioning
systems with the more efficient watercooled versions. Hand-in-hand
with these initiatives, thermostats were adjusted slightly upwards and
lift and escalator services were also suspended during non-peak
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hours. The solar panel renewable energy system at The Peak Galleria,
designed by our environmental project team also helps to conserve
resources as it generates electricity for the development’s outdoor
floor lighting at the Green Terrace.

Conserving water, over 60% of our washroom faucets now have
infrared sensors, which has achieved an estimated 30% reduction in
water consumption. Every effort is also made to reuse and recycle
materials. Paperless commmunications which includes emails and
e-reports is widely practised. In reducing paper consumption, we
implemented e-rental bill system in 2007 — the first developer to
introduce such system in Hong Kong. Instead of receiving rental bills
by mail each month, tenants can log onto their own online account to
view their latest transactions and past billing history.

In addition to these efforts we also seek to promote a clean and green
environment. To this end, we have planted over 200 trees and plants in
our properties, creating healthier and greener surroundings. Focusing
on the importance of healthy surroundings, we also pay special
attention to the indoor air quality of our developments. During the year,
we not only received the “Indoor Air Quality Certificate (Good Class)”
from Hong Kong's Environmental Protection Department for The Peak
Galleria, we also launched the “Fresher Car Park Campaign” to improve
the air quality in our carparks. Under this initiative, environmentally-
friendly cars were given incentive parking offers and drivers were
encouraged to switch-off their engines while waiting. Periodic air quality
tests are also conducted in basement carparks.

Spreading the Message

Making every effort to promote the environmental message within
the community, we participate actively in a number of external
programs and initiatives. Cementing our leadership in the field, we are
a major patron and member of the Climate Change Business Forum
under the Business Environment Council. The organization looks into
how businesses can reduce their emissions and facilitates the sharing
of best environmental practices. We also sponsored and participated
in Earth Hour 2009, the global awareness campaign organized by
WWEF to drive home the conservation message by switching lights off
for an hour in March this year.

Within the Company, our environmental ambassadors regularly attend
seminars and make environmental visits, taking the message both to
staff internally and to tenants and the community-at-large externally.
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Hang Lung Properties” Chairman Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Secretary for Education
Mr Michael Suen, members of Steering Committee and Scientific Committee of
Hang Lung Mathematics Awards (HLMA) congratulate the 2008 HLMA winners
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Regular training and education programs for staff help drive the
message home, while external visits and activities enable them to learn
the impact of pollution and the benefits of environmental protection for
themselves. During the year, these visits included a tour to Fook Woo
Recycling City in Huizhou as well as the Education Path operated by the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department in Hong Kong.

As part of our corporate commitment to youth education, The Peak
Galleria has played host to local schools and organizations, allowing
visitors to learn about our environmental initiatives through facilities
such as the solar panel renewable energy system, Green Terrace and
Green Gallery.

Reaching out to the Community

During the financial year, we made in accordance with our policies
donations to various charitable causes and non-profit organizations
totalling HK$9.8 million. Additionally, our shopping malls provided
venue sponsorships for a total of 44 events, raising funds of
approximately HK$11 million for numerous charities. Activities
included UNICEF raffle draw and red packet sale, donor drives by the
Hong Kong Red Cross, charity sales by various organizations including
Oxfam Hong Kong, as well as Charity Walkathon and Fun Fair
organized by the Children’s Heart Foundation. In May this year, our
Amoy Plaza also provided venue for the Hong Kong PHAB
Association’s Caring Ambassadors Creative Image Awards

and Carnival.
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The 2008 Hang Lung Mathematics Award

The highlight of our community calendar took place in October 2008
with the awards presentation ceremony and announcement of the
winners of our 2008 Hang Lung Mathematics Award (HLMA).

First founded in 2004 by our Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan and world
renowned mathematician, and 1982 Fields Medalist, Professor Shing-
tung Yau of Harvard University, the competition has been held every
two years since then. The 2008 event, the third in the series, drew an
overwhelming response with 80 competing teams formed by 230
students from 50 secondary schools. The competition is unigue in
that, rather than answering set mathematical questions, students are
given a year to design and research their own projects. Teams then
submit a report on their findings with, in this instance, 15 finalist
teams being chosen to attend an oral defence presentation on their
research report.

Both the report assessments and award winners were determined by
the Scientific Committee, which was chaired by Professor Yau and
consisted of 16 of the world’s leading mathematicians from top
universities around the world. A Steering Committee, with Sir James
A. Mirrlees, the 1996 Nobel Laureate in Economics, acting as Chair
Professor, also provided guidance and advice.

Our aim is to establish HLMA as a pioneer, encouraging the corporate
world to support similar initiatives in other academic disciplines. We
hope this will help to groom a pool of young talent for Hong Kong.

Hang Lung Charity Arts Festival

In Shanghai, our charity event “Harmonious China ® Glorious River
Plaza 66 Charity Arts Festival” hit the year’s high note, with the debut
performance of a tailormade state-of-the-art Steinway, maestro Chen
Zuohuang, director of music at the China National Opera House,
some of China's most outstanding musicians and dancers, the
Mongolian Children’s Choir as well as a breathtaking concerto played
by 50 grand pianos. Taking place at Shanghai Grand Stage on 5
December, the event was broadcasted nationally. It was jointly
organized by the Shanghai World Expo Coordination Bureau, Shanghai
Charity Foundation and Plaza 66 to mark the 500-day countdown
towards the Shanghai World Expo in 2010.
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Share Register closed
(for final dividend)
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Annual General Meeting
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Meeting accompanying this
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Corporate Governance Structure

We are committed to the primacy of our stakeholders’
benefits. As a responsible business corporation, we strive
to best fulfill the highest standards of corporate governance
with a qualified board, sound internal control systems and
effective risk management.
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Executive Committee

n-u

EN%ZBE Rl

Audit Committee Internal Auditor

RERFMZEESR
Nomination and
Remuneration
Committee

As good corporate governance is essential to corporate
success, we instill the core principles of good corporate
governance into our corporate culture through leadership
by example, training and effective internal controls.

These principles include an emphasis on transparency

and accountability to all stakeholders, maintaining high
standards of integrity and establishing trust through sound
governance practices.

Throughout the year, we complied with all Code Provisions
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices as
stated in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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A summary of how we comply with the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
Code under Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules is set out below:
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The Board

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company's affairs.
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Corporate Governance Practices
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Board Meetings are held at least four times a year which include
two full Board Meetings to approve interim and annual results and to
propose interim and final dividends:

>  five Board Meetings were held in 2008/09, including two held
outside Hong Kong; and

> meetings are also held as and when necessary to discuss
significant transactions, including issuance of debt securities, material

acquisitions and disposals, and connected transactions, if any.

Details of Directors’ attendance records in 2008/09 were as follows:
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BIF#HTESE Independent Non-Executive Directors #1TE=E Executive Directors
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S.S.Yin R.J. Arculli H.K. Cheng  Laura Chen  PW. Liu Dominic Ho Ronnie Nelson Terry William
Chan  Yuen Ng Ko

| #=/e3# Board Meetings

B ==ZE2%5 Audit Committee Meetings
B 25 REFHZES €3 Nomination & Remuneration Committee Meetings
B &5ES A® Annual General Meeting

HiEE = Director attended

FEEEHAREERRXAAWER
HEEEREF LERNIABE
He-REHEERERETRHRD
THOXA  ERESHEHEHRBS ©
EERYCRAREESRAVEXE
RZREF BB ERAARRX

All Directors can give notice to the Chairman or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for Board
Meetings. Notice is given to Directors at least 14 days before a
regular Board Meeting. Procedures have also been agreed by the
Board to enable Directors to seek independent professional advice

at the Company’s expense. i

Y= Gt
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Corporate Governance Practices

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
procedures are followed and that all applicable laws and regulations
are complied with. The Company Secretary is also a source of advice
to the Chairman and to the Board on corporate governance and the
implementation of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices.
Draft and final versions of minutes of Board Meetings and meetings
of Board Committees are sent to all Directors or Committee
members respectively for their comments and record. All minutes of
Board Meetings and meetings of Board Committees are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director.

Under the Company's Articles of Association, a Director shall not
vote or be counted in the quorum in respect of any contract or
arrangement in which he or any of his associates is/are materially
interested.

We have arranged appropriate insurance cover on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.

EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o Five (5) Board Meetings were held in 2008/089.

o Two (2) of these Board Meetings were held outside Hong
Kong so as to give Directors a clearer view on the Company’s
investments in mainland China.

Code Provision

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance of
power and authority.

Corporate Governance Practices

Chairman

The Chairman, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, provides leadership for the Board.
He is responsible for ensuring that all Directors receive adequate
information, which must be complete and reliable, in a timely
manner and that Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at
Board Meetings. He also ensures that:

> the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities;
> all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner;

> good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established; and

>  appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication
with shareholders and that views of shareholders are communicated
to the Board as a whole.

He, at least annually, holds meetings with the Independent Non-
Executive Directors without the Executive Directors being present.
He is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Board Meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda,
or delegates such responsibility to the Company Secretary.

He encourages all Directors to make a full and active contribution to
the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company. He facilitates the effective
contributions of Non-Executive Directors and ensures constructive
relations between Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
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Managing Director (Chief Executive Officer)

The Managing Director, Mr Nelson W.L. Yuen, is our Chief Executive
Officer. The roles of the Managing Director are separate from those
of the Chairman.

The Managing Director is a member of the Executive Committee of
the Company and is responsible for:

>  operating the business of the Company and implementing
policies and strategies adopted by the Board of Directors;

> the Company’s day-to-day management in accordance with the
instructions issued by the Board;

> developing strategic operating plans that reflect the objectives
and priorities established by the Board and maintaining operational
performance; and

> ensuring the adequacy of financial and internal control systems
and the conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.

The Managing Director chairs the monthly meetings of the
Company’s various operational divisions. He formulates, for the
Board's approval, the management organization and internal rules of
the Company and recommends the appointment and dismissal of
senior executives.

PRI
Code Number

Code Provision

A3 EERAMA

EEZREREBEAARESmMAGES
PREREENZSR - EERPATES
HENTEENEEEZRTHE -
NHEESEREABRRNBYLITE @ &
HG Xt 15 B ST T -

Board Composition

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate
for the requirements of the Company’s business and should include
a balanced composition of Executive and Non-Executive Directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgment.

BRI

Status

Compliance TEELER

Corporate Governance Practices
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The Board of Directors currently comprises ten persons:
>  four Executive Directors, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Mr
Nelson W.L. Yuen, Mr Terry S. Ng and Mr William PY. Ko; and

>  six Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr S.S. Yin,
Mr Ronald J. Arculli, Mr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Mr PW.
Liu and Mr Dominic C.F. Ho. They possess appropriate academic and
professional qualifications or related financial management expertise
and have brought a wide range of business and financial experience
to the Board.
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AR
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TRIIWEAAR ZEERIUKREZZEZE The following chart illustrates the composition of the Board of
K8 : Directors as well as each Committee of the Company:

IR
Shareholders

+

EER

Board of Directors

BRECR (BEER) Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)

BHE (FBIEEEK)*  S.S.Yin (Vice Chairman)*

=ER (ESH#%3) Nelson W.L. Yuen (Managing Director)
ERESty Ronald J. Arculli*

Bf%E 59+ H.K. Cheng*
BREEE* Laura L.Y. Chen*
EiaE* P.W. Liu*

Al pB* Dominic C.F. Ho*
SET Terry S. Ng
={RE William P.Y. Ko

RERFMZEES
BE%EE® HITEES Nomination and
Audit Executive Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee
gE (EF)* BRENR (/%) @*S% (EEF%)*
H.K. Cheng (Chairman)* Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman) P.W. Liu (Chairman)*
PR 415> =ER BEE .
Laura L.Y. Chen* Nelson W.L. Yuen Ronald J. Arculli*
EinE RETT HiZE 49
P.W. Liu* Terry S. Ng H.K. Cheng*
f] R =8 FR&EE*
Domini(/: C.F. Ho* William P.Y. Ko Laura L.Y. Chen*
fr] AR

Dominic C.F. Ho*

* B IEH7TEE Independent Non-Executive Director

AATWEZEEZH/NIBEMZHAE  An updated list of Directors showing their biographical details is

ERERNBRFEFE - maintained on our website under Profile of Directors.

BT RIFEX - EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:

o HAEEEZE (A2t EEH o Majority of the Directors are Independent Non-Executive
W) RBIHBITESE - Directors, i.e. 6 out of 10 Directors.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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A4 ZF > EEFER Appointments, Re-election and Removal
EEREHTER  £EEZEILE There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
FHENHNESELTRER - WEHRTE for the appointment of new Directors and plans in place for orderly
BEMFHNEEEF:TEc FTBEESY  succession for appointments to the Board. All Directors should be
FEEHRETTEE o subject to re-election at regular intervals.
AR
Compliance EERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
ST A2 EEEIRMAl - EE A Inaccordance with our Articles of Association, one-third of the

BRAR
B=nz—ARBREAEFRE ([BF
A8 mESERABERREENA
B SN BUEBEFAKIE=F
WESE R HERELEEANE
BEEZERAAZBRRASERRE
RE - MEZEARERBECES
HEBREEAFARE  BHEHR
BERAEBEEN °

HOTEEMERARBRIIR —FA
fi 4 E RIZR MR BR 1 OXE REE RS
ZRBEK - BUFRTEEZRE
BREMES  REZERERBHE
HEZEHMGBESRAYR (HRLE=
F—R) —BC HEOT

BILEHIT

EERS Z{EH
B8 HZE2009F AF KRS
R 2415 HE2009FAFAE
BiaE HZE2009FBFEAE
BB HE20MNFBFERS
BiE g HEE20NFHFERS
fa] A8 EE201NFHFRE

RE—FREHEEE  LRBESER
BENFZBIIFRNTES  ARK
RIABIORZE R AT ALE(E  FofM
SHBERGAEET  RARRIBE
ERRRZBUIIFNTESDEBL
ATERE - AR FAIRRR R
BYFRTEEZERRERE -

HMERESUBIIERITESRLE
MARAEINEMIER B AE BT
ZEEHERE  BARBMBEBIULIEHR
TERHRERTEBILIE -

Directors are required to retire from office by rotation for re-election
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting ("AGM"). In addition,
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years, and new appointments to the Board are subject to re-
election by shareholders at the upcoming general meeting. Names of
such Directors eligible for re-election being accompanied by detailed
biography will be stated in the notice of general meeting.

The Executive Directors do not have any service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
Independent Non-Executive Directors are appointed for specific
terms, which coincide with their expected dates of retirement by
rotation at least once every three years, details as follows:

Name of Independent

Non-Executive Director Term of Appointment
Ronald J. Arculli
Laura L.Y. Chen

Until 2009 AGM
Until 2009 AGM

PW. Liu Until 2009 AGM
S.S.Yin Until 2011 AGM
H.K. Cheng Until 2011 AGM
Dominic C.F Ho Until 2011 AGM

To further enhance accountability, any appointment of an
Independent Non-Executive Director who has served the Board

for more than 9 years will be subject to a separate resolution to

be approved by shareholders. We will state in the notice of AGM

the reason why we consider the Independent Non-Executive
Director continues to be independent and our recommendation to
shareholders to vote in favour of the re-election of such Independent
Non-Executive Director.

We have received from each of our Independent Non-Executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and therefore we still consider the
Independent Non-Executive Directors to be independent.
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A.5 EEESF Responsibilities of Directors
BRESATEEMREEAKNAQATE Every Director is required to keep abreast of his/her responsibilities
ENRE  UEAARBKLL H, « as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities
XBEBRER - and development of the Company.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
T BNFEEsEESEENESEERE  Every newly appointed Director will meet with other fellow
HATAlEY HeELREMmEEMIREE A Directors and members of senior management, and will receive a
Comply with | EE&ME * WE&ESEME - EXFEEA comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion

of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the operations and business of the Company, and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, other regulatory requirements, and
especially the governance policies of the Company. The Company
Secretary will continuously update and refresh Directors on areas
regarding their responsibilities and relevant regulations. All Directors
are required to disclose to the Company their offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments.

The Directors are responsible for:

> ensuring continuity of leadership;

> development of sound business strategies;

> availability of adequate capital and managerial resources to
implement the business strategies adopted; and

> adequacy of systems of financial and internal controls and
conduct of business in conformity with applicable laws and
regulations.

Our Executive Director, Mr Terry S. Ng is responsible for overseeing
the financial reporting procedures and internal controls of the
Company and its subsidiaries and compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules with regard to financial reporting and other
accounting-related issues.

We have set out guidelines regarding securities transactions by
Directors under “transactions in the Company’s shares” in our

Code of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”), which are on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Code"). Specific
enquiry has been made to all Directors who have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Code
and the Code of Conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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Code Number SPRIEX Code Provision
A.6 BRIEMAEZEH Supply of and Access to Information
EEREEREREEEANER - £ Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate
ANELEFESENEEEFRBE  information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
MEBER TELIRE - WaEEITHYE  to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
RADNBEZNHEREE - responsibilities as Directors of the Company.
AR
Compliance BEEARER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
Y EERNIETEENEIBEEXMH 0 Full Board or Committee papers will be sent to all Directors or
BT A Z LN EIRTEH BB =XATS Committee members at least three days before the intended date of
Exceeding | BIRTFHIBEESHZEEKE ° a Board Meeting or Committee meeting respectively.

EREREERAZZEERHETR
HEMNEE  UREEREERE
SRMELRERGERDEREM Y
BRAMER - EEEBAT  BE
EeRALFEEREH -

MBEFRORERSAMARRER
MERER  REFTERELE—F
&) - WA ERMEESREEASR -

Management has supplied the Board and its Committees with
adequate information and explanations so as to enable them to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board and its Committees for approval. Management are
also invited to join Board Meetings where appropriate.

All the Directors are entitled to have access to timely information
in relation to our business and make further enquiries where
necessary, and they can have separate and independent access to
senior management.

Best Practice

B TFRIEX - EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o HEHEEREITEREBENSER o Senior management are invited to join the Board Meetings,
BELEEERSE - where appropriate.
B EEREREEAENHFHM Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Coj{aﬂ‘l{ﬁfber TR Code Provision
B.1 7B 2 15 5B B K S RS AH B The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure
fERR G E4R T B BAEMIZF - LA%]  There should be a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy
SEBEMITEEME B E REEIE  on Executive Directors’ remuneration and for fixing the remuneration
EENH TS - packages for all Directors.
Cozfe/ﬁ\‘l{fﬁfber TEEEER Corporate Governance Practices
v BEERFHZESE Nomination and Remuneration Committee
BT A EBERFHZESEN —_ZZ =% A Nomination and Remuneration Committee, set up in 2003,
@ﬁ;\g{ S BRIKEBRIFERRZRBIEHTT now constitutes five Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
HARERR | BE - HRABEMAELLE(ZEEEE  MrPW. Liu (Chairman of the Committee), Mr Ronald J. Arculli,
rf;ﬁﬁi‘rﬂlﬁt ) BERLEAE - BE%LELE R Mr H.K. Cheng, Ms Laura L.Y. Chen and Mr Dominic C.F Ho.
with a L+ R BB L - ZEZBEEF Regular meetings were held to review human resources issues,
F‘::;’f;ﬁ;’e:ge”; mETeR N EMBEBA HER2%  including significant changes in salary structure of the Group and

B BREEHFMERZEANNE R
TEEBEENRREEABR 2GR R E
HrERRE - R=TZ)\TNF
ERN - ZERBTT=ZREH A&
Bl (K eit) E=ZRARZKERE
REEHH -

terms and conditions affecting Directors and senior management.
The Committee met three times in 2008/09 to review, inter alia, the
composition of existing Board members and Directors’ remuneration.
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Corporate Governance Practices

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included, as a minimum, the specific duties as stipulated in the
Listing Rules.

The major work performed by the Committee during the year
included the following:

(@) reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b) made recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management;

(c) determined the specific remuneration packages of all Executive
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments; and

(d) made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
including discretionary bonus and share options, is based on the
following criteria:

> their individual performance;

skill and knowledge;

involvement in the Group's affairs;

their achievement of business targets; and

performance and profitability of the Group.

YYVY

The Committee also considers factors such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Committee obtains benchmark reports from internal and external
sources for evaluation of market trends and the competitive levels
of remuneration being offered to Directors and senior management.
Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to discharge

its duty. The Committee may consult the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer about their proposals relating to the remuneration
of other Executive Directors and have access to professional advice
if considered necessary.

EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o The Nomination and Remuneration Committee comprises
only Independent Non-Executive Directors.

DEVIATION FROM RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICE:

o Disclosure of remuneration payable to members of senior
management.

The Recommended Best Practice to disclose the remuneration of
senior management has not been adopted as it is considered to be
not appropriate. Only details of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed
on an individual and named basis.
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C.1 B BIER Financial Reporting
EEREXARATINXRIE - B KEA  The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible
SELTE - B REEZFTZ - assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects.
AR
Compliance TEEREMR Corporate Governance Practices
Status
v/ BEEHARNTIAEELE LSRRG Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
ausaey | ENPBERAEEE WNAEHRE  statements on a going concern basis, with supporting assumptions
B BAMERRELASENMREZMEE  or qualifications as necessary. The Company'’s financial statements
%%iﬁff ER o RRF 2B #5& VIR £ are prepared in accordance with the Listing Rules, Companies

A REEBI R BB ARG RA
NFRIZREMRE  YERKAA
Bt BERREHEERSEZH
BT RO AT o SN ERED - SRS
ey RE e NG iR B0k AV
z%ﬁﬁﬂiiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁﬂi&ﬁfﬂ‘ﬁﬁ
E2HH o

EENEFR - FHERE  REHFBA
& Ko b AR RUADA AR 22 SR /0 B 4t 30 BE
XA - B RERBL AR B Z AR AN
AR VEH T8 - B RA R 2T

B FRIFEX -
,-;%-‘;5 RUBFEEHRE NIRRT

TRREEBREFH -

o HRFEHBHZE -
RIFEHBEHRERRERL DA E
BRZE - AHEMERR KA
7 0 BORTRERA -

Ordinance and also the accounting principles and practices generally
accepted in Hong Kong. Appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are prudent
and reasonable. A statement by the external auditors, KPMG,

about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent
Auditor's Report on the Company's financial statements.

The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company's position and
prospects in annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory requirements.

EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o We announce our annual results within one month after
the end of the financial year.

DEVIATION FROM RECOMMENDED BEST PRACTICE:

o Production of quarterly financial statements.

The Recommended Best Practice to publish quarterly financial
results has not been adopted as it is considered not practical and
not cost effective for a property company.

PRI SE
Code Number

Code Provision

Requirement

C.2 A B EE Internal Controls
BEEREREAATNAIEIZEZS  The Board should ensure that the Company maintains sound and
BRZEMBAN  URERENIR effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment
BRARABEE ° and the Company's assets.
AR
Compliance EERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
L4 HPMERRIFRASIESIE R4 - (R We maintain a good internal control environment to enable the
SR AT NEPES I R IR - B UEE - 8 5F  internal control systems and procedures to perform effectively.
S @edling HRIFMAEE 7 &KELEKERE ' fE The Code of Conduct details the Group's philosophy in running its

PR B TKEEZIR%E -

R ABPEEIEFIE - B T R MIER
REE 2 ZEBHHAR - I EEXIA
AR - LG RERRIEH S IETAN
EiE - ARSRERERAEE 2 BiE
M rATaEA 2K 2 R ME B ©

business and acts as a benchmark for all staff to follow.

Internal control systems have been designed to allow us to monitor
the Group's overall financial position, safeguard its assets against
loss and misappropriation, to provide reasonable assurance against
fraud and errors, and to manage the risk in failing to achieve the
Group's objectives.
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Corporate Governance Practices

We have a well defined specific limit of authority governing activities
of the Executive Committee, Directors, executives and senior staff.
Annual and mid-year budgets on all capital and revenue items are
prepared and approved by us before being adopted. WWe monitor the
business activities closely and review monthly financial results of
operations against budgets. We also review and update the internal
controls to meet upcoming challenges.

We take extreme precautious measures in the handling of price-
sensitive information. Such information is restricted to a need-to-
know basis.

We maintain an internal audit department which is independent of
our daily operations and accounting functions. The Internal Auditor
reports directly to the Audit Committee. An internal audit program
based on risk assessment methodology was designed which

has been reviewed by the Audit Committee on an annual basis.
On a monthly basis, the Internal Auditor discusses his internal
audit reviews and findings with the management and obtains
management’s responses on various issues. Internal audit reports
are prepared for the Audit Committee every quarter.

Formal meetings are held every six months between the Internal
Auditor and the Audit Committee to discuss internal audit issues.
During Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also
enquires on financial and internal control matters with the external
auditors. The Audit Committee has the authority to have direct
discussion with external auditors in the absence of management if
deemed necessary, and they meet at least once annually for this
purpose. One Executive Director is present at the Audit Committee
meetings to answer enquiries from the Audit Committee and to
report to the Board of Directors on matters arising.

We acknowledged that it is our responsibility to maintain effective
risk management and internal control systems and to review them
twice a year. We manage risks by strategic planning, appointing
appropriately qualified and experienced personnel at senior
management positions, monitoring the Group's performance
regularly, maintaining effective control over capital expenditure and
investments, and setting a high level of Code of Conduct for all
Directors and employees to follow.

The Directors had conducted a review covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Company and its subsidiaries for

the financial year ended 30 June 2009 and were satisfied that

an effective and adequate internal control system had been

in operation. Considerations are also given to the adequacy

of resources, qualifications and experience of the staff of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their
training programs and budget. WWe came to such conclusion based on
our clearly set company policies and procedures, specific limits of
authority, budgetary controls, regular monitoring of performance and
the reports from both the external auditors and the Internal Auditor.

We confirm that there have been no major changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks faced by us from the previous financial
year, and we have the ability to respond to any such changes in our
business and the external environment. Furthermore, there were no
significant internal control problems encountered during the year.
We closely monitor our system of internal control, and had received
further assurance from the Audit Committee that the internal audit
function has been functioning effectively. We have complied with
the Code Provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices in respect of maintaining an effective internal control
system.
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Requirement

Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
B TFRIEX - EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o  HIIRBEANSEFSNE  B#EET o We maintain an internal audit department which is
RENGZ AEEERSFEE - independent of our operation and accounting functions.
o ABEEEOEFERZSEE o The Internal Auditor reports directly to the Audit
o Committee.
Co:reﬁ;{l#friﬁber SPRIEX Code Provision
C.3 EREESE Audit Committee
EERERNMEAMFESRLZAZ The Board should establish formal and transparent arrangements
BE o R Bl J Ann] 4 45 B2 K R A% 8RR for considering how it will apply the financial reporting and internal
FEENBERELERRAFEHEMNZ  control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship
B o with the Company’s auditors.
AR
Compliance TBEEARER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
Y FREEESTIN—NNLNFEHESERE An Audit Committee was established by the Board in 1999, which
T B BRIAKEBIENEZBIEHNTT  now comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors with
Excee,\di:g % DRI AEESLELE (EE€F  appropriate academic and professional qualifications or related

&)~ BRERLZ L - BREEERFAE
BEL - REHABEE Z22MEE
FERIEBIHBERES - EX
REEBFRETRIMAEH  HE
EBEINEZEED KA RRE A - B
BEERARWE @ AstwmAEET
TEZMEMBEARTZER ZA
e - BRZEENAHTERGHE
SNEREMRITHRE (BEEL T
B RZZBZENZAFER B
REGRITTMRES -

EREZBREZBELEE (CHNEAR
ANWEHRRE) 8 LHRAMER
EZARBE -

ZESREFRERE UHESHREE
SBEANZEAFER AEARER
EAMBEESR  MAEREREBHERE
BeZERELBNAE  MINUE
BALTHEMBIZEALSRKE
5 MREREREGEBABRER
MEFZIRALLEEE - TE]
B R HERABITERE -

financial management expertise, namely, Mr H.K. Cheng (Chairman
of the Committee), Ms Laura L.Y. Chen, Mr PW. Liu and Mr Dominic
C.F. Ho. Meetings are held at least two times a year and are
attended by external and internal auditors, the Finance Director and
the Company Secretary for the purpose of discussing the nature
and scope of internal audit work and assessing the Group's internal
controls. Separate meetings will also be held with the external
auditors (in the absence of management) as and when required. The
Audit Committee held two meetings in 2008/09.

Its terms of reference, which are accessible to all via our website,
have included the duties stipulated in the Listing Rules.

The Committee is authorized by the Board to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference; to seek any information it requires
from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate
with any requests made by the Committee; to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice; and to secure the attendance
of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise to their meetings
if necessary. Sufficient resources are provided to the Committee to
discharge its duty.
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Compliance BEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
KEEFENRN B%ZEE=2ET T (AR During the year, the Audit Committee has performed, inter alia, the
BIE) LT ZBE following:
o EFWREIEEMINEIZSENE o reviewed and obtained explanation from management and
BEBEPEHYEE (REEZ) MEFEE  the external auditors on the interim (unaudited) and annual results,
BoRE BFENEEEAERE  including causes of changes from the previous period, effects on
CEE - ERAFeBE 222 - ¥ the application of new accounting policies, compliance with the
FHHEBIMABRBERAEFIENR - LA Listing Rules and relevant legislation, and any audit issues, before
REMZHSEE - REEZEEEREHE  recommending their adoption by the Board of Directors;
mERARE
o ZEERMEBEREZEEZETE e«  considered and proposed to the Board on the re-appointment
EREHMELRMARARZINER  of KPMG as the Company's external auditors;
A
o EERENERIIEZHEIAZ e  considered and approved the procedures and guidelines in
NEIRHEIERE RS 2 IR F TS| employing the external auditors to perform non-audit assignments
for the Company;
o WEIERHBE NIEEAIZ AIZE o received and reviewed the internal audit reports from the
TR Internal Auditor;
o HHNEZZEMME (FEEWT e  meeting with the external auditors in the absence of
FIE) AT A B R management to discuss any audit issues;
o HINEPEEAIRITHELAMESIA  ®  meeting with the Internal Auditor in private to discuss internal
EERETERE audit issues;
o T _TZTN TBHEEZANZL o approved the internal audit program for 2008/09; and
EitatEl s &
o  MAATHALBE M A /ELE o  carried out an annual review of the internal control system of
EEH BEAQAFEERIEE the Company including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
MEBAEFTEMNER - BIERR&S% and experience of staff of the Company's accounting and financial
TARH  UKRBIMESNEIE reporting function, and their training programs and budget.
ErEEBEXREERRE -
B FAIEX : EXCEEDING REQUIREMENT:
o EFEREFESEHEHSYREBELIE o The Audit Committee comprises only Independent Non-
HITESE o Executive Directors.
D EEREINER Delegation by the Board
Co:eﬂ‘ljfffber SFAIESC Code Provision
D.1 EHEINEE Management Functions
ARARIEA—HEIEANTEETEIXR © The Company should have a formal schedule of matters specifically
FEEHEEEERERTEMNSIEKL reserved to the Board and those delegated to management.
FEEEEAENSEIE -
AR
Compliance TEEREMR Corporate Governance Practices
Status
Vi SREEAEBRESHEEERSH/ Senior management, comprising assistant directors and senior
AT KIE S REESHITEELETAE  managers, is responsible for the day-to-day operations and
Comply with | ANEBEZ HEEERITHER - F  administration function of the Group under the leadership of
Requirement | FE 4 TR EIEABEMIES|] - BB the Executive Directors. The Board has given clear directions to
HERTEMLEBAELEESSEHILAE -  management as to the matters that must be approved by the Board
SREEABFARERATEL R before decisions are made on behalf of the Company. The types
Fo-EERBRESMRERABREL of decisions to be delegated by the Board to management include
REZEHEERE  ITESHRTEL  implementation of the strategy and direction determined by the
RSN T - ANEE Y ¥7&E(E - % Board, operation of the Group's businesses, preparation of financial
B RAR R S EREZR - JAKREST statements and operating budgets, and compliance with applicable
WAz EEMEA - KRAGIEEER laws and regulations. These arrangements will be reviewed
HEZH - BREBEAARQTZHE  periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to our needs.
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Co?eﬂ‘lj\ﬁfber SERIMEST Code Provision
D.2 EERETHZES Board Committees
EERETREE @WK VEIIAE Board Committees should be formed with specific written terms
HREERESE S22y EHZEZES of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’ authority and
ENRBE - duties.
BRI
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
V4 HITESE FHREESNEZERF An Executive Committee, Audit Committee, and Nomination
waspy | AEEBDHN—N)\NE - —AN  and Remuneration Committee were formed in 1989, 1999
Comply with | JUVERZZET=FK7 - F@EFE%Z and 2003 respectively. Information on the Audit Committee and
Requirement | E&@MIEZ LRFHMEE S 2 ERIH B Nomination and Remuneration Committee can be found in Code
R E3CFRIARIRC.3KZB.IA © Numbers C.3 and B.1 above.
BITESE Executive Committee
RKANBESRZHTZESE]N— /L. The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors of the
NNEKY  BEKEBIEZ2IEHTT Company was formed in 1989. Its members are all the Executive
E%  HRIAMREIRSLLE - =ERE  Directors of the Company, namely, Mr Ronnie C. Chan, Mr Nelson
£ RETEERSABEELE - HZE W.L Yuen, MrTerry S. Ng and Mr William PY. Ko, who meet
THISRTE S FEUSIEARAQAR 2%, regularly to establish the strategic direction of the Company, and to
B FRREREEE %I c %2  monitor the performance of management. Clear terms of reference
BERMSH A REESE - W2 Ft7E  have been adopted by the Board, and guidelines were also set up
THEXHESFERATEMNEEHE] T4 for certain issues requiring Board approval. Each of the Committee
Bl BRNZESKEHTR/EREML members has full understanding on determining which issues
ZEABALXHEERHEERTE » WLZE require a decision of the full Board and which are delegated by the
HrRXHEESHEEERS Board to the Committee or management.
E HE R R EE Communication with Shareholders
Co?eﬁ‘lj\ll%iiﬁber <PAIESC Code Provision
E.1 BEEE Effective Communication
EEREEZHERFHEFRFEE - The Board should endeavor to maintain an on-going dialogue with
THIEBRRAFASx EMRES shareholders and in particular, use annual general meetings or other
HEREER RSB PIF 2 A - general meetings to communicate with shareholders and encourage
their participation.
AR
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
V4 AANFIzRFEREeAESZHERE Our AGM provides a good opportunity for communication between
HATAE EHEBEBERK - EERNKKZEZES the Board and shareholders. The Chairmen of the Board and of
Comply with | Z EFE— ¥ HFEABREBRHFEIEH the Committees are normally present to answer queries raised by
Requirement | 7 RHRE - INERZHEI G Fth & HFHE  shareholders. External auditors also attend the AGM every year.
FRE o FAFRSBEEREBXHER  Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to shareholders at
AELBTHPIRL - HEZLE2HEZ least 20 clear business days before the meeting. Each separate issue
FRE - E=RATFEBIIHNEEE is proposed by a separate resolution by the Chairman. The meeting
BB hE R - AFEASERREER  enjoys strong participation from shareholders. Six directors (out of
HE o fE@8+2EEh - XBEE ten), including the Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit
(BIEEER  BEZZEE@XEMIEE  Committee and Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
LHFMEEeTF) BETEF 2B Committee, attended last year's AGM.
FRE o
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Requirement

Rg LBEREZEERE)  AARES
AR B RIS RRE o

AR A R E AR - A B A
NEZFEMBIA FEERK AR WE
HEHEARRF °

shall forthwith proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by shareholders can be sent in
writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered
address or by e-mail to our company.

p— —
(] e =y
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
V4 HWEBEERTLDRARAT A ZAEER  On the requisition of our shareholders holding not less than 5% of
A7ZREIZRHENR (BRIREEKE  our paid-up capital as at the date of the deposit of the requisition
?ﬁnglsuﬁi B#A FiiFRE RERATZIRE carrying the right of voting at our general meetings, our Directors

Requirement

ZENFRFRNGZBEEFHAHT
PR AR R RRIRHER TR o
SHEAE A TAUBERRERXZIR
KERHEAG - 8L BEEREZRNU
BEFTARRGERZR - REAK
RIBHURR T ETRRN AR
FeMER-_ZENFRERG L
REMAZER  HPBEMBERE -
BEEkREMc EEREFE  RBR
BT - BREEARKREDARR &
RERRERNF A F R AR R F) R
R ZWETE - RERRERGA
W

Co?eﬂ‘lj\fiiﬁber SPRIEX Code Provision
E.2 VeV Voting by Poll
RAGEERBREABUIZREZ SR E The Company should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the
ITRAFH IR © detailed procedure for conducting a poll.
AR
Compliance EERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
7 AAFl EEBEEARE ([ZZEZ/\&EH Our last AGM was held on 3 November 2008 (“2008 AGM") at our
ATRIEX FRE]) RZTZN\F+—HA=H registered office. Notice convening the 2008 AGM had detailed the
STa T AR ara - .
Comply with | EARRA ZAMIFERETT - BF = procedures for and the rights of shareholders to demand a poll.

The meeting was attended by 119 shareholders present in person

or by proxy. At the meeting, the Chairman had demanded a poll on
each of the resolutions submitted for voting, and the shareholders
were provided with detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

All resolutions tabled at the 2008 AGM, inter alia, the financial
statements, re-elected Directors, re-appointed auditors and renewed
general mandates were voted on by poll, and the results of poll
voting were posted on the websites of our company and the Stock
Exchange in the evening on the same day. Summary of the poll
results is set out below:

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09
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EHRZR Ordinary Resolutions

B2tk Percentage (%)
10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Fff&=F Remarks

HWHEE—TTN\FAA=THILFE

Z I BHRRER R A RS

To adopt the Financial Statements and
Reports of the Directors and Auditors for
the year ended 30 June 2008

029
For - 99.990%

ey " HNNNEEEEEN ..
HK51 cents per share
* ﬁ%egge%fjfril-l%&ﬁﬁé :jsif;rector . . . . . . . . . - %)?Z 99.938%
bvetarreciir o | | | | | | | | | [eare
* %ifli?&%iiﬁfﬁigﬁa%a Director . . . . . . . . . - %)}rﬂ? 99.678%
* %i@iﬁcﬁfaﬁrﬁﬁﬁnﬁ%ﬁ?gﬁafa Director . . . . . . . . . . %)}rﬁk: 80.656%
3E BREEERETEFHS Bk
TT) authorize tfe Board of Directors to fix . . . . . . . . . - For - 99.997 %
Directors’ fees
BEESHEMEBAMARA RZEA - =924
e -Libi it | | | | | | | | [ekleye
To re-appoint KPMG as Auditors of the
Company at a fee to be agreed with the
Directors
A BTEZHMBERARRRGD 2 ZiE =924
T/:) approve a generaT\r:andZte to the . . . . . . . . . - For - 98.894%
Directors to purchase the Company’s own
shares
5B W TERHITHRG < K& =924
Ti approveggene?al mafdate to the . . . . . . . - . . For - 73.753%
Directors to issue additional shares
5C RTESZRNKER 2RMEE MAT T =994

ZATIREE A

To authorize the Directors to include the
number of repurchased shares re. issue
of shares

For - 76.172%

- X For
- % Against
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The Code of Conduct also sets out guidelines on matters in
relation to suppliers and contractors; customers and consumers;
responsibilities to shareholders and the financial community;
employment practices; and responsibilities to the community.

In order to monitor and enforce the compliance of the Code of
Conduct, functional managers are responsible for ensuring their
subordinates fully understand and comply with the standards and
requirements as stipulated. Any violation thereof will result in the
employee being disciplined, including termination of employment.
Suspected corruption or other forms of criminality will be reported
to the Independent Commission Against Corruption or appropriate
authorities. The Executive Directors will also answer directly to any
Board member for impartial and efficient handling of complaints
received from all shareholders and potential shareholders; customers
and consumers; suppliers and contractors and our employees.

Also, all employees above a designated level are required to
complete and sign a Statement of Interest annually declaring their
interest, directly or indirectly, with the Company and our subsidiaries
and associated companies, so as to make sure that all operations
are managed in accordance with the highest standards of practice
and corporate governance.

[5]==: ===l
liﬂléﬁﬂk?ﬂ. EILE
Compliance TEERER Corporate Governance Practices
Status
EZRERBER_ZEZNF+H = The Board confirms that there are no changes proposed to the
+THREFTZBFEASG ([ZZTZTNE Articles of Association of the Company at the forthcoming AGM
RBEKRE|) BEEIANQAT 244 to be held on 20 October 2009 (“2009 AGM”). The important
ST2/ME) - NMEAMKEEZEREMERM shareholders’ dates for the coming financial year, which include the
WEZERH  BEREMKEEZE= Board Meetings for the declaration of interim and final dividends
ET-—ZTEXA=THILFEEZHHM for the year ending 30 June 2010 and the AGM, are expected to be
BRAHREMBTHNESEEEA  held at around late January 2010, late July 2010 and in October 2010
BHE - ARBAFAREHE - 951451  respectively.
—ETF-HFAK - ZZE-—ZTF+A
K~ AR =T —FF+ BT -
F BB #% # & Voluntary Disclosure
F1 BE T2 Auditors’ Remuneration
—EENFRAFRE | Hﬁ%ﬁt}&ﬁ KPMG was re-appointed as our external auditors by shareholders
Eéf%%%lﬁ@ﬁfﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ?%$ at the 2008 AGM until the conclusion of the 2009 AGM. They are
ZONEZEA EE 2T j‘LE}Ei primarily responsible for providing audit services in connection with
ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁt o RE L FEEHEIBERE  the annual consolidated financial statements.
iRE M SRR R R -
FR N TFINEZEERKE Z 484  During the year, the total remuneration in respect of services
PN provided by the external auditors is as follows:
2009 2008
HK$M HK$M
BEEET BEKBEET
TR TEZE RS Statutory audit services 55 5.3
oo 765 K Eo A AR 75 Tax and other services 1.6 0.1
71 5.4
F2 R FER Code of Conduct
ARATE—NLAMHEREADEES  We have adopted a corporate Code of Conduct since 1994 which
R WAKEH - AEIT3EH B s updated from time to time, setting out clear guidelines for
TH=EEZ2EMES : employees on matters such as:
>  REGERE A >  soliciting or accepting advantages;
> REFE > offering advantages;
> Ejj E=)EM R TERB<FE >  observing local laws when working in another jurisdiction;
AR
> Jﬁig'é_flj STETZR > handling of conflicts of interests situations;
> RERBERABIME > handling confidential information/company property;
> (ERAEMMBARLS > use of information and communication systems;
> EBSPEESFER] K > compliance with the Code of Conduct; and
> ETARERNDZRS ° >  transactions in the Company's shares.
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Interests of Directors and Senior Management

RZZEZNFANA=+H E=HF
ARERE TR AAEEEEER
AR (MEEEKE ) 2RO ERZFE

Details of Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and our
listed parent company, Hang Lung Group Limited (“HLG") as at 30
June 2009 are as follows:

R
ANE EEEE
The Company HLG

R 43 A R R 4% 5 1
(RBEE) (RHEE)
B8 E Share Options B E Share Options
BEENA Name of Directors No. of Shares (No. of Shares) = No. of Shares (No. of Shares)
BRENR Ronnie C. Chan = 25,570,000 - 11,790,000
BR&E S.S.Yin - - — -
=ER Nelson W.L. Yuen - 30,746,000 - 8,000,000
BEE Ronald J. Arculli 724,346 - 1,089,975 -
B H.K. Cheng - - _ _
PR EE 14 Laura L.Y. Chen - = = =
BE PW. Liu 70,000 = - _
Gy Dominic C.F. Ho - _ _ _
247 Terry S. Ng - 23,039,000 = 4,338,000
=1RE William PY. Ko - 18,730,000 - 1,024,000

RZZEZNFAA=1H SHEE
ABEEBE—FTNAELTERAR
Az R HARE - EARRFE BT
AEAZZHNA - HETFE—B
ATERERER ZRMDEE - 214
ZARBBITRABS 2T —= -

The share options held by senior management as at 30 June 2009
totalled 18.7 million shares, representing approximately 0.456% of the
issued share capital of the Company. They also held share options of
HLG totalling 1.6 million shares, representing approximately 0.12%
of the issued share capital of that company.

Fa BREEH

Shareholder Information

R-ZETAFENA=1+H"  2AF (8
m%l AIERESEEUINZRER) F
BTthERThEATEEAT—B
IRARRIRAD - (A AR A B BITRA
Aozt L= mEABSKEE
TZ_EEFT=EETL

As at 30 June 2009, the number of Shares of the Company which
were in the hands of the public (i.e. other than those held by our
parent company, HLG) was 1,959,976,100 (47.3% of total issued
share capital), with market capitalization of HK$50,273 million.
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R-ZEZENFNA=THZIREMRE Details of holders of Shares by domicile as at 30 June 2009

HFFHAT : are as follows:
BRR ERE
Shareholders Shareholdings

A" Aok REE Aok
P Domicile No. % No. of Shares %
EB Hong Kong 3,049 94.10 4,106,581,411 99.06
B (A Mainland China 61 1.88 4,425,132 0.11
! Macau 7 0.22 408,173 0.01
=01 Taiwan 2 0.06 593 0.00
SN Fa% | Australia & New Zealand 10 0.31 4,869 0.00
nEAKRER | Canada & USA 42 1.30 2,440,760 0.06
HEae South East Asia 48 1.48 3,432,917 0.08
R United Kingdom 15 0.46 18,072 0.00
Hh Others 6 0.19 28,336,743 0.68
st TOTAL 3,240 100.00 4,145,648,670 100.00

NRZZZENFNA=1THZKEHER Details of holders of Shares by holding range as at 30 June 2009

SAERFBET are as follows:
PR 3R> BRE*
Shareholders* Shareholdings*
A" Aok REE Aok

HFREAR Holding Range No. % No. of Shares %
1-1,000% 1-1,000 shares 1,464 45.19 691,379 0.02
1,001-5,000/% 1,001-5,000 shares 802 24.75 2,208,746 0.05
5,001-10,000/% 5,001-10,000 shares 366 11.30 3,035,923 0.07
10,001-100,0000% 10,001-100,000 shares 503 15.52 17,266,984 0.42
100,000/% LA £ Over 100,000 shares 105 3.24 4,122,445,638 99.44
@t TOTAL 3,240 100.00 4,145,648,670 100.00
* BEZENt+—R2EPREFER W RS * incorporating, in their respective shareholdings range, 341 participants of Central

([RREERF ) AT BEEMBZE Clearing and Settlement System (“CCASS") holding a total of 2,744,291,426 shares

BREMBIAN  UBEBPREEREABRR registered in the name of HKSCC Nominees Limited

AEBRERFARA T EAEDTHE =+
NE—FHE=+RBRH
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We are committed to disclose relevant information on our activities
to our shareholders and investors through regular analysts’ briefings,
press conferences and press releases, e-mails and our website,
apart from our annual and interim reports. All enquiries and
proposals received from shareholders, investors, media or the public
are responded to by Executive Directors, Company Secretary or
appropriate members of senior management.

The Company’s information including the terms of reference of
Board Committees is also accessible to all via our website. Terms

of reference of Board Committees are also available on request.
Besides providing traditional financial data, our website also contains
the most current information including properties available for sale
and leasing, latest issued capital, updated substantial shareholders’
interests in shares, major corporate events and frequently asked
guestions.
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Moving Forward

Corporate governance practices keep evolving in light of the
changing business environment and developing regulatory
reforms. We constantly keep track of the latest corporate
governance developments and review our practices to
strengthen our corporate governance standards and align
ourselves with international best practices.
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Mr Ronnie Chichung Chan

Chairman

Aged 59, Mr Chan joined the Group in 1972, was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1986 and
became Chairman in 1991. He is also Chairman of Hang Lung
Group Limited. Mr Chan is a Vice-President of The Real Estate
Developers Association of Hong Kong, a Vice Chairman of the
Asia Society and Chairman of its Hong Kong Center, and an
advisor to the China Development Research Foundation of the
State Council of the People’s Republic of China. Mr Chan also
serves on the governing or advisory bodies of several think-
tanks and universities, including the Hong Kong University

of Science and Technology and the University of Southern
California, USA, where he received his MBA.

Mr Shang Shing Yin

Vice Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Aged 78, MrYin joined Hang Lung in 1970 and was appointed
to the Board of Hang Lung Properties Limited in 1980. A past
Managing Director, he has been the Vice Chairman since 1992.
He has over 20 years of experience in the fields of property
investment and development, and is a qualified banker with

a Banking Diploma from The Chartered Institute of Bankers in
London, UK. MrYin is also the Vice Chairman of Hang Lung
Group Limited.
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Mr Nelson Wai Leung Yuen
Managing Director

Aged 58, Mr Yuen joined Hang Lung Group Limited, the holding
company, as its Financial Controller in 1978. When Hang Lung
Properties Limited became a subsidiary of Hang Lung Group in
1980, he began to assume operating responsibility in various
areas of Hang Lung Properties Limited's activities. He became
an Executive Director in 1986 and was appointed Managing
Director of the Company and its holding company in 1992.
Prior to joining Hang Lung Group, Mr Yuen practised public
accounting for four years in England and Hong Kong. He is

a graduate of the University of Manchester, UK, a Fellow of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and an Associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants. Mr Yuen is a Director and Member of

the Executive Committee of The Real Estate Developers
Association of Hong Kong.

Mr Ronald Joseph Arculli cvo, 6Bs, o8E, Jp
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 70, Mr Arculli joined the Board in 1980. Mr Arculli is

a practising solicitor and was a Member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong from 1988 to 2000, representing the
Real Estate and Construction functional constituency between
1991 and 2000. He was first appointed a non-official member
of the Executive Council of the HKSAR in November 2005. He
has a distinguished record of public service and has served
on numerous government committees and advisory bodies.
Mr Arculli is the Independent Non-Executive Chairman of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an Independent
Non-Executive Director of SCMP Group Limited and a Non-
Executive Director of HKR International Limited, Hongkong
Electric Holdings Limited, Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited,
Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land Company Limited
and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited. He was also an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Shanghai Century
Acquisition Corporation (whose shares are listed on the
American Stock Exchange).
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Dr Hon Kwan Cheng css, 0BE, Jp
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 82, Dr Cheng joined the Group in 1993. Dr Cheng
obtained an engineering degree from Tianjin University and a
post-graduate diploma from Imperial College, London, UK, of
which he is a Fellow. He is a past President, Honorary Fellow
and Gold Medallist of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Sciences,
and past Vice President, Fellow and Gold Medallist of The
Institution of Structural Engineers, Fellow of The Institution

of Civil Engineers, UK, Honorary Fellow of The Institution of
Engineers, Australia, and an Authorized Person and Registered
Structural Engineer in Hong Kong, State Class/Registered
Structural Engineer qualification. Dr Cheng was a Member of
both the Executive and Legislative Councils and Chairman of
the Hong Kong Housing Authority. Dr Cheng is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Wing Hang Bank Limited, Agile
Property Holdings Limited and Tianjin Development Holdings
Limited. He is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Hang Lung Group Limited.

Ms Laura Lok Yee Chen

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 61, Ms Chen joined Hang Lung in 1997 She has been
involved in the banking, real estate, and financial service
industries for over twenty years, both in Hong Kong and in
the USA. Since 1993 she has been a director of the Sterling
Group — — a private investment entity — — and managing
investment portfolios in global capital markets, with special
interests in emerging markets and high-yield products. Over
the past few years her professional career has transitioned
into the direction of the development and management of
philanthropic programs and activities. She is the Executive
Chair of Hong Kong based ZeShan Foundation. On a personal
level, she serves on the advisory councils of the Hopkins-
Nanjing Center — — a joint program between the Johns Hopkins
and Nanjing Universities, the Asia Society Hong Kong Center,
and numerous non-profit organizations. Ms Chen holds an
MBA from the George Washington University in Washington,
DC, USA, and a post-graduate certificate in International
Banking from the University of Virginia, USA. Ms Chen is also
an Independent Non-Executive Director of Hang Lung Group
Limited.
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Professor Pak Wai Liu sss, sp
Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 61, Professor Liu joined the Board as an Independent
Non-Executive Director in 1998. Educated at Princeton
University and Stanford University, USA, Professor Liu is
Professor of Economics and was formerly Pro-Vice-Chancellor
of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He holds a number
of positions related to his field of study, including Director

of the Hong Kong and Asia-Pacific Economies Research
Programme of the Hong Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies
and Distinguished Fulbright Scholar in 2000-01. Professor Liu
serves on many government advisory bodies. He is currently
a Member of the Provisional Minimum Wage Commission,
the Independent Commission on Remuneration for Members
of the Executive Council and the Legislature, and Officials
under the Political Appointment System of the HKSAR,

the Independent Commission on Remuneration for the
Members of the District Councils of the HKSAR, the Aviation
Development Advisory Committee and the Commission on
Strategic Development. He is also a Director of the Hong Kong
Institute for Monetary Research and a Non-Executive Director
of the Securities and Futures Commission. He was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) in 1999, and appointed Justice
of Peace (JP) in 2006.

Mr Dominic Chiu Fai Ho

Independent Non-Executive Director

Aged 58, Mr Ho joined the Board as an Independent Non-
Executive Director in April 2008. Mr Ho retired as co-
chairman of KPMG, China and HKSAR on 31 March 2007

He obtained his degrees at the University of Houston in the
United States and is a member of the American Institute of
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He serves as a member of the
Corruption Prevention Advisory Committee of Independent
Commission Against Corruption and a member of the
Insurance Advisory Committee, both in Hong Kong. Mr Ho is
also the Non-Executive and Independent Director of Singapore
Telecommunications Limited.
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Mr Terry Szeyuen Ng

Executive Director

Aged 49, Mr Ng has been with the Group as an Executive
Director since 2001, and is responsible for two areas of the
Group'’s activities. As Director of Finance and Administration,
he leads the Group's strategic and corporate planning, financial
investments, and relations with the investment community.

In this role, he also manages the Group's organizational and
support functions. As Director of Leasing and Management,
Mr Ng oversees management of the Group's property
investment portfolio. Mr Ng is a Fellow of CPA Australia and
holds a Bachelor's degree in Commerce from the University

of New South Wales, Australia, as well as a Master’'s degree

in Business Administration from the Asia International Open
University (Macau). In addition, he was appointed as a member
of the Dual Filing Advisory Group of the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr Ng is also an Executive Director of Hang
Lung Group Limited.

Mr William Pak Yau Ko

Executive Director

Aged 50, Mr Ko joined the Group in 1994 as Senior Project
Manager and was promoted to Assistant Director in 2002. He
was appointed Executive Director in 2005 and is responsible
for property development and project management both in
Hong Kong and China. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from the University

of Liverpool, UK. He also has an Executive MBA degree
jointly awarded by The Kellogg School of Management of
Northwestern University, USA and The School of Business
and Management of the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. He is a Member of the Royal Institute of British
Architects and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects. He is a
Registered Architect in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ko practised architecture in the
United Kingdom, United States and Hong Kong.
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Ms Velencia Lee
Company Secretary
Assistant Director — Finance & Administration

Aged 44, Ms Lee joined the Group as Accounting Manager

in 1997 and was promoted to Group Chief Accountant in

2000. She was promoted to Assistant Director in 2006 and
was appointed Company Secretary in 2007. Having previously
worked in the finance and auditing field in London and Hong
Kong, Ms Lee is a graduate of the Imperial College of Science,
Technology and Medicine, London, UK, and an Associate of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr Henry Kam Ling Cheung

Assistant Director — Leasing & Management

Aged 53, Mr Cheung joined the Group as an Executive
Assistant in 1983. He has worked in the Leasing and
Management Division since 1984 and was promoted to

Senior Property Manager in 1994. Mr Cheung was appointed
Assistant Director in 2006. He has a Bachelor's degree in
Economics from the University of Victoria, Canada and an MBA
degree from Southern lIllinois University, USA.

Mr Hau Cheong Ho

Assistant Director — Finance & Administration

Aged 49, Mr Ho joined the Group as Assistant Director in
2008. He possesses over 20 years of finance and accounting
experience and has previously worked for corporations in
the UK, Australia and Hong Kong. He holds an MBA from
The University of Melbourne, Australia and a Bachelor of
Commerce Degree in Accounting from The University of
Birmingham, UK. Mr Ho is an Associate of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and also The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.
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Mr Roy Poon Kwong Ho

Assistant Director — Leasing & Management (China)

Aged 58, Mr Ho joined the Group in 1992 as Property
Manager, and has been responsible for projects, leasing and
property management in mainland China since 1993. He was
appointed Assistant Director in 2005. Mr Ho holds a Doctorate
from the University of the Pacific, USA.

Mr Raymond Ping Yu Lee

Assistant Director — Project Development

Aged 46, Mr Lee joined the Group as Assistant Director —
Project Development in 2009. Mr Lee possesses over 20 years'
experience in architectural design and project management
with various consultants and property developers. He holds
the Postgraduate Diploma in Architecture and a Bachelor
degree in Architecture from the Heriot-Watt University, UK. He
is a Member of the Royal Institute of British Architects.

Mr William Yu Qiang Wang

Assistant Director

Aged 54, Mr Wang joined The Grand Gateway, Shanghai in
1993 as Deputy General Manager. He was appointed Director
of Shanghai Kong Kui Property Development Co., Ltd. in 2003,
and was nominated Board Chairman and General Manager in
2005. Mr Wang was promoted to Assistant Director in 2009.
He is a graduate of the Economics Faculty in Zhong Gong
Zhong Yang Dang Xiao and a qualified accountant accredited
by the Ministry of Finance People’s Republic of China. Mr
Wang has been appointed as a Committee Member of the
Shanghai Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference
and Committee Member of two designated districts of the
Shanghai Municipal People’s Congress (Standing Committee)
for several years, and is now a Committee Member of the
Shanghai Xuhui District of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.
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Mr Wilson Wong

Assistant Director — Marketing

Aged 59, Mr Wong worked at the Group in the 1970s and
rejoined in 1982 as Marketing Manager. He was appointed
Director of Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Limited in 1990
prior to being appointed Assistant Director — Marketing of
Hang Lung Properties Limited in 2002. He holds a Bachelor

of Science degree and post-graduate qualifications in Urban
Land Economics and Mortgage Lending from the University of
British Columbia, Canada. A licensed estate agent and a Fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administration,

Mr Wong serves as a Member of the Legal Sub-committee
and the China Sub-committee of The Real Estate Developers
Association of Hong Kong. He was a member of both the
Estate Agents Authority, and the Land Sub-Committee of Land
and Building Advisory Committee.

Mr Henry Tze Yin Yiu

Assistant Director — Project Development

Aged 55, MrYiu joined the Group in 1986 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Project Development (China) in 20086.
He was appointed General Manager — Jinan in 2007 and was
promoted to Assistant Director — Project Development in
2009. Mr Yiu possesses over 20 years of experience in project
management.

Mr Desmond Chun Cheong Lai

Senior Manager — Internal Audit

Aged 52, Mr Lai joined the Group in 1988 as Chief Accountant.
He assumed senior executive position of Grand Hotel Group
Limited in 1992. In 2003, Mr Lai was transferred to Hang Lung
Properties Limited as Senior Manager — Internal Audit. He
has a Bachelor’'s degree in Commerce from the University of
Western Australia, and is a Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a CPA member of CPA
Australia.
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Ms Mina Pou Lam Lai
Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 55, Ms Lai joined the Group in 1995 as Corporate
Services Manager. She was appointed as Central Purchasing
Manager in 2003 and was promoted to Senior Manager in
January 2007. Ms Lai was appointed as Senior Manager —
Leasing & Management in September 2007. She holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University
of Leicester, UK.

Ms May Lam K.

Senior Manager — Corporate Communications

Aged 39, Ms Lam joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Corporate Communications in 2009. Ms Lam possesses

13 years' experience in public relations and corporate
communications. She holds a Master of Public Administration
degree from the Seattle University, USA and a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Communications from the University of Washington,
USA.

Mr Shiu Wo Lam

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 49, Mr Lam joined the Group as Senior Manager —
Project Development in 2007. Mr Lam possesses over 25
years of experience in mechanical and electrical design and
project management with consultant firm. He also gained
exposure in development projects in PRC. He holds a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree in Building Services Engineering from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is a Chartered
Engineer and Registered Professional Engineer. He is also

a Member of The Chartered Institution of Building Services
Engineers, UK, American Society of Heating, Refrigerating
and Air Conditioning Engineers, Inc, USA and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers.
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Mr Andrew Chee Man Lee

Senior Manager — Finance

Aged 50, Mr Lee joined the Group in 2008 as Senior Manager
— Finance. He possesses over 25 years of experience in
finance and has exposure in the commercial sector. Mr

Lee holds a Master of Arts Degree from The University of
Lancaster, UK, a Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University
of London, UK and a Bachelor of Law Degree from Tsinghua
University, PRC. He is also a member of Canadian Certified
General Accountants Association of Hong Kong, a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an Associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, an
Associate of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and an Associate of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants.

Mr Moses Woon Tim Leung
General Manager — Shenyang

Aged 42, Mr Leung joined the Group as Senior Manager

— Project Development in March 2007 and was appointed
General Manager — Shenyang in June 2007. Mr Leung
possesses over 15 years of experience in project design with
various consultant firms and exposure in PRC projects. He
holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Architectural Studies and

a Bachelor of Architecture Degree from The University of
Hong Kong. Mr Leung is a Registered Architect in Hong Kong,
a Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and an
Authorized Person under the Buildings Ordinance.
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Mr Chris Yin Chun Ng

General Manager — Shenyang

Aged 49, Mr Ng joined the Group as General Manager —
Shenyang in 2005. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ng had over
20 years' experience in project management with public and
private organizations, including 10 years’ exposure in mainland
China. He holds a Master's degree in Business Administration,
a Higher Diploma and an Associateship in Mechanical
Engineering, and a Diploma in Management Studies from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is also a Member of The
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr Thomas Wai Ho Ng

Senior Manager — Project Development

Aged 44, Mr Ng joined the Group in 1995 as Project Manager
and was promoted to Senior Manager in 2007. He possesses
over 19 years' experience in architectural design and project
management in Hong Kong. Mr Ng holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Architectural Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture
degree from The University of Hong Kong. He is also a
Registered Architect in Hong Kong and a Member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Architects.

Mr Eric Wing Hong Szeto

Senior Manager — Marketing

Aged 40, Mr Szeto joined the Group in 1992 and was promoted
to Senior Manager — Marketing in 2004. He possesses over
17 years' experience in property development and marketing.
He holds a Bachelor's degree in Economics from the University
of Western Ontario, Canada, a Master’s degree in Information
Systems from the City University of Hong Kong and a
Postgraduate Diploma in Surveying (Real Estate Development)
from The University of Hong Kong.
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Mr Oliver Chun Tien

General Manager — Wuxi

Aged 44, Mr Tien joined the Group as General Manager —
Wuxi in 2007. Mr Tien possesses over 17 years' experience in
project design and management with various consultant firms
and developers, including exposure in management of China
projects. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Architectural
Studies and a Bachelor of Architecture degree from The
University of Hong Kong. Mr Tien is a Registered Architect

in Hong Kong, a Member of the Royal Institute of British
Architects and The Hong Kong Institute of Architects. Mr Tien
is also an Authorized Person under the Buildings Ordinance.

Ms Iris Siu Wai Tsui

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management (China)

Aged 37 Ms Tsui joined the Group in 2001 and was promoted
to Manager — Leasing & Management (China) in 2006.

In 2008, she was appointed Senior Manager — Leasing &
Management (China).

Mr Walter King Yee Wong

Senior Manager — Information Technology

Aged 56, Mr Wong joined the Group in 1979. He assumed the
position of Computer Manager in 1988 and was promoted to
Senior Manager — Information Technology in 2005. Mr Wong is
a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.
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Mr Ronald Kam Fai Yan

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 47 Mr Yan joined the Group as Assistant Property
Manager in 1994 and was promoted to Property Manager in
2002. In 2006, he was appointed Senior Manager — Leasing &
Management. Mr Yan has a Master of Social Science degree in
Housing Policy & Practice from the University of Birmingham,
UK.

Ms Cora Yuet Ngor Yiu

Senior Manager — Leasing & Management

Aged 46, Ms Yiu joined the Group in 1990 and was promoted
to Property Manager in 2001. In 2008, she was appointed
Senior Manager — Leasing & Management. Ms Yiu has a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University
of Leicester, UK and a Bachelor of Science degree in Estate
Management from The University of Reading, UK.

Ms Yun Zhang

Senior Manager — Legal & Secretarial

Aged 34, Ms Zhang joined the Group in 2008 as Senior
Manager — Legal & Secretarial. Ms Zhang possesses over
10 years of experience in the PRC legal field. She holds a
Master’s Degree in Law and a Bachelor of Law Degree from
the Fudan University, Shanghai. Ms Zhang is qualified as a
Lawyer by the Ministry of Justice of PRC since 1998.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together
with the audited Financial Statements for the year ended 30
June 2009.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
and through its subsidiaries, property investment for rental
income, property development for sales and leasing, car park
management and property management.

An analysis of the turnover and trading results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) by
business and geographical segments during the financial year
is set out in Note 2 on the Financial Statements.

Principal Subsidiaries and Jointly Controlled Entities

A list of principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities,
together with their places of operations and incorporation and
particulars of their issued share capital/registered capital, is
set out in Notes 33 and 34 on the Financial Statements.

Financial Results

The profit of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2009, and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that
date are set out in the Financial Statements on pages 140 to
198.

Ten-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last ten financial years is set out on page
199 of the annual report.

Dividends

The directors now recommend a final dividend of HK51 cents
per share which, together with the interim dividend of HK15
cents per share paid on 17 April 2009, makes a total of HK66
cents per share in respect of the year ended 30 June 2009.
The proposed final dividend, if approved by the shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting on 20 October 2009, will be paid
on 13 November 2009 to shareholders whose names appear
on the Register of Members on 20 October 2009.
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Major Suppliers and Customers

During the year, both the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group's 5 largest suppliers combined and the
percentage of turnover or sales attributable to the Group's 5
largest customers combined were less than 30% of the total
purchases and turnover or sales of the Group respectively.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 21 on the Financial
Statements.

Donations
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$9.8 million (2008: HK$34.4 million).

Fixed Assets
Details of movements in fixed assets during the year are set
out in Note 9 on the Financial Statements.

Bank Loans
Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 30 June 2009 are
set out in Note 18 on the Financial Statements.

Borrowing Costs Capitalization
Borrowing costs capitalized by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$152.8 million (2008: HK$179.7 million).

Major Group Properties
Details of major properties of the Group as at 30 June 2009
are set out on pages 62 to 68 of the annual report.
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Share Capital

During the year, the issued and fully paid share capital was
increased by an issue of 536,000 (2008: 2,168,000) shares of
HK$1.00 each for the total consideration of HK$5,278,500 as
a result of the exercise of share options under the Company’s
share option scheme.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 20 on the Financial
Statements.

Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and as at the
date of this report are listed on page 200 and their brief
biographical details are set out on pages 115 to 119 of the
annual report. Details of their remuneration are set out in Note
4 on the Financial Statements.

In accordance with Articles 103 and 104 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr Ronald J. Arculli, Ms Laura L.Y.
Chen and Mr PW. Liu retire from the Board by rotation at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

The appointments of independent non-executive directors are
for specific terms (not exceeding 3 years) which coincide with
their expected dates of retirement by rotation in accordance
with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association.
The executive directors do not have any service contract

with the Company which is not determinable within one

year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract with the
Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries
which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company, its holding company or any of their
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a director of the
Company was materially interested, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year or at the end
of the year.

Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 30 June 2009, the interests or short positions of each of
the directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to Part XV

of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO are as follows:
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The Company Hang Lung Group Limited
B#T RiE g B#17 RIS E
BAZ RB R BAZ ARE R
BOlt (FizE1) Bolt (FizE2)
RHEE % of  No. of Shares RIHEE % of  No. of Shares
EE No. of Issued  under Option No. of Issued  under Option
2 F1n Name of Directors  Capacity Shares Capital (Note 1) Shares Capital (Note 2)
REE  fEA Ronnie C. Chan Personal - - 25,570,000 - - 11,790,000
BRHE - S.S.Yin = - - - - _ _
=ER A Nelson W.L. Yuen  Personal - - 30,746,000 - - 8,000,000
EfE  {HAKR  Ronald J. Arculli  Personal & 724,346 0.02 - 1,089,975 0.08 -
NG Corporate

HEH - H.K. Cheng = - - - - _ _
- Laura LY. Chen = = = = = = =
BrE B PW. Liu Family 70,000 = - - - _
g - Dominic C.F Ho - = - - - _ _
Rtr  fAA Terry S. Ng Personal - - 23,039,000 - - 4,338,000
SiRE A William PY. Ko Personal - - 18,730,000 - - 1,024,000
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Notes

1. REARDFZ R0 HIRERT 8RR
Options granted under the Share Option Sch of the Company

ARIE EAAE AT R R 2 AR B
No. of Shares under Option GRRTEE
= (7#)
R Exercise
#1/7/2008 Granted 730/6/2009  plio By
B =E As at During As at Share A BN
Date Granted %44 Name 1/7/2008 the Year 30/6/2009 (HKS) Vesting Period Expiry Date
20/5/2004 BRES R Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 - 5,090,000 $9.20  #220/5/2005%225% 19/5/2014
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 7,126,000 - 7,126,000 25% from 20/5/2005
KR+7T Terry S. Ng 3,239,000 - 3,239,000 7420/5/20064£25%
=R William PY. Ko 1,330,000 - 1,330,000 25% from 20/5/2006
#20/5/2007#225%
25% from 20/5/2007
#20/5/2008%£25%
25% from 20/5/2008
1/9/2005 fot (b William PY. Ko 500,000 - 500,000 $12.35  j21/9/20064#£25% 31/8/2015
25% from 1/9/2006
71/9/2007#£25%
25% from 1/9/2007
741/9/2008#E25%
25% from 1/9/2008
71/9/2009#£25 %
25% from 1/9/2009
20/11/2006  [RERE Ronnie C. Chan 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 $17.14  #20/11/2007#10%  19/11/2016
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,800,000 - 5,800,000 10% from 20/11/2007
Rt Terry S. Ng 3,300,000 - 3,300,000 7420/11/2008#£20%
=R William PY. Ko 3,700,000 - 3,700,000 20% from 20/11/2008
7420/11/2009#230%
30% from 20/11/2009
#20/11/20104£40%
40% from 20/11/2010
21/8/2007 BRANR Ronnie C. Chan 3,640,000 - 3,640,000 $25.00  #21/8/2008%£10% 20/8/2017
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 3,510,000 - 3,510,000 10% from 21/8/2008
K+t Terry S. Ng 3,250,000 - 3,250,000 721/8/2009#220%
= (=] William PY. Ko 2,600,000 - 2,600,000 20% from 21/8/2009
7421/8/20104£30%
30% from 21/8/2010
7221/8/2011#240%
40% from 21/8/2011
21/8/2007 BRER R Ronnie C. Chan 5,600,000 - 5,600,000 $25.00  #21/8/2009#210% 20/8/2017
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 5,400,000 - 5,400,000 10% from 21/8/2009
R+t Terry S. Ng 5,000,000 = 5,000,000 721/8/2010#£20%
®iaE William PY. Ko 4,000,000 = 4,000,000 20% from 21/8/2010
721/8/2011#30%
30% from 21/8/2011
#21/8/2012#£40%
40% from 21/8/2012
31/12/2008  [RER Ronnie C. Chan = 9,240,000 9,240,000 $17.36  7431/12/2010#810%  30/12/2018
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen - 8,910,000 8,910,000 10% from 31/12/2010
R+t Terry S. Ng - 8,250,000 8,250,000 #31/12/2011#20%
=R William PY. Ko - 6,600,000 6,600,000 20% from 31/12/2011
7431/12/2012#£30%
30% from 31/12/2012
#31/12/2013#£40%

40% from 31/12/2013
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2. REEEEBERA T2 ROME R H O HE
Options granted under the Share Option Scheme of Hang Lung Group Limited

#30/6/2009
1R 5 H i BRRITEE
D Pdiied ()
No. of Shares Exercise Price
BHEBH under Option Per Share A ElEN =
Date Granted £ Name as at 30/6/2009 (HK$)  Vesting Period Expiry Date
24/2/2000 RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 2,500,000 $6.12  7424/2/2001#20% 23/2/2010
X[ William PY. Ko 30,000 20% from 24/2/2001
724/2/20021#230%
30% from 24/2/2002
#24/2/2003#£50%
50% from 24/2/2003
1/11/2001 K47 Terry S. Ng 1,250,000 $5.87  #1/11/2002#£20% 31/10/2011
20% from 1/11/2002
#1/11/2003#830%
30% from 1/11/2003
#1/11/2004#50%
50% from 1/11/2004
20/5/2004 R R Ronnie C. Chan 5,090,000 $9.45  A20/5/2005#£25% 19/5/2014
HER Nelson W.L. Yuen 3,000,000 25% from 20/5/2005
R+ Terry S. Ng 1,388,000 7#20/5/20064£25 %
Sz William PY. Ko 494,000 25% from 20/5/2006
#20/5/2007#25%
25% from 20/5/2007
7420/5/20081#225%
25% from 20/5/2008
20/11/2006 FBRER R Ronnie C. Chan 6,700,000 $20.52  #20/11/2007#10% 19/11/2016
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 2,500,000 10% from 20/11/2007
KE7T Terry S. Ng 1,700,000 #20/11/2008#£20%
=t(zh e William PY. Ko 500,000 20% from 20/11/2008
#20/11/2009#30%
30% from 20/11/2009
720/11/2010%£40%

40% from 20/11/2010

BRIAEFTIEEIN  WEARNABEEN
BEZEABBAR-_ZTAFNA
=T AFBEARRRSEMBEEE 2

Pefn - HERAR ) SEHERE 2 #E 2 SR
ﬁ\ o

BRA EFraish - MERTMER - K
NIRRT /N S S ER Y = NC]
BMEELENLZHEARRES (B
mEZEBNRBTN\RZFR) A
BARRR M E R 2Bk
fEEEmER -

134

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors of the
Company or any of their associates had, as at 30 June 2009,
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations.

Other than as stated above, at no time during the year was
the Company, its holding company or any of their subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the
Company (including their spouses and children under 18
years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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FERRREMATARS REBRKR Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests
BeEERAR and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
BEZHFEOE=ZB=T/XIKEHEA As at 30 June 2009, details of substantial shareholders’ and
THEFoEcMmas - TEREK  other persons’ (who are required to disclose their interests
RIB B HF B BEXVE AR B L= pursuant to Part XV of the SFO) interests and short positions
HMALTRZZZNFNA=+THHE in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as
BARRAIZBRN RBBERD 254 recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
NORBZ BT 336 of the SFO are as follows:

FABRD RAER N E

No. of Shares or BETRAZEBES L
Underlying Shares Held % of Issued Capital
LSy wKE LSy) KB
BT &E Long Short Long Short
"4 Name Note Position Position Position  Position
REES Chan Tan Ching Fen 1 2,214,005,670 - 53.41 -
Cole Enterprises Cole Enterprises
Holdings Limited Holdings Limited 1 2,214,005,670 - 53.41 -
Merssion Limited Merssion Limited 1 2,214,005,670 - 53.41 -
BEEEARAR Hang Lung
Group Limited 2 2,185,672,570 - 52.72 -
BHEARAT Prosperland
Housing Limited 8 1,267,608,690 - 30.60 -
Purotat Limited Purotat Limited 3 354,227,500 - 8.55 -
JPMorgan Chase & Co. JPMorgan Chase & Co. 4 210,108,666 5,652,541 5.07 0.14
P 5
Notes

1. WERMDE—ERESABE 2RO AR KD - MEES L+ BZEFTES 2R A ° Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited Merssion Limited #1584 i 85 5% @
BRAR (MMEEEE]) REMBRARMBEEZROFESER  MASRHECFELR - —F—THEBEZRETFAELTRRHZEKER -
These shares were the same parcel of shares held by a trust of which Ms. Chan Tan Ching Fen was the founder. Cole Enterprises Holdings Limited and
Merssion Limited were deemed to be interested in the shares held by Hang Lung Group Limited (“HLGL") and its subsidiaries, which number of shares were
included in the above-mentioned number of 2,214,005,670.

2. EEEEFRRANRENBARBREERARMSAEZ T ZEATLAANTENT BN TREN - Purotat Limited AiFAZ=RETHA -+ =8t THAKRKHIA
REMMBARMEEZABATZBNAT =B T N\+RBRHTEFEE -
HLGL was deemed to be interested in the shareholdings of its subsidiaries, viz. 1,267,608,690 shares held by Prosperland Housing Limited, 354,227,500
shares held by Purotat Limited, and 563,836,380 shares held by other subsidiaries.

3. EBEERRAMFEEZ T ZBATEEATENT BN TRRG KPurotat Limited FiAZ=RATEA-+ B+t TRERBRHE BEE L hERSBEHMHE
2T BATREATLE-TREELTRBROZHER -
The 1,267,608,690 shares held by Prosperland Housing Limited and the 354,227,500 shares held by Purotat Limited were included in the above-mentioned
number of 2,185,672,570 shares held by HLGL.

4. BELTABATESNTRAE=TRAEEEHRG -
It includes 75,958,536 shares in the lending pool.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2009, no other interest
required to be recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO has been notified to the Company.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken
in the usual course of business are set out in Note 27 on the
Financial Statements. None of these related party transactions
constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules.

Management Contracts

No contract for the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company’s corporate governance principles and practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 95
to 114 of the annual report.

Auditors

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of
the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

By Order of the Board
Velencia Lee

Secretary

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Hang Lung Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Lung Properties Limited (“the Company”) set out on pages
140 to 198, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 30 June 2009, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
This responsibility includes designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and

the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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RN

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’'s preparation
and true and fair presentation of the financial statements

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 30 June 2009 and of the Group's
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

31 July 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

B sE

NABEBEETTE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
3o Turnover 2(a) 4,172.6 10,079.9
B A Interest income 157.2 281.1
BEERAREEER Direct costs and operating expenses (728.4) (3,482.3)
1THE A Administrative expenses (383.1) (361.1)
KREFAIREWE Y AFE  Operating profit before change in fair value of

B LR H T investment properties 3,218.3 6,5617.6
WEWE 2 N EE Increase in fair value of investment properties 9 3,523.1 10,181.5
BE AR EW%E 7 A{E Operating profit after change in fair value of

B LR investment properties 6,741.4 16,699.1
B 758 A Finance costs 3 (69.0) (150.4)
EIRA &N BEF Share of profits of jointly controlled entities 1 22.8 128.9
R 25 A ) Profit before taxation 2(a) &3  6,695.2 16,6776
I8 Taxation 5(a) (1,512.9) (2,783.2)
REE T Profit for the year 5,182.3 13,894.4
JEMR AR Attributable to:

AR Shareholders 21 4,130.3 13,159.1

DEIS R Minority interests 22 1,052.0 735.3

5,182.3 13,894 .4

& 2. Dividends 7(a) 2,736.1 2,735.7
FRRAEF Earnings per share 8(a)

HK Basic $1.00 $3.18

e Diluted $0.99 $3.15

MR ERM TR B RE 28D ° The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS

RZZTZAFRA=+H At 30 June 2009

%E Group A @] Company
o . Mo
NAEEETTE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008 2009 2008
ERBEE Non-current assets
BEEEE Fixed assets
WEE Investment properties 62,765.6 59,085.4 - -
BRERPIREME Investment properties under
development 7,570.1 5,656.8 - -
EMmEFEE Other fixed assets 123.4 102.1 - -
9 70,459.1 64,844.3 - -
NN ey Interest in subsidiaries 10 - - 355616 34,029.4
AENEER Interest in jointly controlled
entities 1 699.4 696.7 - -
ERNIEE Loans and investments 12 4.0 5.4 - -
RIEFITREE Deferred tax assets 17(b) 45.3 34.5 - _
71,2078 65,580.9 @ 35,561.6 34,0294
REEE Current assets
HE MBITHER Cash and deposits with banks 23(b) 8,931.4 10,577.8 112.0 8.4
EWBE S R UL Trade and other receivables 13 686.1 1,365.9 1.0 1.2
/—iy%ﬁt% Properties for sale 14 7.682.8 6,816.6 = -
17,300.3 18,760.3 113.0 9.6
nBAE Current liabilities
:%%h;@],ﬁﬁz Floating rate notes due 2009 15 1,500.0 - - -
FER
FERHBR N M E A ERTFL  Trade and other payables 16 2,027.5 1,726.0 8.2 6.1
R ERIE Taxation payable 17(a) 831.2 828.5 - -
4,358.7 2,554.5 8.2 6.1
REBEEFE Net current assets 12,9416 16,205.8 104.8 3.5
EEHRBERABERS Total assets less current
liabilities 84,149.4 81,786.7 35,666.4 34,032.9
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
RITER Bank loans 18 4,661.3 4,419.2 = -
%ﬁlﬁfﬂi’jﬁkﬁ* Finance lease obligations 19 287.2 393.0 = -
JEASTB /B A |) 5108 Amounts due to subsidiaries 10 = - 2,016.6 2,301.1
FL%RIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 17(b) 7,871.2 6,823.9 = -
ZTNFEHZ Floating rate notes due 2009 15 = 1,500.0 — -
12,819.7 13,136.1 2,016.6 2,301.1
EEFE NET ASSETS 71,329.7 68,650.6 33,649.8 31,731.8
BEARR#EE Capital and reserves
AR 7 Share capital 20 4,145.6 4,145 .1 4,145.6 4,145.1
1 Reserves 21 63,891.9 62,231.8 29,504.2 27586.7
& R fE 2 Shareholders’ equity 68,0375 66,376.9 33,649.8 31,7318
DB AR RS Minority interests 22 3,292.2 2,273.7 = -
B TOTAL EQUITY 71,329.7 68,650.6 33,649.8 31,731.8
ﬁf&“ﬁ Nelson W.L. Yuen
EERKE Managing Director
R Terry S. Ng
HWITES Executive Director

M REMN D AT BHRERZ — 8D

The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

B sE
LABAETHE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
RtRA—Bz#fkEz Total equity at 1 July
% B A Shareholders’ equity 66,376.9| | 54,276.7
DB R R Minority interests 2,273.7 1,560.8
68,650.6 55,8375
FRAEEAKRZHE Total recognized income and expense
for the year
HE SN B A RIBRIA Exchange difference arising from translation of
EECERZEZSE overseas subsidiaries 137.2 1,453.1
F A 55 Profit for the year 5,182.3| | 13,894.4
5,319.5 15,3475
EEEXRERE Final dividend in respect of previous year 7(b) (2,114.0) (1,781.9)
RKEEFHRKRE Interim dividend in respect of current year 7(a) (621.8) (621.7)
BITIRM Issue of shares 20 & 21 5.2 23.7
EEREER Employee share-based payment expenses 21 118.1 109.1
ENLVEBRRER Dividends paid to minority interests 22 (2.6) -
EELERRRIE Repayment to minority interests 22 (25.3) (40.5)
RAAXEEEHE DT Change in minority interests arising
ZREEMMEE from increase of the Group’s shareholding
DERERERET in a subsidiary 22 = (223.1)
RANB=ZTHZHARES Total equity at 30 June 71,329.7 68,650.6
FEfh s Attributable to:
A% 5= Shareholders 68,037.5| | 66,376.9
DR R ELS Minority interests 3,292.2 2,273.7

71,329.7 68,650.6

MR ERM TR B RE 28D ° The annexed notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-_ZTNFE/A=1+HILFE For the year ended 30 June 2009

BT
WEKBETHE in HK$ million Note 2009 2008
BETE Operating activities
RERKEEK RS Cash generated from
operations 23(a) 3,709.0 8,078.2
[RENEEE Tax paid
ENEEFIEH Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (193.3) (150.0)
BB CESER PRC Income Tax paid (280.4) (137.7)
REKLEH2IREEHE Net cash generated from
operating activities 3,235.3 7790.5
RETE Investing activities
BEETEE Purchase of fixed assets (2,229.7) (1,347.3)
BEUFE Interest received 147.8 275.0
BAEERFIRE Dividends received from
jointly controlled entities 36.0 36.0
AENREE Advance to jointly controlled
entities (15.9) (6.9)
FELTREEEER Repayment of advances to
unlisted investments 1.4 1.5
SRITTERENEAMSFIE  Proceeds upon maturity of
bank deposits 699.5 -
HERBEEEMESHRIE  Proceeds from disposal of
fixed assets - 145.9
ARBRETH ZHEEE Net cash used in investing
activities (1,360.9) (895.8)
AE R E Financing activities
HILIRITERATSEIE  Proceeds from new bank loans 340.9 -
BEIETER Repayment of bank loans (100.5) (374.9)
ITER {0 HRfE Exercise of share options 5.2 23.7
ENMNEREMEE Interest and other borrowing
&M costs paid (177.9) (312.7)
S ERNE R Finance lease charges paid (31.2) (37.4)
B E Dividends paid (2,735.8) (2,403.6)
ERLHERERE Dividends paid to minority
interests (2.6) -
B LEREFIA Repayment to minority
interests (25.3) (40.5)
MEARDENEMEZ  Decrease in minority interest
2 in a subsidiary - (105.1)
BVEMA 2 EARE D Capital element of finance
lease (94.1) (82.9)
ARBEEH 2HEE%E Net cash used in financing
activities (2,821.3) (3,333.4)
RERBALEEY (Decrease)/Increase in cash
Z GRA),/ #hn and cash equivalents (946.9) 3,561.3
EXEH 28 Effect of foreign exchange
rate change - 22.8
RtA—BZEER Cash and cash equivalents
HEZEY at 1 July 9,878.3 6,294 .2
MANA=+B2Z®EK Cash and cash equivalents
REZEEY at 30 June 23(b) 8,931.4 9,878.3

TSR M DA B IRKR 2 — 78D ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. These new
and revised HKFRSs have no significant impact on the financial
statements of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2009
and 30 June 2008.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period (see
note 31).

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended

30 June 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest
in jointly controlled entities.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the accounting policies set out below.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis of making the judgments about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed

on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 29.

(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
exists when the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits
from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights
that presently are exercisable are taken into account.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealized profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealized gains but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Subsidiaries and minority interests (Continued)

Minority interests in the consolidated balance sheet comprise
the outside shareholders’ proportion of the net assets of
subsidiaries and are presented as a part of equity in the
consolidated balance sheet and statement of changes in
equity. Minority interests in the results of the Group are
disclosed as an allocation of the profit for the year between
minority interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Where losses applicable to the minority exceed the minority's
interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess, and any
further losses applicable to the minority, are charged against
the Group's interest except to the extent that the minority

has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make additional
investment to cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently
reports profits, the Group’s interest is allocated all such profits
until the minority's share of losses previously absorbed by the
Group has been recovered.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are recognized by the Company to the extent of
dividends received and receivable at the balance sheet date.

(d) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the Company and one or more of
the other parties share joint control over the economic activity
of the entity.

The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method and are initially recorded at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the jointly controlled entities’ net assets. The
consolidated income statement includes the Group's share of
the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the jointly controlled
entities for the year.

BEEEARAT —TT )\ ZAFFR



1 FESFTEX @

(d) 628 @
EAREEUALARAENBERBG
HETh R - AEBATEESFEER
LEE WETNEBBREENER
BUNAEBBERBITETRIETER © X
REERRMED BRI - 3tk
EASEEAL AR BIRER
B A E 2R ERMER  UREE
FBRAEEHEENRREFE B
mz REARER -

AEFBREAENFIZHARHMEEZ
ARBRGNHEE  HRAKERAZ
NEIFTE 2 R L B EE - (BREER
BEEACEREELBRRE B
BT ERAZEE

EARRRZEERERAN  AEREIZ
BETRRAERARERIESR
RARBRREEB DR R RS ERQF]
ZEEERAERRZFRE -

(e) BHE
HERBLEAHZAAIBRAEET
WREBH 2T HAIEE  AEMSAE
B2 AFERIEED 2 Z5E -

BEREKARME R REBERT
iR - WAEMERSBENH -

AEEERBET 2 HBEE - BfF
MAABENRFESR ARG - BB

PEEH KRN  SAKERRT
7

EHE-—HARE  TAEEEARE
RHEERTABZEA -

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in

the jointly controlled entity, the Group's interest is reduced

to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued

except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
jointly controlled entity. For this purpose, the Group's interest
in the jointly controlled entity is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the Group's
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly
controlled entity, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which
case they are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

In the Company’s balance sheet, its investments in jointly
controlled entities are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. The results of jointly controlled entities are recognized
by the Company to the extent of dividends received and
receivable at the balance sheet date.

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of a business
combination over the Group's share of the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses
and is tested regularly for impairment.

Any excess of the Group's interest in the fair value of the
acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of a business combination is recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

On disposal of an entity, any attributable amount of purchased
goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Properties

1. Investment properties

Investment properties are those which are held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. They are
stated at fair value, representing the amount for which an
asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing
parties in arm'’s length transaction, assessed by external
qualified valuers. Any changes in fair values are recognized in
the income statement. A property interest under an operating
lease which is held for the above purposes is classified and
accounted for as an investment property.

2. Investment properties under development

Property that is being constructed or developed for future use
as investment property is classified as investment property
under development. Investment properties under development
include payments for leasehold land and land use rights,
construction costs and borrowing costs capitalized, if any, and
professional fees, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. When the construction or development is complete, it
is reclassified as investment property at fair value. At the date
of transfer, the difference between fair value and its previous
carrying amount is recorded in the income statement.

3. Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are classified under
current assets and stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Costs include the aggregate costs of
development, borrowing costs capitalized and other direct
expenses. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price less estimated costs of completion and costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

4. Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are classified under current
assets and stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Cost is determined by apportionment of the total development
costs, including borrowing costs capitalized, attributable to
unsold units. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price as determined by reference to management
estimates based on prevailing market conditions, less costs to
be incurred in selling the property.
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2.
(i)

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Other fixed assets

Other fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Leased assets
Classification of assets leased to the Group

The classification is determined based on an evaluation of the
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the
arrangement takes the legal form of a lease. Leases of assets
under which the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and
benefits of ownership are classified as finance leases. Leases
of assets under which the lessor has not transferred all the
risks and benefits of ownership are classified as operating
leases, with the following exceptions:

property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property
is classified as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis; and

land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair
value of which cannot be measured separately from the
fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, is accounted for as being held under a finance
lease, unless the building is also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of the
lease is the time that the lease was first entered into by
the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee, or at
the date of construction of those buildings, if later.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Other fixed assets (Continued)

2. Leased assets (Continued)

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance
leases, the amounts representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease
payments, of such assets are included in fixed assets and
the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation

is provided at rates which write off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it is
likely the Company or the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 1(h). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to the
income statement over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting
period. Contingent rentals are written off as an expense of the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

(iii)  Operating leases charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to the
income statement in equal instalments over the accounting
periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognized in the income statement as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to the income statement in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

(h) Depreciation

1.  Investment properties

No depreciation is provided for investment properties and
investment properties under development.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Depreciation (Continued)

2. Other fixed assets

Depreciation on other fixed assets is calculated to provide so
as to write off the cost, less their estimated residual value, if
any, on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Buildings 50 years or unexpired lease term,
whichever is shorter

Furniture and equipment 4-20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

(i) Impairment of assets

As assessment is carried out at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that a current
or non-current asset, other than properties carried at revalued
amounts, is impaired.

If any such indication exists, any impairment loss is determined
and recognized as follows:

- For current receivables carried at amortized cost, the
impairment loss is recognized when there is objective
evidence of impairment and measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective rate where the effect of
discounting is material. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the attention
of the Group about events that have an impact on the
asset’s estimated future cash flows such as significant
financial difficulty of the debtor. If in a subsequent period
the amount of impairment loss decreases, the impairment
loss is reversed through the consolidated income
statement. A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset's carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized in
prior years.

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09 151



B ok Wk

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 FESTEX @

() EERE

— BEMIERBEE  AIRLESER
HERHEBRERABEMETRS
2 NRHESKAIKRE S
7 OREEENGRE AR T ER
RFX - MAFEE AT W B RE 2
A BBEAEAANEHE - KA
BREN TR - PR f R EEE
NEBEFERAHERERIRERS
EMETHNEERMTBAR B
EEE BN ERREL SR
FEAAKRGER - FEBEZRE
EEE T RE -

(i) AR H KR

R LA R SR e L At R MR ) 2 i T (B
R BRI B A AR £ R B RORE
BIEEAR  EMERR AR EERHL
HERRZES TERARIN - HULER
T UK E R BAS R, 5 R BB (E
BRARK -

(k) RERBREEEY

RAekReEEYMEBRRITAFRZE
T RRTEEMHEREZEHE
R REHAmMSRSHEZRE - BER

BBADMBHEIASNRE - SR
HeEReRERNE BB FE
YVEENHEELERAEERCERE
Z AR B ER D Z SRATIES

() BEARARREAEMS
JEASS R R B L B AN R ) 2 R B FE
R HRIRE AR - BEMAEF
BYFEK - AZRAAR

1562

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)

—  For other non-current assets, the recoverable amount
is the greater of its net selling price and value in use.
An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the
consolidated income statement whenever the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognized in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the
income statement in the year in which the reversals are
recognized. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

(j) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost less impairment losses
for bad and doubtful debts, except where the receivables

are interest-free loans or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost
less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated cash flow statement.

(I) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated

at amortized cost with any difference between costs and
redemption value being recognized in the income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

(n) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred, except to the extent that
they are capitalized as being attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of a qualifying
asset commences when expenditure for the asset is being
incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that
are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying assets for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

(o) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities

1.  Financial guarantees issued

Where the Company issues a financial guarantee, the fair

value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless

the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially

recognized as deferred income within trade and other

payables. The deferred income is amortized in profit or loss

over the term of the guarantee.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent
liabilities (Continued)

2. Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized for liabilities of uncertain timing

or amount when the Company or the Group has a legal or

constructive obligation arising as a result of past event, it is

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required

to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(p) Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow
to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can

be measured reliably, revenue is recognized in the income

statement as follows:

1. Sale of properties

Revenue from sale of completed properties is recognized upon
the signing of sale and purchase agreements or the issue of
occupation permit by the relevant government authorities,
whichever is the later.

2. Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognized on a
straight line basis over the terms of the respective leases.
Lease incentives granted are recognized in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognized as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.

3. Interest income
Interest on bank deposits is recognized as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

4. Dividends
Dividends are recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
in the income statement except to the extent that they relate
to items recognized directly in equity, in which case they are
recognized in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable

in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible

and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilized, are recognized. The limited exceptions
to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes and the initial recognition of assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits.

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured based
on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilized. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Translation of foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity

in the Group are measured using the currency that best
reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and
circumstances relevant to the entity (“functional currency”).
The financial statements of the Group are presented in Hong
Kong dollars.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are
recognized in the income statement.

The results of foreign operations are translated in Hong

Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The
resulting exchange differences are recognized directly in a
separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognized in equity which relate to
that foreign operation is included in the calculation of the profit
or loss on disposal.

(s) Related parties

For the purpose of these financial statements, a party is

considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)  the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

(iii) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals;

(v) the party is a close family member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

(t}) Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is
engaged in providing products or services (business segment),
or in providing products, or services within a particular
economic environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of
other segments.

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting, the
Group has determined that business segment be presented as
the primary reporting format and geographical segment as the
secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets, and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions which are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances
and transactions are between group companies within a single
segment. Intersegment pricing is based on similar terms as
those available to other external parties.
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1 FESFTEX @

(t) 2EHSE @)

DESE AR IBEARNETER A E A
BE—ElestiEcodEE (BES
FERBREE) MEL ZKALEE -

(u) EEER
1. JEHESEFREFMATBIMNEE

%k

e FRIEAL BFFR FEHMH
78 M B B S 5UE PR RET B 2 AR
(BRRPEARKNE (HE]) k&
BREBBAGIENZFKE) TRAE
B B IRHA RS 2 FAHE -

2. REXT

RTEE 2ty Bt 2 R FETE R
th B4 2 IR AR R IR L A IR E
3 % 5 B S 57 B 1 AT BE M AR 1R R B 1
WEGRIER - HEB IR
(BERMDMBERE) P T IARESR -

AR R R B N te R TR ER B 2 AL (D
H#EA  ERNNAEFERABZRNR
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EREAPIX A (ERRZEEX
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2 RIMEREE B iy i E A E R

EREEH ©
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period on additions of segment assets (both tangible and
intangible) that are expected to be used for more than one
period.

(u) Employee benefits

1.  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement schemes

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, the cost of non-

monetary benefits and obligation for contributions to defined

contribution retirement schemes, including those payables

in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and Hong Kong

under relevant legislation, are accrued in the year in which the

associated services are rendered by employees of the Group.

2. Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
measured at grant date, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted, and is
expensed on a straight line basis over the vesting period
taking into account the probability that the options will vest,
with a corresponding increase in equity (Employee share-
based compensation reserve).

During the vesting period, the number of share options that

is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to
the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-
based compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment
to the employee share-based compensation reserve).

At the time when the share options are exercised, the related
employee share-based compensation reserve is transferred to
share capital and share premium, together with the exercise
price. If the options expire or lapse after the vesting period,
the related employee share-based compensation reserve is
transferred directly to retained profits.
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2 EEHERIHER
RAREBRBEAMKY - TBEK AT
BIgE  WEBENBARNEMER
E HEERKREZYEER 285
ERERYEER o

EEBREMEEERBEE WA - B
BRWED AT LEEBDHRT
3o

(a) EXKHF
(i) DEWARES

2 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
The principal activities of the Company, which is incorporated
in Hong Kong, are investment holding and, through its
subsidiaries, property leasing, property development for

sale and investment, car park management and property
management.

Turnover represents revenue from property leasing and
sales. An analysis of turnover by business and geographical
segments is set out below.

(a) Business segment
(i) Segment revenue and results

2 EBUA D EBELE
Segment revenue Segment results
NAEBEBEETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
WEMAE Property leasing 4,162.2  3,745.1 3,441.3  3,045.7
MEHE Property sales 10.4  6,334.8 29 35519
4,172.6 10,079.9 3,444.2 6,597.6
B U A Interest income 157.2 281.1
TERER (M) Administrative expenses (Note) (383.1) (361.1)
FREF AR EWE Y AF{E Operating profit before change
N E T in fair value of investment properties 3,218.3 6,517.6
KEWEZ NFEEI  Increase in fair value of investment properties
— MERE — property leasing 3,523.1  10,181.5
B & Finance costs (69.0) (150.4)
B A & RA)aF Share of profits of jointly controlled entities
— MEHEE — property leasing 22.8 128.9
B B AT g A Profit before taxation 6,695.2 16,677.6

M THREReRREER—E-TN \E—T&T
(ZZ2ENF: —BEAE—TBT)  RESE
ARRTREENERNDHENBBHA LA FE
R#E  AREREERNKELRS RS

Note: Administrative expenses included share-based payment expenses of $118.1 million
(2008: $109.1 million) representing the amortization of the fair value of options
granted to employees over the vesting period and which do not involve any cash
outflow for the Company.
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2 EHEERIWER @ 2 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(a) ¥EBDI @) (a) Business segment (Continued)
(il DHEEREE (ii) Segment assets and liabilities
BAE afE
Assets Liabilities
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
WEHAE Property leasing
KRR REKBAR The Company and its subsidiaries 70,696.8 65,1578 1,721.3 1,224.3
HE N Jointly controlled entities 699.4 696.7 - -
MIEEEE Property sales 8,131.2 7.869.0 127.5 295.7
RAKE (FFE) Unallocated (Note) 8,980.7 10,6177 @ 15,329.6 14,170.6
88,508.1 84,341.2 17,178.4 15,690.6
Wit : AP B EBTERESRACELSE B8 Note: Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate assets including cash
BReRBTIFRANTHLE=FT—EO+& and deposits with banks of $8,931.4 million (2008: $10,577.8 million), interest-
T(ZZEZENEFE: —HZEREELTEENTE bearing borrowings including bank loans of $4,661.3 million (2008: $4,419.2 million)
JT)  HEEERERTERN+NESNRT—F and other liabilities of $1,787.2 million (2008: $1,893.0 million), and taxation of
=t+EBx (ZEEN\F  O+OE—FhEZ $8,657.1 million (2008: $7.617.9 million).
TEL) MREMBEETEEATEEZ=TE
T (ZZZN\F: +\EBELTF=ZBER) B8
BN+ABRTLE-—tET (ZETNEF:
t+AE-—TEEATET) °
(i) BEXBFAXRITE (iii) Capital expenditure and depreciation
BEARFX e
Capital expenditure Depreciation
NAKBEBETE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
WMEHRE Property leasing 2,665.1 1,508.0 12.7 75
(b) HED I (b) Geographical segment
(i) ZDEBUAREE (i) Segment revenue and results
7 EBURA DEBEELE
Segment revenue Segment results
NAEEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
e Group
&5 Hong Kong 2,484.7 8,624.9 2,020.0 5,404.8
=8 PRC 1,687.9 1,455.0 1,424.2 1,192.8
4,172.6  10,079.9 3,444.2 6,597.6
BENT] Jointly controlled entities
B Hong Kong 22.8 128.9
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2 BEEERIBER @ 2 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) HEZI &) (b) Geographical segment (Continued)

(i) DEEE (i) Segment assets

BB ABITE in HK$ million - 2008

a5 Hong Kong 52,487.0
= PRC 20,539.8

73,026.8

(i) BEAXFEZ (iii) Capital expenditure

B EETTAE in HK$ million

BE Hong Kong
H PRC
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 BKREANER

3 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

% & Group
WEBREBTLHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BRBADR N 25 T &8 - Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:
BRAFNEEZRITER Interest on bank loans and other borrowings
REMEEZFE repayable within 5 years 159.7 262.3
MEMOER Finance lease charges 31.2 37.4
HifEEX M Other borrowing costs 30.9 30.4
EEX HEHE Total borrowing costs 221.8 330.1
o BESHERE (KE) Less: Borrowing costs capitalized (Note) (152.8) (179.7)
HBER Finance costs 69.0 150.4
B EMEKE Cost of properties sold 75 2,375.0
BIRAE  BEEREREER Staff costs, including employee share-based
—EB—FTNE—TET (ZZZEN\F: payment expenses of $118.1 million
—EBENE—TET) (2008: $109.1 million) 512.0 490.8
e Depreciation 12.7 75
EEENER  BEIAHS Operating lease charges, including contingent
ZThBEATERL (ZEENEFE: rentals of $29.6 million (2008: $30.2 million) 117.1 110.9
=TE2-1+8n)
ZEE B & Auditors’ remuneration
— ZERH — audit services 5.5 5.3
— B R EA R - tax and other services 1.6 0.1
WEEA : and after crediting:
AelA - BEINBREESH Rental income less direct outgoings
TR-ZTFENTERT (ZTTNF . of $720.9 million (2008: $699.4 million),
NEATLERTER) 81 including contingent rentals of
ZAEE—BETAAEZTET $179.2 million (2008: $193.7 million) 3,4413 3,045.7
(ZEEN\F | —BAT=-BETET)
HEREMERF Profit on disposal of investment properties - 63.8

M BRAMEZEEXHEREFAN 2 Mt
(ZZZNF: BHoZWEEHMN) 2 FHRER

& -

162

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalized at an average rate of 2.7% (2008: 4.4%)
per annum for properties under development.
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4 EERSHEEEZHME 4 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
RELFWNEZESRIEREBELIFHIT  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of five
EFE - ZZEgRNEEFERMAEBESE  Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Committee makes
FNET REBGTROER - EF2HB  recommendation to the Board on the Directors’ remuneration
e HIERBENMEE#HE EEME5  packages and terms of employment. The emoluments of
=B BRERARQAINKRREEF - T Directors are determined by the scope of responsibility
HEGIRIBITHEBRAMEE © and accountability, and individual performance of directors,
taking into consideration of the Company’s performance
and profitability, market practice and prevailing business

conditions.
(a) EE=EE (a) Directors’ emoluments
BEEMEFFINOT Details of directors’ emoluments are summarized below:
DABEETHE in HK$ million TEEY
54 28 Bihe
RENHE HEPA:S
Salaries, Group's
allowances HEA  contributions
#%  and benefits Discretionary to retirement
#4 Name Fees in kind bonuses scheme 2009 2008
HTEE Executive Directors
BRRIR Ronnie C. Chan 03 19.6 5.6 2.0 215 348
RER Nelson W.L. Yuen 02 182 5.2 18 25.4 326
RIT Terry S. Ng 0.2 95 34 0.7 13.8 16.9
BihE William PY. Ko 02 8.4 3.0 08 124 15.2
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
B S.S.Yin 02 - - - 0.2 0.1
Ef Ronald J. Arculli 0.3 - - - 03 0.2
#z8 H.K. Cheng 03 - - - 0.3 02
Fatis Laura LY. Chen 0.3 - - - 0.3 0.2
BE PW. Liu 03 - - - 0.3 0.2
e Dominic C.F. Ho 03 - - - 0.3 0.2
BEEE Past Director
&= EstellaY.K. Ng - - - - - 29
(RZZZ+E+-AFE) (Resigned in December 2007)
ZEENE 2009 2.6 55.7 172 5.3 80.8 103.5
—2T)N\E 2008 1.9 23.6 75.8 2.2 103.5

BRUAEBIEIN - EFESRIBEBALF K In addition to the above emoluments, certain directors were
HE®RERARIEEEERRARIAAMK granted share options under the share option schemes of the
EAREET B TR 1D HAME - K2R Company and its ultimate holding company, Hang Lung Group
2 B0 BRRE R IB R BT 5 ¥R & M15E26(b)  Limited. Details of the share options granted by the Company
BEE - are disclosed in note 26(b) to the financial statements.
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4 EERSHREEEBZME @ 4 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) BEEFAL (b) Individuals with highest emoluments

EREZE&EasHFALTF  mWH (ZZTZF)\  Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four

F:UR) BES BEZEEMAKEE  (2008: four) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed

Aa) 260 FE - Er— R AL ZZF in note 4(a) and note 26(b). The emoluments of the other

ZNERZEENF MW - individual for 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
%8 Group
NAEBEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
e ZELREWANZ  Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2.1 1.1
B FETEAT Discretionary bonuses 0.6 0.5
NEBHRKASETZIM  Group's contributions to retirement scheme 0.2 1.5
xR
fxiEE A Share-based payment expenses 0.9 0.4
3.8 3.5

(c) BEZZZTNFARA=THAKZ=ZFZ (c) During the years ended 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008,

NEARA=THIEFE - &R it there were no amounts paid to directors and senior
EENRERITHRABZNFIEE AR executives above for compensation of loss of office and
BimE S BE R ENBARER - inducement for joining the Group.
5 #HEWERAZBIIE 5 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT
(a) #HFEWKBERAZMIAR (a) Taxation in the consolidated income statement
represents:

%8 Group

NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
REFEFIE Current tax
BBERMIEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 200.4 7249
BEFE2BELRE Underprovision in prior years 13.4 1.1
213.8 726.0
P RTEH PRC Income Tax 262.6 200.7
476.4 926.7
IEIER IR Deferred tax
WEYE 7 AN EE Change in fair value of investment properties 967.1 1,899.9
HiR e REEIE M Other origination and reversal of temporary differences 69.4 138.0
=5
BABATREE Y Effect of change in Hong Kong tax rate on deferred tax
Tt A—HZEERE balances at 1 July - (181.4)
EHo e
A&t (IsE17(b)) Total (note 17(b)) 1,036.5  1,856.5
MmE HEst Total income tax expense 1,512.9 2,783.2
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5 MHmElEikAZBIE ¢

il

(a) &
FRNGHBERBDRFAN 2GR
RBEMEABD Z TARBRE (ZFF
NF:BRZTARED) GHE - pEDE
ERERAETHBERREGTE -

(b) BE-_ZTAFANA=THILFE
ZEEAZEARRENEATET
“ETNF: —TNBARTET)
EFfARBIESERREFNA

(c) MHIE ST L ER T A& M LAE A X
STEZHE

5 TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT (continued)

(a) (Continued)

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5%

(2008: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

PRC Income Tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the

PRC.

(b) Share of jointly controlled entities’ taxation for the year
ended 30 June 2009 of $4.5 million (2008: $18.6 million)
is included in the share of profits of jointly controlled
entities.

(c) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit before
taxation at applicable tax rates:

NAEEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
B B A ) Profit before taxation 6,695.2 16,677.6
ZBF A& A AUE AR Tax on profit before taxation at applicable rates 1,582.9 3,107.1
FTE IR
A ERAEFZ Tax effect of share of profits of jointly controlled entities (4.5) (18.6)
HEgeE
JEFERMINMA 2 B E Tax effect of non-taxable income (28.4) (90.1)
FEMETE2HEFE  Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 24.8 30.8
HAEFBMBEEKL  Tax effect of tax losses utilized and other deductible
b BT H0 R B temporary differences (78.2) (74.6)
ERECHBTE
RIEAR 7 TRAEIB 2518 Tax effect of unrecognized tax losses 2.9 8.9
gE
BEFEBELE Underprovision in prior years 13.4 1.1
TR B LR ER I Effect of change in tax rate on opening balance of
FYEHTE deferred tax = (181.4)
BRHMIEST B Actual tax expense 1,512.9 2,783.2

6 BREREMGAR

R RIE AR TS S RER
BRN+EE=TEAR+ET (ZFT
NE:HETABE=TET) -

6 NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

Net profit attributable to shareholders includes a profit of

$4,530.5 million (2008: $1,006.3 million) which has been dealt

with in the financial statements of the Company.
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7 RE
(a) XFEERE

7 DIVIDENDS
(a) Dividends attributable to the year

WEKBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
2EmEDIRTERRE  Interim dividend declared and paid of 15 cents

BT AL (2008: 15 cents) per share 621.8 621.7

ZZENFE - TR

WEE QB EDEREIAR S Final dividend of 51 cents (2008: 51 cents)

BERAT—L (== per share proposed after the balance sheet date 2,114.3 2,114.0

ZNF 7 E—)

2,736.1 2,735.7

REBRBREIR KRS - Y EER

REERZEE-

(b) —FE\EHBELZ=t—E— (b)
THEBAABRER -TEN
FOBEEREREE (ZFEN

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has
not been recognized as a liability at the balance sheet date.

The final dividend of $2,114.0 million for financial year
2008 was approved and paid in financial year 2009 (2008:
$1,781.9 million).

FrtrERNATF—BATET) -

8 BRER 8 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) BREAREEANIZATEIE (a) The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is
FTE based on the following data:

WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
B ESRERR Earnings for calculation of basic and diluted earnings

BERBA 2 BT per share

(BPA% 3R BG40 7)) (net profit attributable to shareholders) 4,130.3  13,159.1

i1 & B
Number of shares

EBRAE in million 2009 2008
BUETEEIRERER  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating

2 &0 hnigE F 1988 basic earnings per share 4,145.2 4,144.2
BEECEER 2 BEMD  Effect of dilutive potential shares — share options 8.4 33.1

2B IR HARE
BLGEGRESERT]  Weighted average number of shares used in calculating

2 M0 INFE S5 25 diluted earnings per share 4,153.6 4,177.3
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8 ’éﬂ’ifz’?ﬂ (%&) 8 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) MFREEEARMA (TBIEREY  (b) The underlying net profit attributable to shareholders

ERNTEES - WHKREBELER which excluded changes in fair value of investment
BROEBRRER) 2FTEWT - properties net of related deferred tax and minority

interests, is calculated as follows:

WEEBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
% 58 & {1k 4 7| Net profit attributable to shareholders 4,130.3 13,1591
WA 2 A T{EEE  Effect of changes in fair value of investment properties (3,523.1) (10,181.5)
&
MERLERIB 2 & Effect of corresponding deferred tax 967.1 1,729.7
AENRINKEYME,  Effect of change in fair value of investment properties net of
A EEB) IO related deferred tax of jointly controlled entities 6.6 (100.3)

HEAELHAECEE

(2,549.4) (8,552.1)
DB R R Minority interests 807.4 516.0

(1,742.0)  (8,036.1)

% B3 FE (i E AN AT R Underlying net profit attributable to shareholders 2,388.3 5,123.0
BERREEERENGE 2 GRAT The earnings per share based on underlying net profit
K attributable to shareholders are:

2009 2008
BN Basic $0.58 $1.24
e Diluted $0.57 $1.23
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9 EBEEEE —£H 9 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP
BEEH
REMHE
Investment
REWE  properties
Investment under Hit &%
NEEEEITTE in HK$ million properties development Others Total
KA ESAE Cost or valuation:
R-_ZZ+F+HA—H At 1 July 2007 47152.9 3,972.5 99.3 51,224.7
P& H AR (M) Exchange adjustment (Note) 1,244.0 366.3 1.8 1,612.1
NE Additions 160.8 1,318.0 29.2 1,508.0
EX k] Reclassification 578.2 - - 578.2
HE Disposals (232.0) - (2.3) (234.3)
ANFEEE M Increase in fair value 10,1815 - - 10,181.5
RZZZNFEAA=+H At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 59,085.4 5,656.8 128.0 64,870.2
kZETN\F+HA—H
BE 5 3% (MisE) Exchange adjustment (Note) - 1176 - 117.6
NE Additions 157.1 2,474.0 34.0 2,665.1
B Reclassification - (678.3) - (678.3)
HE Disposals - - (4.3) (4.3)
NEEEM Increase in fair value 3,5623.1 - - 3,623.1
R-ZZhFERB=1H At 30 June 2009 62,765.6 7,570.1 157.7 70,493.4
ZEHE - Accumulated depreciation:
N-FTLFLA—A At 1 July 2007 - - 20.6 20.6
RNEEWE Charge for the year - - 75 75
F i E & E Written back on disposals - - (2.2) (2.2)
RZZZNFEAA=1H At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 - - 25.9 25.9
kZETN\F+A—H
AEERE Charge for the year - - 12.7 12.7
A HERD Written back on disposals - - (4.3) 4.3)
R=FFAFRA=tH  At30June 2009 - - 343 343
REFE Net book value:
R-ZZhFEXB=1H At 30 June 2009 62,765.6 7,570.1 123.4 70,459.1
RZZEZENFRA=1H At 30 June 2008 59,085.4 5,656.8 102.1 64,844.3
BEEENA=1THZ Cost or valuation of the fixed assets at
RAESRBENT 30 June is made up as follows:
“EENE: 2009:
&E Valuation 62,765.6 - - 62,765.6
BANE Cost - 7,570.1 157.7 7,721.8
62,765.6 7,570.1 157.7 70,493.4
—ETNE 2008:
fhiE Valuation 59,085.4 - - 59,085.4
B¥NE] Cost - 5,656.8 128.0 5,784.8
59,085.4 5,656.8 128.0 64,870.2
Mzt BEBHFHT NSz AEB S HE  AEFEY Note: In accordance with the Group's accounting policy in note 1(r), balance sheet
FEERCEERBERER (BREETEE) Y items in the PRC operations of the Group, including fixed assets, are translated
REEAZERBE BB T  BHEETEEC into Hong Kong dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet
FE N =Dt AE SR - date. The exchange difference relating to fixed assets has been dealt with in the

exchange reserve.
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9 @EEE — ;I.E (#&) 9 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continuea)
MEZREFEITNT - An analysis of net book value of properties is as follows:
BRPREME
REYE Investment properties
Investment properties  under development
NEEBETAE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
EEREMRE Long leases in Hong Kong 30,4276  30,944.7 - 678.3
E BB INR B 22 Long leases outside Hong Kong - - 29922 2,388.2
EBREAh 22 Medium term leases in Hong Kong 12,313.0 12,511.7 - -
BERINR AR Medium term leases outside
Hong Kong 19,937.0 15,493.0 4,577.9 2,590.3
B G Short lease in Hong Kong 88.0 136.0 — -
62,765.6 59,085.4 7,570.1 5,656.8

(a)

AEE 2 REMEAN_ZTETNEF
NAZTHAE - AFELETGEE
REXBEHEARARZEMEZER
EM(EXRNE) REBEELELS
ZHSFEREARMMERE I
SRARSNEmENRBEETREERZ
AR EET TS E -

AEBREMEZFRIFHENRE
REREHOTACEE - AR\
FEAOTEE=TAEET (=
ZENF O+ OEET—B&
JT) °

AEBEBEEEEZ REFER
RUNEBARREZ L FBRIN
AR B3 2215 8 ) £ 3 [ S 5L )
AIR—THABT (ZETNF:
—TEE-TE®T E—Ttah
TET(ZZEZENF: —TZF—+
57C) ©

i+

FRABEELTN\A=1TET2#
RAKRENEEFIBRRFTEY

He

MER BN BERANE A
WABERt—EAT B
T (CEENF: ZHEERTE
B—+@E7) -

(a)

Investment properties of the Group carried at fair value
were revalued as at 30 June 2009 by Mr Charles C.K.
Chan, Registered Professional Surveyor (General Practice),
of Savills Valuation and Professional Services Limited,

on an open market value basis with reference to the

net rental income after taking into account reversionary
income potential.

The net book value of investment properties of the Group
includes an amount of $4,439.0 million (2008: $4,441.0
million) in respect of an asset held under a finance lease.

The net book value of other fixed assets of the Group
included long lease of $15.0 million (2008: $15.2 million)
in respect of land and building held in Hong Kong, and
medium term leases of $17.9 million (2008: $10.1 million)
in respect of land and buildings held outside Hong Kong
respectively.

During the year, an investment property under
development amounting to $678.3 million was reclassified
as properties for sale.

Property leasing revenue includes gross rental income
from investment properties of $4,162.2 million (2008:
$3,745.1 million).
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9 EEEE — KB w 9 FIXED ASSETS - GROUP (continued)

(b) AEERBEFEMOEERIEFE  (b) The Group leases out its investment properties under
MAONHEEREWE - ZFHELH— operating leases and subleases under finance lease.
YT RE-_ZERF  HPEHHAE Leases typically run for an initial period of two to five
EEERELN  EREFHEME K years, with some having the option to renew, at which
F o REMBEABE ST HENRE time all terms are renegotiated. Long term leases contain
HABMEE 2B MAEEEF rent review or adjustment clauses and the Group has a
HE—FELOIMBHBRELD - & regular proportion of its leases up for renewal each year.
FHOBFEXAES - HBRHEP Certain leases include contingent rentals calculated with
ZWAMEE ° reference to the revenue of tenants.

RANA=+8 ' XEERETH At 30 June, the Group's total future minimum lease
H EFEBYZ DB Z RKEE income under non-cancellable operating leases were as
mEmnn follows:
HAL
baNi:| Other HBEr
Subleases leases Total

WEKBAETAHE in HK$ million 2009

—F R Within 1 year 356.6 3,087.0 3,443.6

—FRERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 559.5 3,047.1 3,606.6

FE%E After 5 years - 202.9 202.9

916.1 6,337.0 7,253.1
2008

—4ER Within 1 year 265.2  3,146.6  3,411.8

—FRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 518.5 2,966.4 3,484.9

hFi& After 5 years - 21.1 21.1

783.7 6,134.1 6,917.8
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10 B A BHEzE

10 INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

A& Company

NABEBEBILTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
LT - RAE Unlisted shares, at cost 8.1 8.1
JE LG B /BB N B RN IE Amounts due from subsidiaries 35,653.56 34,0213

35,561.6 34,029.4

TEMBAR ZFMERF N EIS

FEW, FEAS KT /B8 A B SR IE AR
B RERTEERY - MEABBHZER
HERAR+T ZEAARTEE EFE
& MOWERBEE A -

11 E8 A TER

Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

Amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest
bearing with no fixed terms of repayment and classified as
non-current assets/liabilities as they are not expected to be
recoverable/repayable within the next twelve months.

11 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

%8 Group
NABEBEBEILE in HK$ million 2009 2008
EIHEEFE — Share of net assets — unlisted shares 664.7 6779
FE AR
B A &R RIFRIE Amount due from a jointly controlled entity 34.7 18.8
699.4 696.7

B &2 ARFIAY BEER - LATHE
MEREFEMEETENY - mMEABHZ
EFBEAERAR T —EARKE - &
SIVEFERENEE

Amount due from a jointly controlled entity are unsecured,
interest-bearing at market rate with no fixed terms of
repayment and classified as non-current asset as they are not
expected to be recoverable within the next twelve months.
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11 E¥REER @ 11 INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Continued)
BERNBIZFMERENMFE34 - &A%  Details of jointly controlled entities are set out in note 34. The

BEREERNRA BB BERB  summary financial information related to the Group's interest
Mgy in jointly controlled entities are as follows:
WEEBETHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
EREEE Non-current assets 843.6 846.9
REEE Current assets 11.5 26.3
IEREAG Non-current liabilities (169.1) (172.1)
mEBAE Current liabilities (21.3) (23.2)
EEFE Net assets 664.7 6779
WA Revenue 51.6 49.5
NE i A Profit for the year 22.8 128.9
12 ERRRE 12 LOANS AND INVESTMENTS

%8 Group
NABERBTTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BEIELTIRE Unlisted investments in Hong Kong 0.1 0.1
EB#TIELTIREART  Advances to unlisted investee companies 3.9 5.3

4.0 5.4

MRIELEMIREN MIREE TS AR Unlisted investments are carried at cost less impairment, if
SIS WmEREEREATE - FULEK  any, as they do not have a quoted market price in an active
AHBRBE (1) AR market to determine their fair value.
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13 FEWRBRFR I H fl FE K
BT A AR A R L A B R 2 W B
REERBADITOT

13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Included in trade and other receivables are trade receivables

with the following terms:

%8 Group
NAKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
WE N —E AR Current and within 1 month 409.7 1,068.7
—Z==1@A 1 - 3 months 2.5 25
=EANE Over 3 months 54.0 53
466.2 1,076.5

KEDFEHENRUBEIRE S HHE
MR ER] - HERXNHEEZSING
FHEAAREEEMENAE - AEEE
HIBE R B WGRIA R AR B LD IR - PAR
EEERREEREK - BRAKBEMER
ZWEHEI - AEBE W EL L TR
HETMERR R-_ZTTAFK-F
ZENFRA=ZTH  RERBEBHREL
TERK

14 FEYXE

Proceeds from property sales are receivable pursuant to the
terms of the sale and purchase agreements. In addition to
the payment of rental deposits, tenants are required to pay
monthly rents in respect of leased properties in advance.
Receivables are regularly monitored and closely followed

up to minimize any credit risk. Except for sale of properties
developed by the Group, it does not hold any collateral over
these balances. The balance of bad and doubtful debts as at
30 June 2009 and 2008 is insignificant.

14 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

%8 Group

NAEEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
UNEBZERTYE  Properties under development located in Hong Kong
— EHAHhE — long leases 760.2 42.7
MRBBZHEDERK  Completed properties for sale located in Hong Kong
W — thERh 32 — medium term leases 6,922.6 6,773.9
7,682.8 6,816.6

FEERP LR —FREE -

The properties under development for sale are expected to
be recovered after more than one year.
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15 ZZEZNFRH2ZFEEE 15 FLOATING RATE NOTES DUE 2009
FEEBBARAZHBARIEIT o It The floating rate notes were issued by the Company'’s
SEBRARARFEAARES LAFE - &  subsidiary. These notes are guaranteed as to principal and
FRERZTH A EEZ=2E _-gg)\ interest by the Company, bear interest ranging from 0.6%
F:ZH—EEZRH-E)FE - WE  t03.6% (2008: 2.1% to 5.1%) per annum during the year,
R_ZZZThF+=A ?&%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ&/xﬁ% repayable in full in December 2009 and have no rights of
FEBRK AR AR SH M AR ZRG conversion into shares of the Company or any other body
corporate.

RZZEZANFAAA=TH BN LFE At 30 June 2009, except for the above floating rate note, the
FH2IN ARBEWEMEMEMAKEE  Group has no other outstanding fixed or floating rate notes or

E’ng_khz BB A BRES © convertible bonds.
16 EFERMRRHEMENSR 16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
&= Group 2 7] Company

PNLAEE- i in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
RN ETE Creditors and accrued expenses

(Mt (a)) (Note (a)) 845.9 595.2 8.2 6.1
Blize (F5Eb)) Deposits received (Note (b)) 1,002.9 924.8 = -
FERIRRMBARZIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

(M$7E(c)) (Note (c)) 178.7 206.0 - -

2,027.5 1,726.0 8.2 6.1

B3 Notes:

(a) ENRREERBERHL— iWT‘%faﬁ (a)  Creditors and accrued expenses include retention money payable of $68.0 million
ZREBFERNTNEBT (ZESNEF: (2008: $10.5 million) which is not expected to be settled within one year.
TRTET) -

(b) e \EENT_BRETEL(ZZTZ/\ (b Deposits received of $842.5 million (2008: $628.7 million) are not expected to be
F:RAEZFTNABL+ER BEHR—FAT settled within one year.

EERM -

(c) ERRRNBARREYAEER 28 KE (c) The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no

EEEED - fixed terms of repayment.

Bt ABRNERF R EMEMRZEMEE  Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with

RERBROTIT the following ageing analysis:
%8 Group
NABBEBETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
—1{& A NEHA Due within 1 month 594.5 425.9
=B A& EIH Due after 3 months 108.7 56.5
703.2 482.4
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17 REEBEBRLZBE

17 TAXATION IN THE BALANCE SHEETS

(a) AERIEF (a) Current taxation

%8 Group
NAEEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BB E R EE Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 200.4 724.9
R FTE T R Provision for PRC Income Tax 55.1 72.9
NEFEZENEE Hong Kong Profits Tax payable relating to prior years 575.7 30.7

SR
831.2 828.5

(b) EFERIE (b) Deferred taxation

%8 Group
NAEKBEETE in HK$ million 2009 2008
BT B A& Deferred tax liabilities 7.871.2 6,823.9
RLERIREE Deferred tax assets (45.3) (34.5)
BT IE B & F 58 Net deferred tax liabilities 7,825.9 6,789.4

REREERBR LA ZELEREA

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognized

(=)
BE(BE) MEREFANZEEIW  in the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
™ the year are as follows:
WABBETLHE in HK$ million FEGHES
RIAEE A%
Depreciation BEEAE
allowances ZERER
in excess MEER Future
of related  Revaluation  benefit of Hity B
REBREAR Deferred tax arising from: depreciation  of properties tax losses Others Total
RZZZ+F+A-A At 1 July 2007 634.4 4,178.7 (33.0) (30.9) 4,749.2
REENIR Charged to reserve 414 142.3 - - 183.7
Wiz el Rm% (FE5(a) Charged to consolidated
income statement (note 5(a)) 974 1,729.7 21.0 8.4 1,856.5
RZEENFAA=TH At 30 June 2008 and 1 July 2008 773.2 6,050.7 (12.0) (22.5) 6,789.4
ZZEN\FtH-H
RizAWERRNE /(BA)  Charged/(Credited) to consolidated
(Fi5E5(a)) income statement (note 5(a)) 80.2 9671 (10.8) - 1,036.5
RZBENFRA=TAH At 30 June 2009 853.4 7,017.8 (22.8) (22.5) 7,825.9
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17 REEEBERLZFIE @
(¢c) RERZELEHEEE
AEBEARRE THE QR 2 &ML
BHN=ZEZENEET (ZEZENF : =
BRTREABLTEL) REEBEMEE
MIEEHBEEELRER BAR-E
ZENFEANA=ZTH - AJREEREEBRE
EMBRERERRANDIEE - WER
BEBRBRGEENIREHGER £
Kb - MR BEBNHEEEEINE
et FE B AFRAR -

18 MITEX
RAA=+BEERRTERZ B%N
mF :

17 TAXATION IN THE BALANCE SHEETS (continued)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognized

The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets in respect
of tax losses of $306.0 million (2008: $255.9 million) sustained
in the operations of certain subsidiaries as the availability

of future taxable profits against which the assets can be
utilized is not probable at 30 June 2009. The tax losses arising
from Hong Kong operations do not expire under current tax
legislation. The tax losses arising from the PRC operations
expire five years after the relevant accounting year end date.

18 BANK LOANS
At 30 June, bank loans were unsecured and repayable as
follows:

£ E Group

NABEASTTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
REEZBERFR After 2 years but within 5 years 4,694.1 4,453.7
o RSS2 BI S EF Less: unamortized front end fees (32.8) (34.5)

4,661.3 4,419.2

FA AARITEFRHRTHUEER N
BNE (ZZETNEF: —H\BEEtE)
FMEETS o

AEE 2 ETEERZNMBRZLORS -
ZEVBRYOERANEERMERFHEZ
REAREAEFETFERREEGLR
BEREEFEZLEIEERREK
FoERN AREEETEEBTZERY
HYESK o

RZZETZNFRAA=+H  AEEHESF
—BtTZEBR (ZEZENF: —AE
T_T_BEL) APAMRITEGREE

o

176

All bank loans are interest-bearing at rates ranging from 0.4 %
t0 6.8% (2008: 1.8% to 7.0%) per annum during the year.

Certain of the Group’s borrowings are attached with financial
covenants which require that at any time, the Group’s
consolidated tangible net worth is not less than and the
ratio of borrowings to consolidated tangible net worth is not
more than certain required levels. During the year, all these
covenants have been complied with by the Group.

At 30 June 2009, the Group had $17,200.0 million (2008:
$10,022.0 million) committed undrawn banking facilities.
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19 BMEBRLNERE

MEMHAORIEN 2 HERBERERE

19 FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Total minimum lease payments under finance lease and their

LU present values are as follows:
%8 Group
HEP AR IR
RLDEMN  FEFA
ikt ZAE EDEN
ZHE EH itk
Present Interest #aza
value of expenses Total
minimum relating to  minimum
lease future lease
payments periods payments
NAEBEBELTE in HK$ million 2009
FERTeRE Amounts payable
—FR Within 1 year 105.8 24.2 130.0
—FRRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 287.2 24.3 311.5
393.0 48.5 441.5
2008
e Amounts payable
—FRA Within 1 year 94.1 31.2 125.3
—FRERFA After 1 year but within 5 years 393.0 48.5 4415
4871 79.7 566.8

BMERNAEZERFNXRALE (=

ZTNF : £E) - 7% (2008: 7%) per annum.

The effective interest rate of the finance lease obligations is

20 BRA 20 SHARE CAPITAL
2009 2008
e e & 1n 2 B
(BER) (BER)
Number Number
of shares B EEIL  of shares BEBET
(Million) HK$ million (Million) HK$ million
JETE Authorized
HFEEE—7TT Shares of $1 each 6,000.0 6,000.0 6,000.0 6,000.0
EETRAR Issued and fully paid
RtA—H At 1 July 4,145.1 4,145.1 4,142 .9 4,142 .9
RIRAR (7 Bk AT & Shares issued under share
BT 2D option scheme 0.5 0.5 2.2 2.2
RNA=+H At 30 June 4,145.6 4,145.6 4,145.1 4,145.1
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21 #E& 21 RESERVES
%E Group A @] Company
NAEBEETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008 2009 2008
10 w8 Share premium
mntA—H At 1 July 21,715.0 21,6874 21,715.0 21,6874
BITHR D Issue of shares 4.7 215 4.7 215
& B P& (0 BA#E+E F Employee share option benefits 1.3 6.1 1.3 6.1
RANA=1H At 30 June 21,721.0 21,715.0 21,721.0 21,715.0
N R Capital redemption reserve
REtA—BX At 1 July and 30 June 2,065.5 2,065.5 2,065.5 2,065.5
~HA=+H
b X Exchange reserve
REHA—H At 1 July 1,254.5 42.6 = -
BEGINHT A F) Exchange difference arising from
BRIEELECZIERZS translation of overseas subsidiaries 142.8 1,211.9 = -
RANA=1+H8 At 30 June 1,397.3 1,254.5 - -
RBRERMDEERE Employee share-based compensation
reserve
mtA—H At 1 July 180.7 86.1 180.7 86.1
EEREEHR Employee share-based payment
expenses 118.1 109.1 118.1 109.1
AR E Transfer to share premium (1.3) (6.1) (1.3) (6.1)
S SRR T Transfer to retained profits (10.8) (8.4) (10.8) (8.4)
RNA=+H At 30 June 286.7 180.7 286.7 180.7
RE =T Retained profits
mntA—H At 1 July 37,016.1 26,252.2 3,625.5 5,014.4
N 4l R Net profit for the year 4,130.3  13,159.1 4,530.5 1,006.3
KFEERPEE Final dividend in respect of
previous year (2,114.0) (1,781.9) (2,114.0) (1,781.9)
REEFRIRE Interim dividend in respect of
current year (621.8) (621.7) (621.8) (621.7)
HRIEERMNEE Transfer from employee share-based
A compensation reserve 10.8 8.4 10.8 8.4
RNA=+H At 30 June 38,421.4 37016.1 5,431.0 3,625.5
63,891.9 62,231.8 29,504.2 27586.7
REERZZZNFAA=THMNKRE The retained profits for the Group at 30 June 2009 included
Z%T&%'J’F]?EE¥E§:+ STEHR BB $33.2 million in respect of statutory reserves of the PRC
UNCIl /N i subsidiaries.
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21 @&\ @

B aEERERNELHFEE A&
ZEBCAFELD) EFRTNLIERE
Mt NFIREE - [ERLRERERES
INB AR MR EEZIEN Z5E -
SRR (T - B B AR BB REE
BEERLERAREITE 2R, B2
NYE -

RZZBTZNFARA=+H  ARFAH
DIRTFRRZFEHEEERATHE=
T—AST(CEZENEF: =+~ EZ
THAR+&ET) -

EXREE
AEENEAEERR B2 HRERRE
[EAEBESEZE  UAKRREMHD
BRoSEMEDRFAARENZG R
B EKABGRE -

REBEEGR N E SR REEEEARE
B NEHERBSEEKFAIE® KN
Bk R @R EEEE RIS RNES
RREZEDRGTFE  YHRAREEZ
EGHEEMEERREZEHHENGERE
TR AEE

AEEEBARTAERRRERENT
Ko WE BRI E R AP R EEER
HERER - AEREFEHEEREN
FEE P - FERBRITER - F
EEBELBEBELALE BB MRTT
TR o IR RIEBCR S N ) BACR A2

H- %J}E&Efi\/ﬁl}fﬁﬁ7j<$ N1 7
HAEMMBARTEIIINEERE AR
BRZIRR o

21 RESERVES (continued)

The application of the share premium account and the capital
redemption reserve are governed by Section 48B and Section
49H of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance respectively. The
exchange reserve comprises the exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries. The employee share-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of share options granted which are
yet to be exercised, as explained in note 1(u).

The aggregate amount of the Company's reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company at 30 June
2009 was $5,431.0 million (2008: $3,625.5 million).

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits to other stakeholders, and to secure access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholders’ returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in the light of changes in the Group's business
portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its

gearing ratio and cash flow requirements, taking into account
its future financial obligations and commitments. The gearing
ratio represents the proportion of net debt to equity plus net
debt. Net debt represents bank loans, floating rate notes and
finance lease obligations, less cash and deposits with banks.
Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and minority interests.

The Group has a net cash position as at 30 June 2009 and
2008. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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22 DEBRFERER 22 MINORITY INTERESTS
%8 Group

WEKBASTHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
REHA—H At 1 July 2,273.7 1,560.8
REEZDHRRRIEZS Profit attributable to minority interests for the year 1,052.0 735.3

&AL 5 T
2 DB R AR B Dividends paid to minority interests (2.6) -
BB LR R RIE Repayment to minority interests (25.3) (40.5)
FE{L B Share of reserves (5.6) 241.2
AREHESETHIE AT Decrease in minority interests arising from increase of

ZHERINmES VS the Group's shareholding in a subsidiary - (223.1)

AR Rz
MWANAZ=+H At 30 June 3,292.2  2,273.7

DB RAE R R A E (5
RAZtR) 2 ERANKBATND
R 3 A R S8 - 9 2
BZHBARER HEREARENR
CUES BRUNGR

23 HEBREREBERME

(a) REREXB RS

Minority interests represent the equity interests and share of
profit or loss attributable to outside shareholders in respect of
the subsidiaries not wholly-owned by the Group as at 30 June
which hold the Group’s interests in its investment properties
in Shanghai.

23 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

(a) Cash generated from operations

WEKBAETHHE in HK$ million 2009 2008
B B Al g8 ) Profit before taxation 6,695.2 16,677.6
FEE Adjustments for:
A EWA Interest income (157.2) (281.1)
BB E A Finance costs 69.0 150.4
e Depreciation 12.7 75
EE 2 ATEZEN Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,523.1) (10,181.5)
Bl E & RE @A Share of profits of jointly controlled entities (22.8) (128.9)
EEREER Employee share-based payment expenses 118.1 109.1
HEREYMEZ BT Profit on disposal of investment properties = (63.8)
FEWME L (3hN) /B (Increase)/Decrease in properties for sale (65.7) 2,146.8
FEWBR N R E el ZL  Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other receivables 582.7 (476.8)
ZmA ()
et N EET B 2 R7> Decrease in creditors and accrued expenses (50.7) (11.6)
2R E 73N Increase in deposits received 78.1 133.2
FERNRZWEBATEZIE  Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (27.3) (2.7)
s
REKEEK RS Cash generated from operations 3,709.0 8,078.2
180 EEMEARLAE — TN\ TAFFER



23 HMERERERHTE @ 23 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (continued)

(b) RERBEESEZEY (b) Cash and cash equivalents
AR ETTE in HK$ million 2009 2008
SAEBEARBERMWIAS  Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated

MERITIER balance sheet 8,931.4 10,5778
B M= A%RHE  Less: Bank deposits with maturity greater than

WITER three months = (699.5)

SAEMELRERMWISE  Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
LKIESEEY cash flow statement 8,931.4 9,878.3

GABEABRZESMRITFHIZFE  Cash and deposits with banks in the consolidated balance

BHRRGF—NE (ZZTZT/\F : = sheet are interest bearing at an average rate of 1.6% (2008:
BhPOE) FHE © 3.4%) per annum.

24 HAREE 24 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
RANA=THZHZABENAT : At 30 June, contingent liabilities were as follows:

‘~a) Company
BB BT E in HK$ million 2009 2008

TR B A TIPTS5 2 $R7T Guarantees given to banks to secure credit facilities drawn
EEmMRMEZER by subsidiaries 6,194.1 5,979.9

ARBLEAMBAR ZEENEMIR  The Company has not recognized any deferred income for
TTEEREZEREZET(MELRA - the guarantees given in respect of borrowings and other bank
RZERERRITEEZRTFTEREZE facilities for subsidiaries as their fair value cannot be reliably

AT ERERRE (ZZZT/\F © measured and their transaction price was $Nil (2008: $Nil).
/) o
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25 FRIE
(a) MAAZ+BHMARIBBRERE
TEREENT

25 COMMITMENTS
(a) At 30 June, capital commitments not provided for in the
financial statements were as follows:

%£E Group
NAEBEBELE in HK$ million 2009 2008
[SE Contracted for 4,460.4 2,405.2
IS E M REL Authorized but not contracted for 17,984.1 14,487.5
22,4445 16,892.7

i AEEEBERASE R T EZ(E
WHERZREVMEREEZ LKA
N IR EEFRRIRAN ©

(b) AEEIRE+FANEMRZ TR
LEMEOEAETYME - B THLY
BEZ2EMEWAMEE 2 HAE
T MANA=TH  KRERKDEN
ZHELERENT

The above commitments include mainly the land costs and
construction related costs to be incurred in respect of the
Group’s development of its investment properties in various
cities in the PRC.

(b) The Group leases certain properties under non-cancellable
operating leases expiring within ten years. Certain leases
include contingent rentals calculated with reference to
revenue from the properties. At 30 June, total future
minimum lease payments were as follows:

%8 Group

NAEBBEEILE in HK$ million 2009 2008
—F R Within 1 year 91.7 80.7
—FRERFR After 1 year but within 5 years 138.5 212.6

230.2 293.3
26 EERA 26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a) EARBER

AEEE REEERLATERIEARE
itE ZEFEI T2 EER—BBILZ
NAIZFAAEE  THEXESKEE
2 BARECEEDFRE -

BENRBREDZEEZEAFHFEZET
BOLER - BB LERREFEM
BAIAE - BRERAIZHERFAEE
HRANR B %A 8 HER W 2 HRTY
BMAFBIES ZHERN - AEBEREF
EEOKFMEREEARKEEER
ZiEEERAEEKEBRF - AKE A
W FFR DB BEFAREE
WAL TS BRI - AERERFA
ZHFBBES-—TNEANTELT (ZF
ZNF: —TRAO+TET) MEA
RS R RHREBRBR =T8T
—TENF:NTERT -
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(a) Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution provident fund
scheme for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group by an independent trustee
and managed by professional fund managers.

Contributions are made by both the employer and the
employees at a certain percentage of employees’ basic
salaries, the percentage varying with their length of service.
When an employee leaves the scheme prior to his or her
interest in the Group's contributions being fully vested,
forfeited contributions are credited to reserves of the fund.
Depending on the level of reserves, the Group may direct
the trustee to credit dividends to members’ accounts out of
the reserves of the fund. The Group's contributions may be
reduced by the forfeited contributions, but there was no such
reduction of the Group’s contributions during the year. Total
contributions made by the Group for the year amounted to
$18.8 million (2008: $16.4 million) and forfeited sums credited
to reserves amounted to $0.3 million (2008: $0.6 million).
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(a) Retirement benefits (Continued)

A master trust Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) is operated by an independent service provider.
Mandatory contributions are made by both the employer and
the employees at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant
income, up to a limit of $20,000. The Group’s contributions will
be fully and immediately vested in the employees’ accounts as
their accrued benefits in the scheme. Total MPF contributions
made by the Group for the year amounted to $2.4 million
(2008: $2.1 million).

As the Group's provident fund scheme is an MPF Exempted
Occupational Retirement Scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”),
eligibility for membership of the ORSO and MPF schemes is
identical. New employees are offered a one-off option to join
either the ORSO or the MPF scheme.

Staff in the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC,

are members of a retirement benefits scheme (the “PRC

RB Scheme"”) operated by the local municipal government

in the PRC. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiaries is to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the PRC RB
Scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government in the PRC undertakes to assume the retirement
benefits obligations of all existing and future retired employees
of the PRC subsidiaries. Total contributions made by the PRC
subsidiaries for the year amounted to $8.6 million (2008: $7.5
million).

(b) Equity compensation benefits

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted
on 22 November 2002, whereby the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company are authorized to grant options

to selected participants, including directors of any company
in the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company. The
exercise price of the options is determined by the Board at
the time of grant, and shall be the highest of the nominal
value of the shares, the closing price of the shares at the date
of grant and the average closing price of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
The vesting period, the exercisable period and the number of
shares subject to each option are determined by the Board at
the time of grant.
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
The movements of share options during the year are as

follows:
Rl B
Number of share options
RZZENE RZEENE g
+tA-H ~AZTH (B)
HARBATHE HARMEITE RIVEREZITHEE  Exercise
BiBAH Outstanding on B BT B4 Outstanding on Period during which price
Date granted 1 July 2008 Granted Exercised Lapsed 30 June 2009 options are exercisable (HKS)
“ZENFRA-1H 21,644,000 - (490,000) - 21,154,000 “EERFRA-THE 9.20
20 May 2004 ZE-MERATIE
20 May 2005 to
19 May 2014
“ZTRENA-RE 1,206,000 - - - 1,206,000 “EERENA-AE 1140-
S K s = “Z-R%+A=1-H 12.35
1 September 2005 to 1 September 2006 to
1 November 2005 31 October 2015
ZEERF+-ATHEAZ 25,050,000 - (46,000) (390,000 24,614,000 ZEELET-ATHEAE  1675-
ZERZLEZATNE ZE-tE=ATNH 22.60
14 November 2006 to 14 November 2007 to
19 March 2007 18 March 2017
“2ZtF+A=HE 34,350,000 - - (750,0000 33,600,000 “TZ\E+AZHE  25.00-
“2Z)\ERA-H —Z-\5=ZA=1-H 34.45
3 July 2007 to 3 July 2008 to
1 April 2008 31 March 2018
“EENENATNBE - 47650,000 - (480,000 47170,000 “E-ZENA+TN\BE  1736-
ZEE\E+ZA=1—H ZE-\E+ZA=1H 24.20
18 August 2008 to 18 August 2010 to
31 December 2008 30 December 2018
@it Total 82,250,000 47650,000 (536,000) (1,620,0000 127744000

bR Bty BRRE R R i B B AR AT —
ELFERRE  YARELARTFE
ATTTEE » LEIR AR (0 AR 5 SR 3
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All the above options may vest after one to five years of the
grant date and are exercisable up to the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant, after which they will lapse.
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)
In respect of share options granted to the directors, the
related charge recognized for the year ended 30 June 2009,
estimated in accordance with the Group's accounting policy in

note 1(u)(2) was as follows:

(a)  Mr. Ronnie C. Chan, $22.8 million (2008: $20.8 million);

(b)  Mr. Nelson W.L. Yuen, $26.0 million (2008: $26.0 million);

(c) Mr. Terry S. Ng, $21.9 million (2008: $20.7 million); and

(d)  Mr. William PY. Ko, $19.0 million (2008: $18.3 million).

(i)  Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as

follows:
2009 2008

NFEFEH NEEFH

1168 1Ife(E

(B7T) (BL)

Weighted Weighted
average fhe) average &t
exercise  HEAEH R exercise  HIEHA
price Number of price. Number of
(HK$) options (HK$) options
Rt B —BRREITE Outstanding at 1 July 18.38 82,250,000 13.54 52,891,000
2FH Granted 18.30 47,650,000 25.14 34,350,000
21T{E Exercised 9.85 (536,000) 10.94 (2,168,000)
2R Lapsed 24.71 (1,620,000) 15.67 (2,823,000)
RANA=1THRHERETE Outstanding at 30 June 18.30 127,744,000 18.38 82,250,000
RANA=Z+BA T Exercisable at 30 June 13.63 35,417,700 10.11 24,752,000

RERNTE 2RO EBETEE B
ZIEEHEREA - TITHAN
W(ZEENFE: =+0 T =-Ah
i) o

The weighted average share price at the dates of exercise
for share options during the year was $20.56 (2008:

$34.29).
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26 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(b) Equity compensation benefits (Continued)

(i)  The weighted average remaining contractual life of
options outstanding at the balance sheet date was 7.9
years (2008: 8.0 years).

(iii) The weighted average value per share option granted
during the year estimated at the date of grant using a
Black-Scholes pricing model taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted was
$3.3. The weighted average assumptions used are as
follows:

B A RE Share price at grant date $17.82
1T E Exercise price $18.30
4 [ B 1) 2 Risk-free interest rate 2%
FEEAF A () Expected life (in years) 6
B & Volatility 0.30
TEHRE R Expected dividend per share $0.66

RERRER R REEZGE 2K
g DIREERLBHN—FAE
BB Z SLat o i A2 - TAEE
RETIRBBERBMERE - B
% AJE B RR A R EAEERK
BEXTE -
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The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of daily share prices over the one year
immediately preceding the grant date. Expected dividend
per share is based on historical dividend. Changes in the
input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimate.

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A fellow subsidiary of the Company contributed funds as
capital investment to a subsidiary of the Company for the
development of Plaza 66, a property in Shanghai. The amount
outstanding at 30 June 2009 was $178.7 million (2008: $206.0
million).

Emoluments to directors and key management has been
disclosed in note 4 and 26(b).
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Exposure to interest rate, liquidity, credit and currency risks

arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The

Group has policies and practices approved by management as

described below in managing these risks.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from deposits
with banks and borrowings issued at floating rates. Interest
rate trend and movements are closely monitored and, if
appropriate, existing borrowings will be replaced with new
bank facilities when favourable pricing opportunities arise.

The interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities are disclosed in notes 15, 18, 19 and 23(b).

Based on the simulations performed at year end in relation to
the Group's bank deposits and borrowings, it was estimated
that the impact of a 100 basis-point increase in market interest
rates from the rates applicable at the year end date, with all
other variables held constant, would decrease the Group's
profit after taxation and total equity by approximately $3.8
million (2008: $3.9 million).

This analysis is based on a hypothetical situation, as in practice
market interest rates rarely change in isolation, and should not
be considered a projection of likely future profits or losses. The
analysis assumes the following:

— changes in market interest rates affect the interest
income and interest expenses of floating rate financial
instruments and bank borrowings; and

- all other financial assets and liabilities are held constant.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group manages its surplus cash centrally and the liquidity

risk of the Company and its subsidiaries at the corporate level.

The objective is to ensure that an adequate amount of cash

and committed bank facilities are available to meet all funding

requirements. Significant flexibility is maintained through

diverse sources of committed credit lines to respond to

unforeseeable opportunities and events.

BRARITRE S RE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow

AREE —4 /A Between Between

Carrying et Within 1 and 2 and

LB H BT E in HK$ million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years

RITER Bank loans 4,661.3 4,891.2 58.3 58.3 4,774.6

FEERE Floating rate notes 1,500.0 1,504.7 1,504.7 - -
EMBEE Non-current finance lease

FH A EHE obligations 2872 311.5 - 135.5 176.0

FERNBRZ N E M EFL  Trade and other payables 2,0275 2,051.7 1,141.2 328.8 581.7

R=FFAFHSA=1TH At 30 June 2009 8,476.0 8,759.1 2,704.2 522.6 5,532.3

BHRTRBEERE
Contractual undiscounted cash flow

BRTE —4 K Between Between

Carrying st Within 1 and 2 and

LB EE&TTEE in HK$ million amount Total 1 year 2 years 5 years

RITER Bank loans 4,419.2 4,869.8 116.4 116.4 4,637.0

FEERE Floating rate notes 1,500.0 1,558.1 38.7 1,519.4 -
IERBIRE Non-current finance lease

FRLHEIE obligations 393.0 4415 - 130.0 311.56

ENMERZ N EMEIN  Trade and other payables 1,726.0 1,757.2 1,118.0 361.8 2774

R-ZEZ)N\FXA=+H At 30 June 2008 8,038.2 8,626.6 1,273.1 2,1276 5,225.9
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(c) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables and deposits held with reputable banks and
financial institutions.

It maintains a defined credit policy including stringent credit
evaluation on and payment of a rental deposit from tenants.
Except for sale of properties developed by the Group, it does
not hold any collateral over the receivables. Receivables are
regularly reviewed and closely monitored to minimize any
associated credit risk.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group does not engage in any derivative transactions.
Surplus cash is placed with reputable banks and financial
institutions in accordance with pre-determined limits based on
credit ratings and other factors to minimize concentration risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Company

as set out in note 24, the Group does not provide any other
guarantee which would expose the Group or the Company to
material credit risk.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
balance sheet.

(d) Currency risk

Currency risk arises when recognized assets and liabilities

are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the Group's entities to which they related. The
Group maintains certain bank deposits denominated in United
States dollars amounting to US$687.5 million (2008: US$536.3
million). Given that Hong Kong dollars are pegged to United
States dollars, the resulting currency risk on such deposits is
considered insignificant.

The Group also engaged in property development and
investments in the PRC through its local subsidiaries whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency risk. Where
appropriate, the Group seeks to hedge investments in the PRC
through borrowings denominated in Renminbi.

Management estimated that a 1% appreciation/depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar would not have a material
effect on the Group’s profit but the Group’s equity would be
increased/decreased by $162.7 million (2008: $154.4 million).

The above analysis has been determined assuming that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e) Fair value

Unlisted investments for which their fair values cannot be

reliably measured are stated at cost less impairment losses.

The fair values of trade and other receivables, trade and

other payables, cash and deposits with banks, bank loans and
floating rate notes are considered to approximate their carrying
amounts.

29 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 26(b) contains information about the assumptions and

their risk relating to fair value of share options granted. Other

key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group are revalued as at the
balance sheet date by independent professionally qualified
valuers, on an open market value basis with reference to
the net rental income after taking into account reversionary
income potential.

The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on the market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date, with reference to current market sale prices for
similar properties in the same location and condition and the
appropriate capitalization rate.

(b) Properties under development

In assessing the recoverable amount of investment properties
under development, it requires the Group's judgment on the
anticipated rents by reference to recent leasing transactions
in nearby locations, marketing costs and the expected costs
to completion of the relevant properties. The present value of
future cash flows is based on the application of an assigned
discount rate with certain assumptions on the time value of
money and the risks specific to the project.

(c) Properties held for sale

The Group determines the net realizable value of unsold
properties based on estimation of future selling price less
costs to be incurred in relation to the sale, with reference to
the prevailing market data and market survey reports available
from independent property valuers.
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30 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The ultimate holding company is Hang Lung Group Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.

31 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
The Group has not early applied the amendments, new
standards or interpretations which have been issued by the
HKICPA but are not yet effective. The adoption of the following
amendments or standards may have impact on the Group’s
accounting policies and presentation of financial statements in
the first period of adoption.

LA B Hisk A& e

2T AIRAER

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

HKFRSs (185 A&)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (#&£E3])
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKFRS 8 i«(éé/'\_LB
HKFRS 8

HKFRS 3 (#&£&E3])
HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (4 E3&T)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKFRSs 2 FEIE5]

Annual Improvement to HKFRSs

LR EES

Presentation of Financial Statements

Operating Segments

—22hE—A—H
1 January 2009

£ —EENF—-H—H
1 January 2009

—ETENF—-H—A
1 January 2009

ES i —EZNFtLHA—H
Business Combinations 1 July 2009
e RB I BHRE —ETNFtLHA—H
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009

HKFRSsZ F [ & 5] B #& HfHKAS 40
[EEWME| 285 Bt - BEFREE
#@%B&H AN FEAEA ST ERUAF
ERILES

32 ZEBBERE
é%%ﬁfggﬂitﬂz+—5%&
A& A R B TS SR o

The Annual Improvement to HKFRSs includes an amendment
to HKAS 40, Investment Property, under which the investment
properties under development are to be stated at fair value
where this can be reliably measured.

32 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorized for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2009.
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33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
At 30 June 2009

BEITRAR ERiliav
(BT SEPTR RAIFH K&,
Issued BmADL BEED Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by E Incorporation
Company (HK$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Antonis Limited* 10,000 100 100 MERE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP City Limited 2 100 - YEMRE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Joy Limited 2 100 - MEERREE B
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
AP Properties Limited MEERLESE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
[A] & 34 100 -
‘A shares
Bl & 6 100 -
‘B’ shares
AP Star Limited* 2 100 - R E B
Investment holding Hong Kong
AP Success Limited 2 100 - ESi= B
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Universal Limited* 2 100 - MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP Win Limited* 1,000,000 100 - MEHE N
Property leasing Hong Kong
AP World Limited 2 100 100 MEER BB
Property development Hong Kong
Bonna Estates Company Limited 1,000,000 100 100 MEMRE 5
Property leasing Hong Kong
BECEBRRA* 4,000,000 100 - MEEE e
Caddo Enterprises, Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
REEFARLDAF 2 100 - MERE BB
Carmana Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 FENBAR @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRA EalijpAva
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE R
Issued EmBa DL Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Cititop Limited 2 100 - MEERNEE BB
Property development Hong Kong
& leasing
BRERBRAR BRITE o
Country Bond Development Investment holding Hong Kong
Limited
[A]R% 990 79.8 -
‘A shares
[B] B 1 100 -
‘B’ share
Dokay Limited* 2 100 - WEME o
Property leasing Hong Kong
BEEERR AR 2 100 - ERREE e
Easegood Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Fu Yik Company Limited* 3 100 - MERE Bt
Property leasing Hong Kong
BEXARAR* 2 100 100 BRIE &
Gala Ruby Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
Gowily Limited 2 100 - MERE &5
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Centre Limited 4 100 - MERE BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Grand Hotel Group Limited 10,200 100 - REAEEgERERE B
Apartment operating Hong Kong
& management
BRBEERBEERAA BRI E N0
Grand Hotel Holdings Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] R 62,163,123 100 -
‘A shares
[B] B 6,000,000 100 -
‘B’ shares
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33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEITRR EERilif7 AvA
(B7T) EEPTF RAIFE K& &
Issued ‘AN EmAol Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
Hang Chui Company Limited 2 100 - MEMRE B
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Far Company Limited* 2 100 - PRI E B8
Investment holding Hong Kong
BERERLDA 200 100 - MEHE B8
Hang Fine Company Limited Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Kwok Company Limited* 10,000 100 - MERE o
Property leasing Hong Kong
Hang Lick Company Limited* 10,000 100 - EI= B
Property leasing Hong Kong
B2 (1780 AR AR 10,000 100 100 B RB B
Hang Lung (Administration) Management services Hong Kong
Limited
5 (KiE) ERATA] 1 100 - R E o
Hang Lung (Dalian) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B8f OI%) R AT 1 100 - B E A
Hang Lung (Jiangsu) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B2 (&) BRAR 1 100 - BRIRE B
Hang Lung (Jinan) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
BfE (B%) BRAT 1 100 - BRI E BB
Hang Lung (Liaoning) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (&%) BRAF 2 100 - BRI E N
Hang Lung (Shenyang) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (X2) ERAF 2 100 - BRIRE BB
Hang Lung (Tianjin) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
B (&) ERAF 1 100 - BREE o
Hang Lung (Wuxi) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
Hang Lung Park-In Limited 2 100 - IEi= %5
Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 FENBAR @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
BEITRR EalijpAva
(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE R
Issued EmBa DL Em Aot Place of
NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation
Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
BREIRREERAR" 10,000 100 100 TiREAER 5
Hang Lung Project Project management Hong Kong
Management Limited*
BENEERERAA* 100,000 100 - MEER BB
Hang Lung Property Property management Hong Kong
Management Limited*
BEMEREERAR* 2 100 100 MERE 6
Hang Lung Real Estate Agency Property agencies Hong Kong
Limited*
EEME (PE) BRAR 2 100 100 PRRIRE &b
HLP (China) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
ERMEREERAR 2 100 100 i B
HLP Treasury Limited Financial services Hong Kong
HLP Treasury Services 2 100 - ERITE &8
Limited* Investment holding Hong Kong
HLP Fortune Limited 1 100 100 MEER B
Property development Hong Kong
Hoi Sang Limited* 2 100 - BRI E EA
Investment holding Hong Kong
Levington Limited* 8 100 100 B EBERRES
Financial services British Virgin
Islands
SHARRF) 1,000,002 100 - MEER BB
Lockoo Limited* Property development Hong Kong
Magic Modern International 1 100 100 B &5
Limited* Advertising Hong Kong
Mansita Limited* 2 100 - MEME BB
Property leasing Hong Kong
Modalton Limited 2 100 - MEEE BE
Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 FENBRAE @ 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BEITRA EalijpAva

(B7T) EEPTF INGIiESE R

Issued EmBa DL Em Aot Place of

NS Share Capital % Held by % Held by % Incorporation

Company (HKS$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations

Monafat Limited* 2 100 - MEMRE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Ottringham Limited* 20 100 - MEME Bt

Property leasing Hong Kong

Palex Limited* 2 100 - WEHE Bt

Property leasing Hong Kong

Pocaliton Limited 2 100 - MEME 0

Property leasing Hong Kong

Rago Star Limited 2 100 - YMERE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Rioloy Limited 2 100 - MEMRE BB

Property leasing Hong Kong

Ronhero Limited* 2 100 - MEME i

Property leasing Hong Kong

Stooket Limited 2 100 100 MERE B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Tegraton Limited 2 100 - MEMRE BB

Property leasing Hong Kong

BHMEXBARAR 100,000 100 - MERE B

Wai Luen Investment Property leasing Hong Kong
Company, Limited*

Wililoy Limited* 2 100 - MEME B

Property leasing Hong Kong

Yangli Limited* 2 100 - MERE o

Property leasing Hong Kong

Zarat Limited* 2 100 - MERE BE

Property leasing Hong Kong
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33 E\EEW'E/A\?J (&) 33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
FE )7
el REFE RESIHE
RRNEEERE EREANL BERBEANL Place of
Wholly Foreign Owned HHER % Held by % Held by 5% Incorporation
Enterprises in PRC Registered Capital The Group The Company Activity and Operations
REBEHERRAT 1,542,000,000% 0 100 - NELR P
Dalian Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,542,000,000 Property development PRC
EEERIEARAT 301,500,000% 100 - MEER PE
Liaoning Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$301,500,000 Property development PRC
WRERSERRAR 196,480,000% T 100 - NELRE PE
Shandong Hang Lung Properties Ltd. US$196,480,000 Property development PRC
B EEEBRAF 199,990,000% T 100 - NEEE e
Shenyang Hang Lung Properties Ltd. S$199,990,000 Property development PRC
REERMERRAT 1,650,000,000%7T 100 - NEER el
Tianjin Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,650,000,000 Property development PRC
EHEEMEBRLT 1,532,500,000% 7 100 - NEER Gl
Wuxi Hang Lung Properties Ltd. HK$1,532,500,000 Property development PRC
Bl A
HMER SEFE NSfies: RELIHE
(F1) BRESH BRESN Place of
RERNE AR Registered % Held by % Held by E3 Incorporation
Equity Joint Venture in PRC Capital (US$) The Group The Company Activity and Operations
FEEARHEREERAF 167004,736 82 - MEERREE Gl
Shanghai Hang Bond Property Property development PRC

Development Co., Ltd. & leasing
LEREREREERAR 165,000,000 69.3¢ - NEEREREE TE
Shanghai Kong Hui Property Property development PRC

Development Co., Ltd. & leasing

* FEEBRE I EBAR%

tOEAEEEGEHNEATERRMERENEZES

BBin 2

ERIHEZRR AU AER 285K
BEBEAFEZTEWNBRA -

HANG LUNG PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008/09

* Not audited by KPMG

properties held either directly or indirectly by the subsidiary

* Represents the Group's attributable interest in the commercial portion of the

The above list gives the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which in the opinion of the directors, principally affect the
profit and assets of the Group.

197



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
At 30 June 2009

ERiiav
BEITRAR LEFE NAIFH K&,
(&x) B@mB I B@BEIL Place of
NS] Issued Share % Held by % Held by i Incorporation
Company Capital (HK$) The Group The Company Activity  and Operations
BEPZERR AR 5,000,000 36.8 - BRI E o
Country Link Enterprises Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
RREERBR AR B E B8
Ease Smart Development Limited Investment holding Hong Kong
[A] Rz 1 - -
‘A share
[B] iz 1 100 -
‘B’ share
ERBERARLDA 3 33.3 - MEHRE o
Star Play Development Limited* Property leasing Hong Kong

* FEEBRE A EBARX
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TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AT ETEE in HKS million 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
BEE Total assets 88,508 84,341 69,244 60,366 53,096 47226 40,800 39,458 40,546 37912
REME Investment properties 62,766 59,085 47153 39,5690 36,032 30,562 27172 24,986 25,024 23,048
FEME Properties for sale

— B - Completed 6,923 677 9501 10,159 10,693 7005 - - - -

—Eh - Under development 760 43 41 - - 5018 10,775 8,490 7290 3,787
B4 RRETFER  Cash and deposits with banks 8,931 10,578 6,994 5,984 3,206 1,063 1,104 3,146 3,725 4,854
BEE Total liabilities 17178 15,691 13,407 16,077 11,841 15,273 14,889 12,884 12,302 9,365
RITER Bank loans 4,661 4,419 4,782 8,454 4,113 9,693 7874 6,372 8,952 5,027
FRER Floating rate notes 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 540 540 540 540 540
R ES Convertible bonds - - - - - - 3414 339 - -
RERER Shareholders’ equity 68,038 66,377 54,277 43,246 40,288 31,019 24,633 26,112 27857 28,229
BEFE (B3F  Net assets (including

DEMRFER)  minority interests) 71,330 68,651 55838 44,289 41,255 31,954 25911 26,574 28,244 28,547
BEE Turnover 4,173 10,080 4,389 3,657 6,955 4,533 2,143 2,383 2,623 1,846
R Net profit attributable to

shareholders 4,130 13,159 6,371 4,403 6,813 4,616 875 1,207 1,384 1,218
BT Underlying net profit (Note 1) 2,388 5,123 2,048 1,627 2,616 2,065 875 1,207 1,384 1,218

(BffzE1)

RE Dividends 2,736 2,736 2,320 1,900 1,843 1,439 1,156 1,156 1,156 1,041
SREN Per share data
B Earnings

-£XK - Basic $1.00  $3.18 $160 $119  $1.94  $153  $0.30  $0.42  $0.48  $0.42

— 8 - Diluted $0.99 $3.15 $1.58 $1.18 $1.92 $1.52 $0.30 $0.42 N/A N/A
EARZF| (M3E1) Underlying earnings (Note 1)

—EK - Basic $0.58 $1.24 $0.51 $0.44  $0.72 $0.69 $0.30 $0.42 $0.48 $0.42

— 8 - Diluted $0.57 $1.23  $0.51 $0.44  $0.7 $0.68  $0.30  $0.42 N/A N/A
e Dividends

— - Interim 15¢ 15¢ 13¢ 13¢ 13¢ ¢ ¢ ¢ 11¢ 10¢

— R - Final 51¢ 51¢ 43¢ 38¢ 37¢ 33¢ 29¢ 29¢ 29¢ 26¢

—-2F ~Total for the year 66¢ 66¢ 56¢ 51¢ 50¢ 44¢ 40¢ 40¢ 40¢ 36¢
B (BHiE3) Shareholders' equity (Note 3) §164  $16.0 $13.1  $116 $109  $94  $85  $9.0  $9.6  $9.8
BEFE (B Netassets (including

DHREREL)  minority interests)

(FEE3) (Note 3) §172  $166 $135  $119  $112  $9.7  $9.0  $92  $98  $99
BE= (ffsF2) Gearing ratio (Note 2) 0% 0% 0% 9% 7% 24% 31% 23% 19% 5%
KELLR Pay-out ratio 66% 21% 35% 43% 26% 29% 132% 96 % 84% 86%
EXRELE Underlying pay-out ratio

(B&E1) (Note 1) 114% 53% 109% 116% 70% 64 % 132% 96 % 84% 86%
ERTRE Number of shares issued

(B8) (in million) 4,146 4145 4143 3,732 3,683 3,300 2,889 2,839 2,891 2,891

B3 - Notes:

1. BMEHAEBEBEBLEMNER Ll 2 &R 1. To facilitate better understanding of the Group’s operational results, the underlying
WA - FRABFRIRE L EGEMBRIEENE net profit, earnings per share and pay-out ratio are presented by excluding the
ZAFEEZEHREERELTHEBENTE - effect of changes in fair value of investment properties and their related deferred

tax.

2. BERAFEEEREINFEEZ LR  FE 2. Gearing ratio represents net debt over equity plus net debt. Net debt represents
BIERITER - JRRES ZEEERRE bank loans, convertible bonds, floating rate notes and finance lease obligations,
TR A - KRR S RRITER - RIERIBRE less cash and deposits with banks. Equity comprises shareholders’ equity and
A s S D R RS o minority interests.

3. BEREERAZRRER BEFERSET 3. Based on shareholders’ equity/net assets divided by number of shares issued on

e &

the balance sheet date.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

)

RECR(EFER)

BB (gEEr)*

RIER (BFm5rE)

BEEFER Vo 2£HEE « OBE - A F#1*
B2 2L EE  OBE - X-FiLt*

Directors

Ronnie C. Chan (Chairman)

S.S.Yin Vice Chairman)*

Nelson W.L. Yuen (Managing Director)
Ronald J. Arculli, Vo, GBS, OBE,JP*
H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP*

PR &G * Laura L.Y. Chen*

BIRE REmEsE X FP#+* PW. Liu, sBS, JP*

o] BAHE * Dominic C.F Ho*

RLT Terry S. Ng

=X (ahe William PY. Ko

*EUIERITES * Independent Non-Executive Director
EREES Audit Committee

BE S 228 - OBE - X-FH+ () H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP (Chairman)
PR ZENG Laura L.Y. Chen

BiRE REnEs X Fwt PW. Liu, sBS, JP

] EE Dominic C.F Ho
RERFHEZEES Nomination and Remuneration Committee

BiRE REHEE - X P+ (7))
EEIR cvo - 2 LHI2E  OBE - X F#1
828 ¢ &HES - OBE - A FH+

PW. Liu, SBS, JP (Chairman)
Ronald J. Arculli, VO, GBS, OBE,JP
H.K. Cheng, GBS, OBE, JP

BREENR Laura L.Y. Chen

Bz Dominic C.F Ho

RERK Authorized Representatives
R*T Terry S. Ng

FTEH Velencia Lee

NRIME Company Secretary

TEH Velencia Lee

T EE Registered Office

FEPIREEES R
BITIRITAE—+/\12
B|aE 02879 0111
{55 : 2868 6086

28th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building
4 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Tel : 2879 0111

Fax : 2868 6086

L=R:p kD
#814k - http://www.hanglung.com

FBIEHIUE : HLProperties@hanglung.com

Internet Address

Website : http://www.hanglung.com
Email address : HLProperties@hanglung.com

BB

ESHGRTANEEAT
HEEAED
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Auditors
KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
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LISTING INFORMATION

RZZTNF/RA=1H At 30 June 2009

4,145,648,670 I ZIXEESEE 1.00 T
2N EEBBAE RS ARAR LT

EEMARSZM
BB
T

F-RRE(EERS)

FH BT, RN
B SHRD 2 X
TrREiRTT - AAIBIEIRTT
At

BT RESBRARAT
EBLRARR—E\TZH%
SRR

Bif -

BE:

Rt HITEF
FEW R[ARE
BEPIMY

4,145,648,670 shares of HK$1.00 each listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Reuters
Bloomberg

Sponsored Level-1 (Over the Counter)

CUSIP Number /Ticker Symbol

ADR: Underlying Share Ratio

Depositary Bank: The Bank of New York Mellon

Website:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Telephone:
Fax:

Terry S. Ng Executive Director

Velencia Lee Company Secretary

Email address:

% & Bl Share Information

f&f8 Price

Bs RE

High Low
B B
HK$ HK$
2008
=7 Third quarter 26.80 16.24

Z5PUZ Fourth quarter 19.68 11.90

2009
& —Z First quarter 2050 13.56
2 —Z Second quarter 2750 17.40

R-ZFFANESA=THZEE:
Share Price as at 30 June 2009:

REZFFAFESAZSTBEZHE:

Market Capitalization as at 30 June 2009:

HERKATER

Total Trading Volume
Mg B (FAR)

No. of Shares ('000)

535,148
601,347

507,307
519,538

#2565
HK$25.65

7&%51,063.4 87T
HK$106.34 billion

00101
0101.HK
101 HK

1,000

41043M104/HLPPY
1:5

http://www.adrbnymellon.com

2862 8628
2529 6087

ir@hanglung.com

B&fE Price
&= RE TP
High Low Total Trading Volume
B A Bingr B (Fig)
HK$  HK$  No. of Shares ('000)
2007
28 =2= Third quarter 35.70 21.80 867,655
2= Fourth quarter 39.35 29.50 701,493
2008
2 —2F First quarter 3545 22.95 658,731
%8 —% Second quarter ~ 33.90 23.80 504,195
RZBBNEAZ+THZRE: %5 25.00 5T
Share Price as at 30 June 2008: HK$25.00

RZFFNFFA=ZTHZHE:

##1,036.3{87T

Market Capitalization as at 30 June 2008: HK$103.63 billion
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Environmentally friendly for a sustainable future:

This report is printed on environmentally friendly paper manufactured from
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